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THABAE U TRE :

[REIEE]

“Articles of Association”

[BFZEE]
“Audit Committee”

E3-4
“Board” or *
Board of Directors”

[ |
“China” or “PRC”

NSl

“Company,”
“our Company” or
“the Company”

[E%]

“Director(s)”
[RAIELETRD |
“Domestic Unlisted

Share(s)”

[EEREE ]
“Global Offering”

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have the following meanings:

RRABMARER  K£HR2025F1 158 BRAM2025F F—RBERRREE
BRIEZ BRRER - BRHERT - ARG g

the articles of association of the Company, effective as of the date
of consideration and approval by the 2025 first extraordinary general
meeting held on 15 January 2025, as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time

2N OE: S e S

the audit committee of the Company

KRRNERS

the board of Directors of our Company

hEARRNE  AFEREME - TREEE  BARSE
the People’s Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
for the purpose of this annual report

HECRY) BEEBROBRAF - Al FAHERERGBRAF - RYITH
EEFRAEROBRARMEINTHEEFEEAERAIF + —KK2010F9 A
13EBERENERR M BERETEAT - R2015%5 A25 BEkHl A+ EARK
FR A A

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. ((IE(FINEER
5% 5 B BR A 7)), formerly known as AuGroup Technology Co., Ltd. (&R
RB% 3 B RAR]), Shenzhen Aukey E-Business Co., Ltd. (RIITTHEEFE
S A B R AF]) and Shenzhen Aukey E-Business Co., Ltd. (RYITHES
FEKARAT), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 13
September 2010, which was converted into a joint stock limited company
in the PRC on 25 May 2015

RARINESR
director(s) of the Company

RABIETHEBREBARKE1.00THEBER  UARBREIARINER
R BREAMNZEHFRSH ET

ordinary share(s) issued by the Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each, which is/are subscribed for or credited as paid in
Renminbi and not listed on any stock exchange

EELRBELRBRREE
the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering



[ZR&EE = I3 M]
“Group,” “our Group,”
“we” or “us”

[HA

“H Share(s)”

[PETT) gk [ ]
“HK$” or “HK dollars”

[HE]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

[FE LR
[ Al
“Hong Kong Listing
Rules” or
“Listing Rules”

[ EBB R AT | 3 T B3P

“Hong Kong Stock
Exchange” or
“Stock Exchange”

[ 7]
“Listing”

[ BEFRATT A ]

“Latest Practicable Date”

[EHRE]

“Listing Date”

Rl =1z ]

“Prospectus”

RARREMB AR (AR RREEA—HAZENBRE - BFERME)
the Company and its subsidiaries (or the Company and any one or more
of its subsidiaries, as the context may require)

RABIRARBREBERARE1.00THEIN EHINER - ABTRBRE
B WREBMRP LT

overseas listed foreign shares in the share capital of our Company with
nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which are subscribed for and traded in
HK dollars and are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

DREETRB - BEREEE
Hong Kong dollars and cents, respectively, the lawful currency of Hong
Kong

PEEBFHITRE
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

EEBARIMERARES LR (BTRER)

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)

BERBERXHMAER AR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

HERR & BB AT R £
the listing of our H shares on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

s

20254 220 @ IAFERENENREREDAHE T ERHNRE
fTHE

22 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained

TR A]

\

herein

HIRR BRI R ET RHRE A Z B RN EBH XA ERFAREER
HEl - BN2024411 A8H

the date on which our H shares are first listed and from which dealings
thereof are permitted to commence on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, being 8 November 2024

ANARBEA2024F10 A31 AW BRER
prospectus of the Company dated 31 October 2024



[ARY]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ ER ] ok [ e HAR
“Reporting Period”

[ &7 R 5P
“SFO”

[ ]
“Share(s)”

[A% R |
“Shareholder(s)”

[ AR

“subsidiary(ies)”
[EZRRF]

“Substantial
Shareholder(s)”

[E=%

“Supervisor(s)”

[BEEg]

“Supervisory Committee”

[EfFR% 7 |

“treasury shares”

=
‘US$”, “USD” or
“U.S. dollars”

[%]
5oy

ARE  HEEEER

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

HZE2024F12A31BIEEE
the year ended 31 December 2024

BEBEDESTIECESF LABIED) (B RRHER] ~ 7 sAE b7 & 2k)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

RRARKRAHFREEARE1.00THERBK
ordinary shares in the capital of our Company with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each

SRESTSIN
holder(s) of the Share(s)

BEABRBLWRAUETHEE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Hong Kong Listing Rules

EBBELTARETERE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Hong Kong Listing Rules

EFEEKE

member(s) of our Supervisory Committee

RAFMNESE
the supervisory committee of our Company

BEABRBLWRAUETHRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Hong Kong Listing Rules
ET o EBEEEK

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

B
per cent
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Corporate Information

COMPANY NAME
Chinese Name

HECRYNBERRBRNDER A

English Name
AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Haizhuan (B8 5L 4£) (Chairperson of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Ze Kuaiyue (EE&#S L A)

Ms. Zhuang Liyan (%% T)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zou Jiajia (BREL L)
Mr. Jin Hao (& 55t 4)
Mr. Lu Songdu (PEMEE % 4)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Meng Rongfang (&% 2 1)
Mr. Xu Jinke (RShELE4)
Mr. Chen Xiaohuan (FREEE 5t 4)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Meng Rongfang (& &5 22 1) (Chairperson)
Mr. Xu Jinke (fREhE}5E4E)
Mr. Chen Xiaohuan (PREEEN L A4)

REMUNERATION AND ASSESSMENT
COMMITTEE

Mr. Xu Jinke (R EH5E A ) (Chairperson)
Ms. Meng Rongfang (%47 & =+)
Mr. Ze Kuaiyue (¥E&#54E)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Xu Jinke (1R ¥I%L5E ) (Chairperson)
Mr. Lu Haizhuan (B8 @5 4)
Mr. Chen Xiaohuan (BREEER L A4)

BE (R BEABEROBRLE —Z-NFFH
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STRATEGY COMMITTEE

Mr. Lu Haizhuan (FEE8{E% %) (Chairperson)
Mr. Ze Kuaiyue (¥E& L)
Ms. Zhuang Liyan (FR% %z +)

SUPERVISORS

Ms. Zhang Li (R t)
Ms. Hua Xiang (/B#%zt)
Ms. Liu Meixia (B|EE %« L)

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Ms. Zhuang Liyan (iRBY¥% L)
Mr. Li Kin Wai (FfE%4%) (ACG, HKACG)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Zhuang Liyan ((ERE%z+)
Mr. Li Kin Wai (FfE%%) (ACG, HKACG)

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Room 106, Kangli Information Valley Building
No. 66 Pingji Avenue

Shanglilang Community

Nanwan Street

Longgang District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG

KONG

Room 1918, 19/F, Lee Garden One
33 Hysan Avenue

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

WWW.augroup.com

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
35/F, One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024
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As to Hong Kong laws.
Clifford Chance

27th Floor, Jardine House
One Connaught Place
Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC laws:

King & Wood Mallesons

28th Floor, China Resources Tower
2666 Keyuan South Road

Nanshan District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
PRC

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

02519

Red Solar Capital Limited

Unit 402B, 4/F

China Insurance Group Building
No. 141 Des Voeux Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
Shenzhen Longgang Branch

1F of Ziweiyuan Club

No. 7097 Longxiang Avenue
Longgang District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province
PRC
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Dear Shareholders, Partners and Colleagues:

The year of 2024 is a milestone year in the development of our Group.
Against the backdrop of the slowdown in recovery of the global
economy and the intensified geopolitical uncertainties, the Group
leveraged on its clear strategic positioning and efficient execution
capabilities and has successfully listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange, making the leap from an industry cultivator
to a public company. On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would
like to express my sincere gratitude to all staff for their hard work,
shareholders for their support and trust, and our partners for their

win-win collaboration.

The global trade pattern is undergoing a profound restructuring.
On the one hand, cross-border e-commerce has become a core
channel connecting global supply and demand; on the other
hand, the stratification of consumer demand, fragmentation of
channels, and upgrade of the compliance threshold have raised
higher requirements for the whole chain capability of enterprises.
In the face of a paradigm shift in industry competition from “size
expansion” to “quality breakthrough”, the Group has always
adhered to the concept of ‘long-termism’ to create differentiated
competitiveness through strategic upgrades and organisational
changes.

The Group was successfully listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 8 November 2024,
marking the Group’s entry into a new phase of international
development. During the listing process, global investors
highly recognized the Group’s resilience in “Revival Amidst
Adversity” and the layout of the cross-border ecosystem,
which further validated the sustainability of its business
model.
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In 2024, the Group’s business demonstrated resilience by
achieving a year-on-year increase of 23.3% in revenue to
RMB10.71 billion and a solid flat net profit, which grew by
0.21% year-on-year to RMB521 million.

Thanks to our precise market positioning, efficient
operation strategy and continuous product innovation,
we have been able to expand our business scale and
steadily increase our market share. At the same time, by
enhancing the efficiency of the supply chain management
and improving the construction of the logistics system,
we were able to effectively alleviate cost pressures and
support stable profitability. This achievement was attributed
to the concerted efforts of all our employees, as well as a
reflection of our persistence in the concept of long-termism.

In 2024, the Group moved into a new office building,
AuGroup Building (#{&X/E), marking a new phase of
development for the Group. This office building is not only
an upgrade of our physical space, but also a symbol of
our corporate culture and strategic vision. The new office
environment will provide our staff with a more comfortable
and modern workspace, enhancing team cohesion
and creativity. At the same time, it also demonstrates
the Group’s confidence and determination in its future
development and provides strong support for us to achieve
higher quality development.
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The Group will continue to increase its investment in brand
building, define its brand positioning, strengthen the
emotional bond between the brand and consumers, and
develop a brand culture with unique value propositions
in order to further consolidate and expand its market
share. Through refined operation and diversified marketing
strategies, the Group will enhance its brand image and
market influence. At the same time, the Group will continue
to expand its core products to provide customers with more
choices of products and a better shopping experience.

The Group will accelerate the construction of its global
supply chain network layout to cope with the impact of
geopolitical fluctuations on its business. Moreover, the
Group will build a flexible supply chain system to achieve
the ultimate efficiency and cost through scale intensification.

The Group will also strengthen the strategic collaboration
with global suppliers and introduce more quality supplier
resources to enhance the reliability and diversity of the
supply chain. In addition, we will make use of advanced
digital technology to realize transparent and intelligent
management of the supply chain to ensure that every link in
the supply chain can work together efficiently and respond
quickly to market demands. Through these initiatives,
the Group will further enhance its competitiveness in the
global market and lay a solid foundation for its sustainable
development in the future.



RTE-—FPREEmEEERR
MREH RS E - SRR MEZ
DEF N - REEFTEMAEY
MEENEREA  TE—Em
WE B R AL - B
EERBENMGRE - NERES
L ZFHER - LERERMH
ENMEZEH ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ‘&*ﬁﬁﬂ
PR RN BEAR AL AN o 3B iR iE L
BE BMEERAEFPIRHEESR
BEHniRTE - AR E e eE
BRAREEMEHE -

AEEBREBRE  HLEHEQA
; EE(ESG)EEC/%F@U\E %
o IRIREMEL - B
B@T%E?ﬁ@ﬁfmﬁ’ﬂﬁ’%iiiﬁ f
FERBIRERME - BRI
BERREES RN - BREMQ
BERREIRD - WHBERE
BHA EHegEEAELE - &
#5818 Tratt saEE £ AR ge
1T TEHFT(REEIIER
EREEm - HMEREIESGT
BN - BEEBESGEBME
MEERHEEE o AN - BB ARG
AR E B @ - BIEHERY -
BFE  REEARMESR - #
FE#HBSAFEEREENHER -
BBTHEE(LREARE  BME
EBE—REEIMNER - BEEN
TEFR - BteHEER
BERNE -

/M} el

]

Hal

In order to further improve the synergy between the sales of
goods business line and logistics as well as strengthen our
core competitiveness, the Group plans to invest more in the
construction of our logistics system to create an efficient
and intelligent logistics network. We will optimize the layout
of our logistics network and enhance the construction of
our information technology system for resources sharing
and complementarities, thereby further enhancing logistics
efficiency and reducing costs. Through these initiatives, we
aim to provide our customers with better logistics services
to enhance their experience, satisfaction and loyalty.

The Group has always integrated environmental, social and
corporate governance (ESG) concepts into its strategic
practices. In terms of environmental responsibility, we are
committed to building a green and low-carbon cross-border
ecosystem, prioritizing the procurement of environmentally
friendly materials, optimizing logistics routes to reduce
carbon emissions from transportation, reducing carbon
footprint per unit of parcel, and promoting the recycling
of resources. In terms of social value creation, we will
strengthen the well-being of our employees in tandem
with the empowerment of our industries, and improve our
digital capacity training system. In terms of governance,
we have set up an ESG working group responsible for
overseeing the implementation of the ESG strategy and its
implementation. In addition, we are actively communicating
with our stakeholders, including suppliers, customers,
investors and people from all walks of life, in a bid to jointly
promote the realization of our sustainability targets. By
continuously optimizing our governance structure, we aim to
build a more transparent and responsible corporate image
and contribute to the sustainable development of society.
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In the face of the complex and volatile global market, we will
always put the interests of our shareholders as our core focus,
strictly adhere to the bottom line of compliance, strengthen the
transparency of information disclosure, and realize sustainable
value returns through prudent operation.

Looking ahead to 2025, we will take the opportunity of our listing
in Hong Kong to further consolidate our strengths in product
offerings, expand into high-potential emerging markets, and
continue to optimize shareholders’ returns. Guided by our core
values of ‘Commitment, Concentration, Long-Termism, Creating
Good Products’, we will strive to become the World's Leading
Online Furniture & Home Living Brand Group, transcending
cycles with sustained value.

E R MBI BESELE
HECGRY) BEEEROERLA
202593 428H

Chairman and General Manager: Mr. Lu Haizhuan
AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.
28 March 2025
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E-commerce, as one of the trade activities, digitalizes the whole
process of trade, breaking away from the time and space constraints
in conventional offline trade and connecting sellers and consumers
around the world. E-commerce can be mainly divided by business
model into (i) B2B e-commerce and (ii) B2C e-commerce. B2C
e-commerce refers to a transaction activity in which individual
consumers visit business sellers’ websites or online third-party
platforms, select goods, process payments and receive goods
from sellers via logistics. Typically, this transaction involves a wide
variety of industry participants, primarily including sellers, third-party
platforms, self-operated websites, third-party payment service
providers, logistics solutions providers and individual consumers. In
particular, third-party platforms refer to marketplaces such as Amazon,
Alibaba, Walmart and eBay, which provide platforms on which sellers
sell their products. Self-operated websites refer to platforms that sell
their products to consumers through their own websites or mobile

apps.

In 2024, the global B2C e-commerce market continued to maintain its
rapid growth trend. Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
demand for online shopping has increased in many developed regions
such as the U.S. and Europe, driving the development of the global
B2C e-commerce market. It was expected that GMV of the global
B2C e-commerce market would reach US$7,712.5 billion in 2028.
Consumers’ reliance on online shopping platforms was anticipated to
increase, broadening the scope of the digital marketplace.
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The Group is an online retailer specializing in quality furniture and
home furnishing. Leveraging robust supply chain management and
effective logistics solutions, the Group offers consumers an enjoyable
lifestyle experience across a broad range of “home and life” scenarios.
It makes every effort to achieve excellence in brand promotion,
market expansion and social responsibility fulfilment, in a bid to set an
example for the industry and realize sustainable development.

Looking back to 2024, the Company has been committed to its mission
of “Empowering Connections, Inspiring a Better World”. By relying
on the operation capability under a multi-brand system, the digital
support capability of the whole business chain, the supply chain
management capability, the sophisticated warehousing and logistics
system as well as the flexible organizational structure, the Company
has effectively penetrated into the “home and life” scenarios,
elaborately creating a series of branded products, such as furniture
and home furnishings as well as home appliances, and electric tools,
with beautiful design, excellent quality and advanced functions and
engaging in cross-border B2C business principally through third-party
online platforms such as Amazon, Walmart and Wayfair.

In 2024, the Company continued to increase its market share and
achieve sales breakthroughs in a number of categories, including: the
practical upholstered bed series continued to rank at the top of the
furniture category, power screwdrivers, inflatable pumps and other
electric tools were stationed at COSTCO and became top-selling items
in the channel, and the sales of refrigerators in the medium-to-large-
sized home appliances grew significantly.

In the same year, the Company successfully tapped into the
capital market and was successfully listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on 8 November 2024, further speeding up the progress of
internationalization. In 2024, the Company was successively honored
on the list of “Top 500 Service Enterprises in China” and “Top 500
Enterprises in Guangdong”, and was the only e-commerce enterprise
recognized as Provincial “Cross-Border E-commerce Enterprise
(Topmost)” by the Department of Commerce of Guangdong Province.
Its three warehouses were accredited as the Public Overseas
Warehouses of Guangdong Province. The Group was awarded with 3
iF Awards and 4 Red Dot Awards.
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In 2024, our diverse product portfolio also included furniture and
home furnishings, home appliances and electric tools, etc. We have
achieved market leadership through strong brand building, quality
products at affordable prices, strong product design and development
capabilities, robust supply chain systems and a comprehensive
warehousing and logistics chain.

We provided efficient logistics solutions globally under the pre-sale
stocking model to customers, primarily sellers on e-commerce
platforms, through WESTERN POST (SG) PTE. LTD. and its
subsidiaries (“Western Post Group”). Leveraging our industry
expertise, we have formulated a warehousing network with tailored
design based on proximity to end-consumers and delivery capabilities,
as a strategic move to improve local logistics services to efficiently
deliver products at low cost. The following table sets forth our revenue
by business line for the years indicated:

BZ12A31HILLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 F 20234
2024 2023

AR® T HBABSL ARETT ERAES L
% of % of
RMB’ 000 Revenue RMB’000 Revenue
EmiEE Sales of goods 8,268,192 77.2 7,030,375 81.0
YRR R TR Logistics solutions 2,441,456 22.8 1,652,602 19.0
Watr Total 10,709,648 100.0 8,682,977 100.0
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In 2024, the Group specialized in furniture, home furnishings under
popular proprietary brands such as ALLEWIE, IRONCK, LIKIMIO, SHA
CERLIN, HOSTACK and FOTOSOK.

As of 31 December 2024, some of our product categories (e.g. bed
frames, bookcases, beds, food cabinets, refrigerators and power
screwdrivers) have the highest market share on Amazon U.S. site.
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Furniture, home furnishings and home appliances

In 2024, we continued to actively expand our offering of furniture,
home furnishings and home appliances and strengthen our supply
chain capabilities, especially logistics capabilities. Furniture, home
furnishings and home appliances have been part of our product
portfolio and we strategically focused more on furniture, home
furnishings and home appliances. Our offering of furniture and
home furnishings primarily consisted of beds, bookcases, dressers,
chests of drawers, vanity tables and vanity benches, food cabinets,
sideboards, sofas and outdoor furniture featuring a wide range of
styles, including classic, contemporary, industrial and minimalist; and
our offering of home appliances primarily consisted of refrigerators
and juicers.

In addition to furniture, home furnishings and home appliances, our
product portfolio also included:

. Electric Tools. During the Reporting Period, our offering of
electric tools primarily consists of power screwdrivers, air pumps,
jump starters and car vacuums, combining high-tech features
and practicable designs.

. Others. In addition, during the Reporting Period, our offering of
other products primarily consists of power banks, chargers and
cables.

During the Reporting Period, we continued to expand and develop
our supply chain capabilities and rapidly diversified our product
offerings while maintaining product quality. We maintained stable
collaboration relationship with a number of manufacturing partners.
Such collaborations allowed us to effectively respond to the evolving
market demand and offered diverse products. At the same time, by
utilizing its self-developed supply chain management collaboration
system, the Company achieved digital information connectivity with the
manufacturing partners, synchronizing sales data, customer feedback
and other key product information data to our manufacturing partners
in real time for quick collaboration, thereby enabling us to better guide
our manufacturing partners in order making and improving product
quality.

Meanwhile, we are also committed to addressing customer needs
with continual product development efforts. As of 31 December
2024, we held 622 patents, 145 patent applications and 183 software
copyrights, with 72 international design awards received.
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Logistics Solutions Focusing on Medium-to-Large Goods

In 2024, we relied on the technological empowerment of Western
Post Group for our cross border logistics. With its help, we not only
continued to provide smart logistics support for our own e-commerce
business, but also made significant progress through the globalized
layout of our pre-sale stocking model. Our innovative solutions have
covered consolidation in China, international key route transport,
overseas intelligent sorting, localized warehouse management and
full-chain terminal distribution. Through the upgrading of our digital
system and the enhancement of our global network density, we have
successfully helped the cross-border e-commerce customers to
improve their average logistics time efficiency, reduce their operating
costs, and expand the scope of services of our overseas hubs and
nodes. This has significantly strengthened our leading position in the
cross-border supply chain.

In 2024, revenue from our logistics solutions grew 47.7% year-over-
year. We have a total of 33 warehouses in North America and Europe
with an aggregate area of 8.36 million square feet, of which an
additional warehouse area of 3.18 million square feet was increased
during the year, further strengthening the competitive advantage of
our logistics solutions business.

The following flow chart illustrates the details of the main logistics
solutions we provide:
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During the Reporting Period, the majority of our revenue was derived
from sales of goods through third-party e-commerce platforms. We
further maintained and deepened the collaboration with multiple
world’s leading e-commerce platforms such as Amazon, Walmart and
Wayfair. We effectively utilized their respective strengths to broaden
our customer reach and seize global market opportunities. We also
provided products via other channels, including offline distributors,
offline retailers and self-operated websites.

. Amazon. We enter into standard agreements with Amazon and
directly sell products to consumers on Amazon. We may also
utilize Amazon’s services such as FBA to handle receipt, storage
and processing of products, which includes storage, packaging
and shipping.

. Walmart. We enter into standard agreements with Walmart and
directly sell products to consumers on Walmart. We may also
utilize Walmart's services such as Walmart Fulfillment Services for
Walmart to handle orders on our behalf, which include storage,
packaging and shipping.

o Wayfair. We enter into standard agreements with Wayfair and
directly sell products to consumers on Wayfair. Distinct from
Amazon and Walmart, where we determine prices for listings,
we sell Wayfair our products and propose the suggested prices
for listings and Wayfair has the discretion to determine the list
prices.

o Others. In addition to Amazon, Walmart and Wayfair, we also sell
our products via other third-party e-commerce platforms such as
Shein, Temu and Tiktok.
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In 2024, we continued to engage in transactions with offline
distributors as a further supplement to our strong online presence,
to extend our coverage and flexibly respond to market demand. Our
offline distributors typically buy products from us and then sell to their
customers, including offline stores or local e-commerce platforms in
countries and regions such as the United States and Southeast Asia.
The relationship between us and our offline distributors is that of seller
and buyer and the ownership of our products is transferred to them
upon purchase. We recognize revenue when distributors accept our
products.

Looking forward, with the emergence of a new generation of
consumers, the global B2C e-commerce market demand will undergo
a transformation in the future. Consumers now have multifaceted
expectations concerning the quality, design and pricing of products.
In terms of quality and pricing, consumers increasingly seek to
acquire high-quality products at lower prices.

Additionally, consumers tend to favor innovative and unique design
styles. Therefore, offering high-quality and cost-effective products
with an innovative and unique design is poised to become a major
development trend in the future. Meanwhile, as supply chain gradually
adopt automated equipment, the cost of products and the cost of
logistics reduces, which will boost the growth of the global B2C
e-commerce market.

Meanwhile, consumers’ awareness of environmental protection and
sustainable development increases. Consumers are increasingly
focusing on the environmental credentials of products, including the
materials used, the manufacturing processes, and the sustainability
of packaging. In the future, eco-friendliness and environmental
sustainability are becoming the major trends in the growth of the B2C
e-commerce market.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 and the year ended
31 December 2024, our revenue was RMB8,683.0 million and
RMB10,709.6 million, respectively. Our profit was RMB520.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, and RMB521.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Our revenue increased by 23.3% from RMB8,683.0 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB10,709.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily because the sales of our goods
continued to expand and we increased the provision of logistics
solutions.

By Type of Goods or Services

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by type of
goods or services in absolute amount and as a percentage of revenue
for the periods indicated:

HZE12A31HLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥TR MHRAESHR ARETT (HRAESL
RMB’000 % of Revenue RMB’000 % of Revenue
EIRER S b Type of goods or services
EmE Sales of goods 8,268,192 77.2 7,030,375 81.0
FERERFXBEREEM Furniture, home 6,740,016 63.0 5,880,443 67.7
furnishings, and
home appliances
EHTEFEER Electric tools 741,733 6.9 347,182 4.0
HvEm Other products 786,443 7.3 802,750 9.3
VIRBRT R Logistics solutions 2,441,456 22.8 1,652,602 19.0
st Total 10,709,648 100.0 8,682,977 100.0
BIEE - Note:

(1)  Other products include consumer electronics, etc.
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Sales of goods

Furniture, home furnishings and home appliances. Our revenue from
sales of furniture, home furnishings and home appliances increased by
14.6% from RMB5,880.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB6,740.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily
because of the expansion of our furniture and home furnishings as
well as home appliances product offerings and increased sales orders
of our furniture and home furnishings as well as home appliances.

Electric tools. Our revenue from sales of electric tools significantly
increased by 113.6% from RMB347.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to RMB741.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily because of the expansion of sales our electric tools
through a new offline sales channel in 2024.

Other categories. Our revenue from sales of other categories remained
relatively stable at RMB802.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 and RMB786.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Logistics solutions

Our revenue from logistics solutions increased by 47.7% from
RMB1,652.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
RMB2,441.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily
because we expanded our customer base and fulfilled more orders.
We strategically collaborated with major customers and enhanced
capabilities in last-mile services and warehousing facilities.

Our cost of sales consists of the cost of sales for sales of goods and
the cost of sales for logistics solutions. Our cost of sales for sales
of goods primarily consists of (i) procurement costs paid for OEM
manufacturing services; (ii) logistics costs, representing the cost to
acquire logistics services from third parties to sell our products as
well as the cost of using the logistics solutions provided primarily by
Western Post Group; and (iii) write-down of inventories primarily due
to the strategy of promoting new products at lower prices and clearing
out certain products from inventory.
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Our cost of sales increased by 30.3% from RMB5,689.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB7,412.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, which was generally in line with our
revenue growth.

Our gross profit increased by 10.1% from RMB2,993.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB3,297.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024. Our gross profit margin decreased from
34.5% for the year ended 31 December 2023 to 30.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Our gross profit from sales of goods increased by 8.8% from
RMB2,753.0 million in 2023 to RMB2,994.9 million in 2024. Our gross
profit margin of sales of goods decreased from 39.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to 36.2% for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily because of the increase in logistics costs.

Our gross profit from logistics solutions increased by 25.5% from
RMB240.7 million in 2023 to RMB302.2 million in 2024. Our gross
profit margin of logistics solutions decreased from 14.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to 12.4% for the year ended 31 December
2024, primarily because we started to operate new warehouses
and temporarily adjusted the pricing for our solutions to attract new
customers.

Our other gains significantly increased from RMB12.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB67.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to the movements in foreign
exchange rates that resulted in increased foreign exchange gains
from 2023 to 2024.

Our impairment losses reversed, under ECL, net of reversal decreased
by 83.0% from RMB48.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to RMB8.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily
because of a net reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables
due to recovery of bad debts.
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Our selling expenses increased by 13.2% from RMB1,830.6 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB2,071.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024. The increase in selling expenses
was generally in line with the growth in revenue, mainly for business
promotion expenses, employee expenses and overseas warehouse
leasing expenses. Through effective expenses control, the selling
expenses ratio decreased from 21.1% in 2023 to 19.3% in 2024.

Our administrative expenses increased by 35.7% from RMB287.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB390.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2024, which are generally in line with
our revenue growth. The administrative expenses ratio increased from
3.3% in 2023 to 3.6% in 2024, primarily because of the increases
in employee expenses, office expenses of Western Post Group and
insurance expenses.

Our research and development expenses increased by 9.1% from
RMB119.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB130.0
million for the year ended 31 December in 2024, primarily because of
the increases in employee expenses resulting from an increase in the
number of our research and development employees, as well as an
increase in mould expenses for research and development.

Our other expenses decreased by 38.7% from RMB26.0 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB15.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to a decrease in cancelation
fees paid to suppliers because of a decreased level of canceled
procurement orders in 2024 as compared with the relatively higher
level of canceled procurement orders in 2023.

Our finance costs increased by 35.0% from RMB90.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB122.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to a simultaneous increase in
the relevant lease liabilities and finance costs of Western Post Group’s
expanded operations and the addition of new warehouses in 2024.
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Our income tax expenses decreased by 8.6% from RMB119.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB109.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 primarily as a result of the effect of
different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions. See
Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for details.

As a result of the foregoing as well as our listing expense of RMB42.4
million in 2024, our net profit increased from RMB520.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to RMB521.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Our right-of-use assets significantly increased from RMB717.7 million
as of 31 December 2023 to RMB2,769.8 million as of 31 December
2024, due to the expansion of some business activities in 2024. In
particular, driven by increased warehousing activities, we increased
the number of overseas warehouses and adjusted the leases of some
overseas self-operated warehouses from short-term to long-term
leases.

Our inventory increased from RMB1,045.8 million as of 31 December
2023 to RMB1,445.4 million as of 31 December 2024, primarily
because of an increase in finished goods under the advance stocking
model to meet the anticipated growth in demand for our products.

Our trade receivables represent the amounts due from our customers
for the products sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
our business. Our trade receivables net of allowance increased from
RMB807.5 million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB1,269.4 million as
of 31 December 2024, primarily attributable to an increase in trade
receivables in line with our growth in our logistics solutions, offline
business and business through Amazon Vendor Central.
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Our trade and other payables increased from RMB1,259.0 million as
of 31 December 2023 to RMB1,523.7 million as of 31 December 2024,
primarily due to an increase in trade payables to suppliers in line with
our business growth.

We have historically funded our cash requirements principally from
borrowings, cash from operations and equity financings.

As of 31 December 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents of
RMB1,363.8 million. Taking into account the net proceeds from the
Global Offering and the financial resources available to us, including
cash and cash equivalents, bank borrowings and cash flows from
operating activities, we have sufficient working capital for our present
requirements.

Cash Flow

The following table sets forth our cash flows for the periods indicated:

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Net cash from operating activities 535,472 586,360

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (381,693) 210,641

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 397,143 (632,443)

Net increase in cash and 550,922 164,558
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 1,363,752 809,838
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the year
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Net cash from operating activities

In 2024, our net cash from operating activities was RMB535.5 million,
which was primarily attributable to our profit before tax for the year of
RMB630.6 million, as adjusted by (i) the add-back of non-cash items,
primarily comprising depreciation of right-of-use assets of RMB229.6
million; (ii) changes in working capital, which primarily comprised
less of change in trade receivables of RMB465.8 million, change in
inventories of RMB424.9 million and add-back of change in trade and
other payables of RMB394.5 million.
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In 2023, our net cash from operating activities was RMB586.4 million,
which was primarily attributable to our profit before tax for the year of
RMB639.9 million, as adjusted by (i) the add-back of non-cash items,
primarily comprising depreciation of right-of-use assets of RMB146.2
million; and (ii) changes in working capital, which primarily comprised
less of change in trade receivables of RMB377.1 million.

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

In 2024, our net cash used in investing activities was RMB381.7
million, which was primarily attributable to purchases of property, plant
and equipment of RMB157.8 million, net cash outflow on acquisition
of subsidiaries of RMB153.8 million, and net outflow pledged bank
deposits of RMB86.0 million.

In 2023, our net cash from investing activities was RMB210.6 million,
which was primarily attributable to net proceeds from withdrawals of
pledged bank deposits of RMB155.7 million and net proceeds from
disposal of financial assets at FVTPL of RMB60.0 million.

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

In 2024, our net cash from financing activities was RMB397.1 million,
which was primarily attributable to the proceeds from the issuance of
shares of RMB428.6 million and the payment of the distribution costs
of RMB19.8 million.

In 2023, our net cash used in financing activities was RMB632.4
million, which was primarily attributable to the repayment of
convertible loan notes and related equity of RMB430.5 million and
repayment of lease liabilities of RMB143.1 million.

As of 31 December 2024, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had capital commitments of
RMB196.8 million that were contracted but not provided for, which
was mainly for the future investment in property, plant and equipment.
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In 2024, a subsidiary of the Group agreed to acquire entire equity
interest in Flatiron Merchants Inc. (“Flatiron”) from an independent
third party at a cash consideration of USD3,800,000 (equivalent to
RMB27,316,000) which represented the fair value of the license, the
only asset held by Flatiron at the date of acquisition. The Group paid a
deposit of RMB3,541,000 in 2023 and the remaining has been paid in
2024. See Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements for details.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any
significant investments as required to be disclosed in accordance
with paragraph 32(4A) of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules. Save as
disclosed above, the Group had no other material acquisitions or
disposals in 2024.

As of 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in the section headed
“Use of proceeds from the Global Offering” in this annual report, the
Group did not have any future plans for material investments or capital
assets.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognized assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not
the functional currency of the relevant group entity. Foreign exchange
risk is the risk of loss resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. Most of our sales of products are denominated
and settled in U.S. dollars and Euros, with the remaining sales
denominated and settled in currencies of the geographical markets
to which we sell our products. We mainly pay our suppliers that are
located in the PRC in Renminbi. The foreign exchange risk we are
facing mainly comes from movements in USD/RMB and EUR/RMB.

We had net foreign exchange gains of RMB60.2 million in 2024 due
to the foreign exchange rate fluctuations in connection with our
outstanding trade and other receivables as well as trade and other
payables denominated in foreign currencies. Additionally, the gains
were also due to the exchange rate fluctuations when converting funds
held in our foreign currency bank accounts into RMB.
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Our pledged/restricted bank deposits increased from RMB164.9
million as of 31 December 2023 to RMB250.9 million as of 31
December 2024, in line with an increase in our bank loans.

We have pledged owned properties with carrying amount of RMB527.4
million and RMB561.6 million to secure general banking facilities of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Group does not have any pledged
assets as of 31 December 2024.

The Group’s gearing ratio equals total interest-bearing debt (including
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by total
equity, which increased from 0.7 as of 31 December 2023 to 1.3 as of
31 December 2024, primarily due to an increase in lease liabilities.

As of 31 December 2024, we had a total of 2,040 employees, the
majority of whom are based in Shenzhen, China. The following table
sets out the number of our employees by function as of 31 December
2024:

EEAH

Number of HEYEIL
iR Function Employees % of Total
EmAE - EE  HEREH Product development, operation, 1,124 55.1

sales and marketing

HiERHEEEER Procurement and supply chain management 384 18.8
17K Administrative 364 17.9
B Warehousing 168 8.2
et Total 2,040 100.0
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Our business growth and development hinge on our capacity to
attract, retain and motivate competent employees. During the
Reporting Period, we recruited our staff through various means
such as on-campus recruitment, job fairs, recruitment agencies and
both internal and external referrals. We are devoted to offering fair
and equal opportunities in all our employment practices and have
implemented relevant policies and procedures. As part of our retention
strategy, we provide competitive salaries, extensive insurance
packages and merit-based incentives typically based on individual
and overall business performance.

In terms of training, we conduct orientation programs for new
employees to familiarize them with our company culture, business
and industry, with the aim of enhancing their understanding of our
company and facilitating their work performance. We also regularly
offer bespoke in-house training to our existing employees to enhance
their technical skills or arrange for them to attend third-party training
sessions. Moreover, we offer management skills training to certain
employees to assist them in transitioning into managerial roles.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, total employee compensation
and benefit expenses amounted to RMB513.8 million.
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Mr. Lu Haizhuan (BEi8% %), aged 45, is our founder, chairperson
of the Board, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is
primarily responsible for the overall business strategies and operations
of our Group.

Mr. Lu founded our Group in 13 September 2010 and has been
working in our Company and our certain subsidiaries, including Aukey
International Limited since April 2012, where he has been working as
the director; Shenzhen Fanttik Technology Innovation Co., Ltd. since
November 2022, where he has been working as the director.

Mr. Lu graduated from Shanghai Institute of Technology (/&8
fiTRE) in finance (asset valuation and management) in the PRC in
July 2001, and received a master’'s degree in Economic Engineering
from Fachhochschule Mannheim in Germany in March 2005. Mr. Lu
is currently pursuing a doctorate degree in business administration
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&JTEpT) and
Singapore Management University.

Mr. Lu is the brother of Mr. Lu Songdu and the brother-in-law of Mr.
Hu Dianfeng.

Mr. Ze Kuaiyue (¥(E€#M%E4), aged 47, is our co-founder, vice
chairperson of the Board, executive Director and chief financial officer.
He is primarily responsible for the financial management and capital
market of the Group.

Mr. Ze and Mr. Lu co-founded our Group. He has been our executive
Director since March 2013. Mr. Ze has also been directors in our
certain subsidiaries, including Shenzhen Qianhai Gaoya Shengshi
Enterprise Management Co., Ltd. (RIS RS EERFRAAF)])
since April 2017, where he has been working as the executive director
and general manager; Western Post (HK) Limited since June 2020,
where he has been working as the director; Shenzhen Aochuang
Technology Innovation Co., Ltd. (ORIIFEIEIHEIFERAF]) since
May 2022, where he has been working as the executive director and
general manager; Ningbo AoYing Technology Co., Ltd. (2R &R
K BBRAAF]) where he has been working as the executive director
and general manager and Auwin International Limited (f{&BIERHR
‘A A]) where he has been working as the director, respectively, since
November 2022. Since February 2022, Mr. Ze has been serving as a
non-executive director of Xiamen Fenghua Youth Private Equity Fund
Management Co., Ltd. (EFIRELFLEESEEBRAAR).
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Mr. Ze received a bachelor’'s degree in investment economy from East
China University of Science and Technology (ZEHRIE T AE) in the
PRC in July 1999. He also received a master's degree in computer
science from Reutlingen University in Germany in July 2005. He
graduated from China Europe International Business School (4 BB
TEER) in the PRC in June 2021 with a degree in master of business
administration (EMBA).

Ms. Zhuang Liyan (¥ E¥Z L), aged 60, is our executive Director,
Board secretary, vice chief executive officer and joint company
secretary. She is primarily responsible for the securities affairs,
internal audit supervision, media public relations and legal matters of
the Group.

Ms. Zhuang joined our Group in September 2010 and has been
working in our Company and our certain subsidiaries, including
Shenzhen Aukeyhi Technology Co., Ltd. since August 2015, where she
has been working as a supervisor; Western Post (HK) Limited since
April 2021, where she has been working as an executive director. She
has also been a non-executive director in Shenzhen Zbao Logistics
Co., Lid. (FYTREWREHLBRAF]) (“Shenzhen Zbao”), a logistics
services provider mainly focused on cross-boarder transportation and
an investee of our Company due to our Company’'s 21.25% voting
rights therein, since April 2018.

The Company is of the view that, there is no material potential
competition between the Group and Shenzhen Zbao as Shenzhen
Zbao is a logistics solutions provider mainly focusing on cross-border
transportation, meanwhile the Group provides logistics solutions
mainly focusing on overseas storage and warehousing. In addition,
Shenzhen Zbao is owned as to 21.25% by the Company instead of
the controlling shareholders of the Company or the Directors. On the
basis that Ms. Zhuang 1) acts as our Company’s designated director
holding a non-executive position in Shenzhen Zbao merely due to
our Company’s voting rights therein and 2) is not involved in the daily
management and operation of Shenzhen Zbao, the directorship held
by Ms. Zhuang in Shenzhen Zbao would not give rise to any material
competition issue under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules. Ms. Zhuang
Liyan shall recuse herself from any Board resolution of the Company
involving Shenzhen Zbao.

From January 2007 to May 2009, Ms. Zhuang worked in Guangdong
Sunton Leather Goods Co., Ltd. (BERHPER MEERBBERAR]) as
the general manager.
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Ms. Zhuang graduated from Jilin Normal University (& #REDHS5AER)
in chemistry in the PRC in July 1985 and received an MBA degree
from Colorado City University in the United States through distance
learning in June 2022. Ms. Zhuang is currently pursuing a degree in
executive master of business administration (EMBA) from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business (KT £¥F7) in the PRC.

Ms. Zou Jiajia (8ZRfEZ L), aged 46, has been our non-executive
Director since June 2019.

Ms. Zou joined Hongshan in July 2009 and currently serves as a
partner.

Ms. Zou received a bachelor's degree in economics from Tsinghua
University (5% KX2) in the PRC in July 2000 and a master's degree
in international business from University of Erlangen-Nurnberg in
Germany in June 2004.

Ms. Zou was a supervisor of Chengdu Sailong Communications Co.,
Ltd. (FKEBEREBERMARAA]), a company established in the PRC
with limited liability, the license of which was revoked on 19 June
2018 as the company ceased operation for more than six months. Ms.
Zou confirmed that as of the Latest Practicable Date, no claims have
been made against her and she was not aware of any threatened
or potential claims made against her as a result of the revocation of
business license of the above company.

Mr. Jin Hao (£X5t4), aged 38, has been our non-executive Director
since October 2023.

Mr. Jin worked in KPMG Huazhen Accountant Firm (special Ordinary
Partnership) (2EEEIREEAIEHAT) from September 2011 to
September 2014, with his last position as a senior auditor. Mr. Jin
worked as a senior consultant of Deloitte & Touche Financial Advisory
Services Limited from July 2014 to September 2014. From March
2015 to November 2015, Mr. Jin has been serving as a deputy
general manager of Greenwoods Capital Management Co., Ltd. (&
MEAREEFRAF]). Since May 2016, Mr. Jin has been serving as a
deputy general manager of Shanghai Greenwoods Equity Investment
Management Limited (82 MKREREEEBRAT]). Since October
2023, Mr. Jin has been serving as a director of Shenzhen Apeman
Innovations Technology Co., Ltd. CEIITRABIFRIEARAF)
(“Shenzhen Apeman”), a company specializing in sports imaging and
intelligent home furnishings.
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The Company is of the view that, there is no material potential
competition between the Group and Shenzhen Apeman as
Shenzhen Apeman is a technology company mainly focusing on
intelligent imaging products, meanwhile the Group is an online
retailer specializing in high-quality furniture and home furnishings
as well as export logistics solutions provider. In addition, Shenzhen
Apeman is owned as to 10.77% by the Company instead of the
controlling shareholders of the Company or the Directors as of 31
December 2024. As Mr. Jin is not involved in the daily management
and operation of our Company as a non-executive Director, and
of Shenzhen Apeman as an investor board representative, as well
as both his directorships were designated by Greenwoods, the
overlapping investor of our Company and Shenzhen Apeman, the
directorship held by Mr. Jin in Shenzhen Apeman would not give rise
to any material competition issue under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
Mr. Jin Hao shall recuse himself from any Board resolution of the
Company involving Shenzhen Apeman.

Mr. Jin has been a Certified Public Accountant of PRC recognized by
Shanghai Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2018.

Mr Jin received a bachelor’'s degree in mathematics and applied
mathematics from Harbin Institute of Technology (WMEBETZEAEZ)
in the PRC in July 2009, and a master's degree in accounting and
finance from Queensland University in Australia in July 2011.

Mr. Lu Songdu (FE2EE 5t4), aged 41, is our non-executive Director.

Mr. Lu Songdu joined our Group in September 2010 as a promotion
manager and consecutively served as the manager of French
department, promotion department and website operation until his
resignation in March 2015. He has been our non-executive Director
since June 2019.

Mr. Lu Songdu received a junior college diploma in business
management from Wenzhou University (B AXZ) in the PRC in July
2005.

Mr. Lu Songdu is the brother of Mr. Lu Haizhuan and the brother-in-
law of Mr. Hu Dianfeng.
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Ms. Meng Rongfang (#&%¥ Z *), aged 59, has been our
independent non-executive Director since June 2019.

Ms. Meng has more than 30 years’ experience in accounting. Ms.
Meng worked in BDO China Shu Lun Pan Certified Public Accountants
LLP (MEE2sMEHKM(EREBEEE)) from January 2000 to
December 2020, with her last position as director and has served as
the senior counsel afterwards. Ms. Meng served as an independent
non-executive director of Asia Silicon (Qinghai) Co., Ltd. (ZEMNEE2(F
) BD AR A A]) from August 2019 to July 2023.

Ms. Meng has been a Certified Public Accountant of PRC recognized
by Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (# B &zt
EMf%E) and a senior accountant recognized by Shanghai Municipal
Human Resources and Social Security Bureau (F/8MANERMLE
RBEF) since June 1994 and September 2017, respectively.

Ms. Meng received a junior college diploma in accounting from Lixin
Accounting College (ME€irmEERER) (currently known as
Shanghai Lixin University of Accounting and Finance (L& {Z&5t
$R2PT)) in the PRC in July 1987. Ms. Meng received a bachelor’s
degree in law from East China College of Political Science and Law
(ERBUEEZPRR) (currently known as East China University of Political
Science and Law (ZEREUAKZ)) in the PRC in July 2003. Ms. Meng
further completed an executive master of professional accountancy
program jointed established by the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and Shanghai National Accounting Institute ((E/#BR&5HE67) in the
PRC in December 2008.

Mr. Xu Jinke (#%#%l5%4), aged 51, has been our independent
non-executive Director since June 2019.

Since March 2015, Mr. Xu has been serving as a senior partner in
Beijing Dacheng (Shanghai) Law Offices (bR AM(L/E)EENES
FT). Mr. Xu also served as an independent non-executive director of
Shanghai Bohe Health Technology Co., Ltd. (/& & Ef2ERIEED
B2 a]) from February 2021 to September 2023.

Mr. Xu holds the legal practicing certificate issued by Shanghai
Municipal Bureau of Justice (_L/8 al/AB).
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Mr. Xu received a bachelor’'s degree in law from East China Normal
University (ZERAM#AEZ) in the PRC in July 1995, and a master's
degree in law from University of Technology Sydney in Australia in
May 2001. Mr. Xu obtained an EMBA degree from China Europe
International Business School (FEXBIFE T £FT) in the PRC in August
2018.

Mr. Chen Xiaohuan (FREEEK 5t &), aged 43, has been our independent
non-executive Director since October 2023.

Since November 2019, Mr. Chen has been serving as a director in
Qifu Technology, Inc. (3660.HK, Nasdaq: QFIN). Mr. Chen is currently
a co-founding partner of Twin Peaks Capital. Prior to co-founding
Twin Peaks Capital, Mr. Chen worked in FountainVest Partners from
2008 to 2021, with his last position as Managing Director and Head
of Business and Financial Services. Prior to joining FountainVest
Partners, Mr. Chen worked in the investment banking division of
Lehman Brothers and Citigroup, respectively from 2006 to 2008. From
2004 to 2006, Mr. Chen served in Micron Technology.

Mr. Chen received a bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from
National University of Singapore in Singapore in 2004 and an EMBA
degree from China Europe International Business School (#EXEIR T
EE67) in the PRC in 2018.

Ms. Zhang Li (5REZ £), aged 41, was appointed as our Supervisor
in May 2015.

Ms. Zhang joined our Group in September 2010 as the vice president
of the human resources department of our Company. Since January
2021, Ms. Zhang has been serving as the vice president of our Group.
Since May 2023, Ms. Zhang has been serving as a non-executive
director in Ningbo Ruiao Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. (%25 %
BRI AR AR, an associate of our Company.

Ms. Zhang received a bachelor's degree in computer science and
technology from Zhengzhou University of Aeronautics ()N fiZe T2 &
EET) in the PRC in July 2007.
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Ms. Hua Xiang (5B#lZ ), aged 49, was appointed as our Supervisor
in March 2012.

Since June 2010, Ms. Hua has been successively serving in Shenzhen
Capital Group Co., Ltd. as the investment manager and the deputy
general manager of the investment department, and the general
manager of the project management department.

Ms. Hua received the double bachelor's degree in finance and
science and technology communication and a master's degree in
management science and engineering from Science and Technology
of China (FFEIRIZHfiTA£) in the PRC in June 2000 and June 2003,
respectively.

Ms. Liu Meixia (B/ZE % t), aged 31, was appointed as our
Supervisor in June 2022.

Ms. Liu joined our Group in July 2015 and successively served
as the training specialist, training manager, project manager and
organizational development manager.

Ms. Liu obtained a certificate of Project Management Professional
issued by Project Management Institute in March 2023.

Ms. Liu received a bachelor’s degree in human resource management
from Hunan Institute of Science and Technology (#FEIETEET) in the
PRC in June 2015.

For details of the biographies of Mr. Lu Haizhuan (BE3&E%4), Mr.
Ze Kuaiyue ((E®# % %) and Ms. Zhuang Liyan (GEE%Z t), see "—
Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Hu Dianfeng (#B2I&%4), aged 44, is our deputy general
manager. He is responsible for the operation management of our
Group.

Mr. Hu joined our Group in September 2010 and successively worked
as a product development manager and website operation manager.
Mr. Hu was appointed as the deputy general manager of our Group
in May 2015. Mr. Hu served as an executive director and general
manager of Yueqing Ruiming Advertising Co., Ltd. (& minESE
[RAd]) from March 2004 to March 2014.
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Mr. Hu received a junior college diploma in exhibition planning and
management from Hainan College of Foreign Studies (/&7 %MEEEL
%¥ZPt) in the PRC through correspondence courses in December
2019. Mr. Hu received a bachelor's degree in social work from Jilin
University (F#X2) in the PRC through correspondence courses in
December 2021.

Ms. Wu Can (R t), aged 38, is our deputy general manager
and chief operation officer. She is responsible for the daily business
operation of the Group.

Ms. Wu joined our Group in September 2010 and successively served
as the operation manager, deputy general manager of our Group and
the chief operation officer.

Ms. Wu received a bachelor's degree in German from Xiangtan
University (HZEAE) in the PRC in June 2009.

Mr. Fan Xinyong (GB# B % %), aged 38, is the deputy general
manager and the vice president of our Group. He is responsible for
the logistics management of our Group.

Mr. Fan joined our Group in May 2017, and served as the general
manager of the logistics management department and deputy general
manager and the vice president of our Group successively. From
January 2013 to March 2017, Mr. Fan served as the program manager
of the Jiekai Communication (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (FERBEA ORI D
BRAQT).

Mr. Fan received a bachelor’'s degree in English from Wuhan
Technology Institute (EZEHLET) (currently known as Wuhan Textile
University (B2 4% AX2)) in the PRC in June 2008.

Mr. Sun Wei (B&$i%4%), aged 50, is our deputy general manager
and chairperson assistant. He is responsible for the product chain
management of our Group. Mr. Sun joined our Group in April 2023.

From July 2002 to March 2011, Mr. Sun worked in Lenovo Mobile Inc.
(BrEEZE(EM)BESBREREEBRAF]) (currently known as Motorola
MOBILE Communication Technology Ltd. (EE{E BN B EBERIMER L
A])), with his last position as the manager of the management support
department. From September 2015 to September 2020, Mr. Sun
served in Jomoo Kitchen & Bath Co., Ltd. (LVHEARMDERAF]) as
the director of operation management center. From September 2018
to April 2023, Mr. Sun served in IBM Solution & Services (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (BB ZEHEERHEORYNAERAF]) as a consulting manager
and project expert.
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Mr. Sun obtained the first-level certificate for corporate functional
department managers or supervisors issued by The Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security in the PRC (F#EARLMBE A HE R
H&RESZ) in October 2014.

Mr. Sun graduated from Jimei University (583 KX2) with the degree in
electronic instruments and measurement technology in the PRC in July
1996.

Ms. Zhuang Liyan (¥E¥% % L) is the secretary of the Board of
the Company, and was appointed as a joint company secretary of
our Company (“Joint Company Secretary”) in March 2024 with
her appointment taking effect on the Listing Date. See “EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS” above for the biographical details of Ms. Zhuang.

Mr. Li Kin Wai (Z#£&) was appointed as a Joint Company Secretary
of our Company in March 2024. Mr. Li serves as a senior manager of
corporate services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional
services provider specialising in integrated business, corporate and
investor services. He has over 10 years of experience in the field of
corporate secretary.

Mr. Li is a chartered secretary and an associate member of The Hong
Kong Charted Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom.
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Our Board of Directors comprises nine Directors, including three

executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and three

independent non-executive Directors. Our Directors serve a term of

three years and may be re-elected for successive re-appointments.

HImE =T

The Directors of the Company during the Reporting Period and up to

the date of this Annual Report are as follows:

HH B

Name Position

HTES

Executive Directors

BRELE BlEA  EZR  BTESRERITE

Mr. Lu Haizhuan

EeMEL

Mr. Ze Kuaiyue

HRELt
Ms. Zhuang Liyan

Founder, chairperson of the Board,

executive Director and chief

executive officer
BEgBA  BIESR  BITESHKERUBE
Co-founder, vice chairperson of the Board,

executive Director and chief financial officer
HITEE EFSNE  BERRNTERMEARNE
Executive Director, secretary of the Board,

vice chief executive officer and

joint company secretary

FHITES

Non-executive Directors

BREXL FRTES

Ms. Zou Jiajia Non-executive Director
2REE FHITES

Mr. Jin Hao Non-executive Director
BERELE FRTESR

Mr. Lu Songdu

Non-executive Director

BykHTES
Independent
Non-executive Directors
RERFRL BUFHTES
Ms. Meng Rongfang Independent non-executive Director
HYREE BUFHTES
Mr. Xu Jinke Independent non-executive Director
BEEE4E BUFHTES

Mr. Chen Xiaohuan

Independent non-executive Director

BZERESAY

Date of Appointment

as Director

201069 A 13R

13 September 2010

2013F3H22H
22 March 2013

2016F5A25H
25 May 2016

201956 A5H
5 June 2019
2023F10A10A
10 October 2023
2019F6A5H

5 June 2019

201956 A5AH

5 June 2019
201956 A5H
5 June 2019
2023F10A10A
10 October 2023

MAZEEHH
Date of Joining the Group

2010%9A13H
13 September 2010

201059A13H
13 September 2010

20109 A 131
13 September 2010

201956 A5H

5 June 2019
2023F10A10R

10 October 2023
201069138 &Y

13 September 2010 )

20196 A5H

5 June 2019
20196 A5H

5 June 2019
2023F10A10AH
10 October 2023
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Note:

1. Mr. Lu Songdu joined the Company on 13 September 2010, resigned
in March 2015 and was subsequently appointed on 5 June 2019 as a
director of the Company.

Details of the biographies of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report.

The Group is an online retailer specializing in the provision of quality
furniture and home furnishing products. With sound supply chain
management and effective logistics solutions, the Group provides
consumers with a pleasant living experience in a wide range of
“home and life” scenarios, and strives to achieve excellence in brand
communication, market expansion, social responsibility fulfillment,
etc., to set a model for the industry and achieve sustainable
development. In 2024, with “Empowering Connections, Inspiring a
Better World™* (“@# R, B3EXLT") as its mission, the Company
has been relying on the multi-brand systematic operation capability,
the digital support capability of the whole business chain, the supply
chain management capability and flexible organization structure. The
Company effectively enters into the various scenarios of ‘home and
life’. We have created a series of branded products in the categories
of furniture, home furnishings and home appliances, electric tools
and other products with beautiful design, high quality and advanced
functions. We engage in cross-border B2C business mainly through
third-party online platforms such as Amazon, Walmart and Wayfair.

Furthermore, the Group provided efficient logistics solutions globally
to customers, primarily sellers on e-commerce platforms, through
Western Post Group, our subsidiary. Leveraging our industry expertise,
we have formulated a warehousing network with tailored design based
on proximity to end-consumers and delivery capabilities, as a strategic
move to improve local logistics services to efficiently deliver products
at low cost.

Details of the review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31
December 2024 and the future prospect are set out in section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Business Overview” of this
Annual Report. This section forms an integral part of the Report of the
Board of Directors.
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The actual operational and financial performance of our business
during the Reporting Period may be affected by a number of factors,
including the external macroeconomic environment and internal
operational risks. The Board of Directors fully recognizes the various
risks that the Group is facing and has summarized the principal risks
and uncertainties as below:

° We generate the majority of our revenue from a small number
of third-party e-commerce platforms. Disruptions of our
relationships with third-party e-commerce platforms, changes
in, or interpretation of, policies of such third-party e-commerce
platforms or unfavorable changes in our arrangements with them,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We may not identify or
respond in a timely manner to changes in consumer preferences
and market demand, or fail to continuously design and develop
new products to meet evolving consumer demand, which may
materially and adversely affect our business operations and

financial performance.

o We rely on manufacturing partners to produce our products. If
our manufacturing partners fail to produce products that are
of consistently high quality, or if we encounter issues such as
material shortage or delay in the supply, or if raw materials and
labor costs fluctuate, or if we fail to renew agreements with
our manufacturing partners on favorable terms, or at all, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected. If we fail to compete effectively
and successfully, our business operations, financial performance
and profitability may be materially and adversely affected.

° Any adverse changes in macroeconomic situations, such as
fluctuations in interest rates, or economic downturns in the U.S.
or Europe, or deterioration in political or economic relations
among countries, may negatively and materially affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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References are made to the sections headed “BUSINESS - OUR
SALES NETWORK - Our Sales in the U.S.”, “RISK FACTORS -
RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY - Changes
in international trade policies between China and the U.S. or other
countries our end-consumers are located in may have an adverse
effect on our business”. Changes in international trade policies,
treaties and tariffs between China and the countries our end-
consumers are located in, particularly between China and the U.S.,
may affect the demand for our products, impact the competitive
position of our products, or prevent us from being able to sell products
in certain countries. The U.S. implemented several rounds of import
tariffs on products of Chinese origin in hundreds of categories in the
Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the U.S., and the PRC government
has also been imposing tariffs on certain products imported from the
U.S. into China responding to the U.S. tariffs. In particular, with the
additional tariffs on products of Chinese origin, sellers in the PRC B2C
e-commerce for furniture and home furnishings industry would likely
pass the costs of the tariffs on to end-consumers. As a result, without
the impact of additional tariffs, the peers in other countries and
regions, such as Southeast Asia, with relatively lower sales prices,
could gain market share and improve their price competitiveness.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the U.S. has issued several
rounds of notifications of tariff increases, and there are uncertainties
regarding tariff fluctuations and changes in trade policies between
China and the U.S. This uncertainty will bring great challenges to
many enterprises, including us, that export to the U.S. and increase
the risk and difficulty of our business expansion on the U.S. The
Company will consider implementing a number of measures, such
as adjusting terminal prices, expanding into emerging markets, and
establishing a global supply base to adapt to the above situation.

The Group has always placed synergistic development at a strategic
level. By establishing a long-term and stable network of strategic
partnerships, the Group has been able to build a mutually beneficial
and win-win collaboration mechanism with its customers, upstream
and downstream suppliers. During the Reporting Period, the Group
maintained good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers.



AEBRANEBEREREFRIUAN AR
5 RERABERBEENEN - BBER
HEBEMET - REEBOREREDOE
BEBETRH-LATRIENRS - FRE
AR —#b D - EREAREEEBR
B AEESRERHARFINGS 2
e R R AR EET 8 - ARED AR
BYTE  WEESFRSEDANTERE -

BN EFIZERERE=TERmFaE
BERMERBEEE  ULAEFTERER
HERRWDRBATREP °

EEMRETE  AEEFERAT SRR
RATEAM T RTISHFRRBEEERS - A
BRAUEMETEERERRADERES
MRERMIEINE - BHi5 AT ERER
IO RETIESARES - RTIEK AT
MEREZENL  BBRARLEERTT
= HEBEMBEEEEELAR  RHE
RHBERLWEFER - RANEERF
BEMEmBAMTMNAEEERERS &2
BERLTRARRLETERANEPREE
EOBBUWEREEENRRRRE  SE
BOEEM ©

EEFRBHE - ARBRARREHED
BERG  REABERR - HREES
BHETAMERMERNBES - RS
BT AREOBRBERAESRY o A
REBEHEE  BRETAREOESR
o BETEHEFINESRBEY - +
BEETABERMANESHRELRE
B -

The Group recognizes that the growth and development of our
business depends on our capacity to attract, retain and motivate
competent employees. Through the implementation of relevant
policies and procedures, the Group is committed to providing fair
and equal opportunities in all employment practices. As part of our
retention strategy, the Group offers competitive salaries, extensive
insurance packages and merit-based incentives to our employees
based on individual and overall business performance. The Group has
established labor unions in the PRC and maintains a positive working
relationship with its employees.

Our customers primarily consisted of consumers who buy our
products through third-party e-commerce platforms, and customers
of our logistics solutions primarily consisted of sellers on e-commerce

platforms.

In terms of product development, the Group continues to understand
market demand and consumers’ pain points through market research
and industry analysis. By conducting comprehensive product reviews
and adopting a dynamic and integrated product development
methodology, the Group combines the results of market research with
innovative design concepts to form targeted product differentiation.
By incorporating design elements such as local cultures, the Group is
able to create a resonance with the consumers in the target markets
and provide innovative products that meet the needs of consumers.
We also utilize consumer feedback mechanisms during the product
development life cycle, including pre-launch testing and post-launch
customer feedback management, to collect consumer insights and
feedback for continuous product improvement.

In terms of customer service, the Group is committed to providing
satisfactory customer service to increase consumer experience. For
consumers who purchase our products on third-party e-commerce
platforms, we provide customer services through communication
channels provided by the platforms. To ensure timely responses,
we maintain a dedicated customer service team in addition to the
customer service provided by those platforms. Our team primarily
handles customer requests for product exchanges or returns that
cannot be fully resolved by the platforms.
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In terms of providing logistics solutions services, in order to better
satisfy the demand of our customers, we have been expanding our
global warehousing network and building more smart warehousing
centers to strengthen our warehousing and logistics capabilities.
We also plan to optimize overseas inventory management through a
distribution algorithm engine, lower the proportion of idle inventory
and decrease local delivery costs to provide customers with
quality logistics solutions. At the same time, we will also establish a
professional team in key markets such as the United States to help
on-site installation and provide after-sales service, thereby ensuring
customer satisfaction in using our products.

The majority of our suppliers are manufacturing partners. We
work closely with our suppliers. From the early stages of product
development, we ensure that our suppliers fully understand and can
effectively implement design concepts and implement strict quality
control measures. During the design phase, we closely align product
design with manufacturing processes and manage supply chains
and raw materials to optimize design, cost and quality. After product
launch, we share consumer feedback with our supply chain and
respond to market changes.

We emphasizes the evaluation and selection of cooperative suppliers
and adheres to sustainable development. We select suppliers
based on a comprehensive assessment of a number of factors,
including quality, production or delivery capability, pricing, location,
qualifications, reputation and delivery schedule. At the same time,
we conduct regular supplier evaluations to control the cost of raw
materials and continuously optimize our suppliers’ portfolios. We has
established and maintained long-term and stable relationships with
key manufacturing partners for a period of two to ten years.

Our customers of sales of products primarily consisted of consumers
who buy our products through third-party e-commerce platforms, and
customers of our logistics solutions primarily consisted of sellers on
e-commerce platforms. For the year ended 31 December 2024, our
revenue from our five largest customers represented less than 30% of
our total sales for that year.
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The majority of our suppliers are manufacturing partners, which
primarily provide OEM services and are located in the PRC. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the transaction amounts from our five
largest suppliers, representing the amount of purchases we made
from our suppliers, represented less than 30% of our total purchases
during that year.

The results of operations of the Group during the Reporting Period
are set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from pages 100 to 101 of this Annual Report.

During the Reporting Period, details of the movements of the share
capital of the Company of the year are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements.

At the second extraordinary general meeting for the year 2025 held
on 7 February 2025 by the Company, the proposal regarding the
proposed Special Dividend was approved by the Shareholders of the
Company. Pursuant to the Company’s dividend policy, the Company
would distribute a cash dividend of RMB0.25 (tax inclusive) per Share
for the Special Dividend to all Shareholders based on the total share
capital of 415,205,916 Shares after the Listing and issuance of its H
Shares, using its own funds (excluding the proceeds from the Listing)
and subsequently a total amount of approximately RMB103,801,000
was paid out. Of which Shareholders holding the Company’s H Shares
pursuant to the H Share full circulation carried out by the Company
upon the initial public offering of its overseas-listed foreign shares (H
Shares) shall be paid in Renminbi; other H Shareholders shall be paid
in Hong Kong dollars, the exchange rate of Hong Kong dollars will
be calculated based on the benchmark exchange rate of Renminbi to
Hong Kong dollars as announced by the People’s Bank of China on
the date of the extraordinary general meeting at which the proposal
for the Special Dividend is considered and approved, which is
RMB1.00=HK$1.08596. Accordingly, a cash dividend of HK$0.27149
(inclusive of tax) per Share was paid; holders of Domestic Unlisted
Shares shall be paid in Renminbi. Such Special Dividend was paid
in cash on Monday, 7 April 2025 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on Tuesday, 18
February 2025.

The Board of the Company does not recommend the payment of a
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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RESERVES FOR DISTRIBUTION

As of 31 December 2024, the reserves for distribution of the Group
were RMB1,905,900,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, details of changes in property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 16 to the
financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

As of 31 December 2024, details of the bank borrowings of the Group
are set out in note 30 to the financial statements.

ISSUED DEBENTURES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has not issued any
debentures.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sales of
treasury shares). As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any
treasury shares.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
8 November 2024, issuing 29,894,700 new shares at an offer price of
HK$15.60 per share. After deducting underwriting commissions, fees
and other expenses related to the Global Offering, the net proceeds
from the Listing were approximately HK$387.5 million. The proceeds
from the Listing will be utilized in accordance with the plan disclosed
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus, namely:

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024



REEHR REEHR
EBAME HADAZKE DA
FARiEE Utilized Unutilized HREBARE
ARORE proceeds proceeds HFEHREE
Proceeds used during the at the end of Expected timetable for full
ER Bok for related Reporting the Reporting utilization of unutilized
Project Percentage purposes Period Period proceeds
(B&EBT) (B&EE7T) (BE#T)
(HK$ million) — (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)

EBER 70.0% 271.3 0 271.3  HZE2027F12H31H

Business expansion As of 31 December 2027

MEHT U E—FTE 15.0% 58.1 0 58.1 HZE2027%12H31H
EEEBREAS

Strengthening digitalization As of 31 December 2027

and further improving the
information management

systems
EEENBELRELHE 10.0% 38.8 0 38.8 HZE2027F12A31H
Potential investment or mergers As of 31 December 2027

and acquisitions in the
industry chain

BEESR—ROERE 5.0% 19.4 0 19.4  EZE2027F12A31H
Working capital and general As of 31 December 2027

corporate uses

Fohy 100.0% 387.5 0 387.5
Total

i Notes:

EPEE A EOMESRIEFERT RN 1. We have placed the unutilized net proceeds in short-term interest-bearing
BHEEERTLR  RHMOEBEESREEY accounts with licensed commercial banks and/or other authorized financial
EHIGTEERE - BB ET A BEINESET institutions. We will comply with the PRC laws in relation to foreign
RS RIBEZH R EERE - exchange registration and remittance of the proceeds.

REFHENETEELAD LB FE/EL 2. Certain amounts and percentages in the table have been rounded.
MERA - Bt IRNEMAHEREK Accordingly, the arithmetic sum shown in certain tables may not be the
VAR ZRBFAEMRS EHBENA total of the figures preceding them. Any discrepancies between the
HHERERYSEAERESAFT AN arithmetic sum shown and the total of the amounts listed are due to

BRAFTE - rounding.
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Name
BEREL A

Mr. Lu Haizhuan 2

keuks?
Mr. Ze Kuaiyue ?

Rifr
Position

N S
PTEFR
ERHTE

Founder, chairperson of the Board,
executive Director and chief
executive officer

gRmA  BIESR
HTEFRERIBE

Co-founder, vice chairperson of the
Board, executive Director and
chief financial officer

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the

following Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the Company

in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or

any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

SFO) as notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
under Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the

register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of

the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong

Stock Exchange pursuant to the requirements in the Model Code,

were as follows:

REME

Nature of Interest

HHMALRRAER

Interest held jointly
with other persons

BAMARRRAER
Interest held jointly
with other persons

HZ2024%12731H
As of 31 December 2024
RARRBET
RARRRE BRAZERH
HhRAHH BREARA L
EREAEIL Approximate

Approximate
percentage of

percentage of
shareholding in

KAFAKA  shareholding in the total
#ERER! the relevant issued share
Number and Class of  class of shares capital of the
Shares of the Company ' of the Company Company
39,236,240 HiR 17.23% 9.45%
39,236,240 H Shares
78,847,805% 42.05% 18.99%
B AT )
78,847,805
Domestic Unlisted Shares
39,236,240 HiR 17.23% 9.45%
39,236,240 H Shares
78,847,805% 42.05% 18.99%
B AT )
78,847,805

Domestic Unlisted Shares



#E

Name

HEELt

Ms. Zhuang Liyan

BEELE
Mr. Lu Songdu

RELL
Ms. Zhang Li

B

Position

#7EF EFEUE.
BEARERELINE

Executive Director, secretary of the
Board, deputy general manager
and joint company secretary

FHNTES

Non-executive Director

ESREIER

Supervisor and vice president

ERfE
Nature of Interest
EREAA

Beneficial owner

REEEER
Interest in a controlled
corporation

e

H#HEEA

Beneficial owner

Jmd

#HEEA

Beneficial owner

Number and Class of

EZ2024F12A31R
As of 31 December 2024

RERFHE

RRRGHH

BREAEA L

Approximate

percentage of

KARKH  shareholding in
YERER the relevant

class of shares

Shares of the Company ' of the Company

3,650,644 R HRx 1.60%

3,650,644 H Shares

3,368,451k 1.80%
BngELmiRn
3,368,451

Domestic Unlisted Shares

751,125 RHRk 0.33%

751,125 H Shares

690,280f% 0.37%
BmgLmiRh
690,280

Domestic Unlisted Shares

7,300,000 HA 3.21%

7,300,000 H Shares

11,393,490/ 6.08%
BmgELmiRk
11,393,490

Domestic Unlisted Shares

180,701RHAR 0.08%

180,701 H Shares

RELFERT
BREBFEDH
BREAEA L
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the total

issued share
capital of the
Company

0.88%

0.81%

0.18%

0.17%

1.76%

2.74%

0.04%
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Notes:
1. All interests stated are long positions.

2. On 6 March 2015, Mr. Lu Haizhuan and Mr. Ze Kuaiyue entered into a
concert party agreement, which was later renewed on 1 March 2019,
pursuant to which Mr. Lu Haizhuan and Mr. Ze Kuaiyue have agreed
to, and shall procure those corporations under their control which
directly hold Shares in our Company, to act in concert in respect of the
management and operations of our Company by aligning their votes at the
general meetings of our Company.

3. The percentages stated in this section have been rounded off. Any
discrepancies between the arithmetic totals and the listed number of
shares are due to rounding.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors, Supervisors and chief executives of the Company had any
interests and short positions in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the SFO) which are required to be notified to the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required to be recorded in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or which are required to be notified to the Company and the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.



R2024%12A31H » WEZFA © THA As at 31 December 2024, so far as was known to the Directors, the

T(HREE  BEERSESTHABN BRA interests or short positions of the following persons (other than the
NAERm KRG T A RIERZ S R Directors, supervisors or chief executive of the Company) in the
BEPIEXVHE2REIN BRI EEANE Shares and underlying shares of the Company as notified to the
KRB RBEBERZF AR RIRERS Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and
N BB &P 336 1648 EE T 7 < Z it 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be

FrecsgmEmstok A - kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

HZ2024%12731H
As of 31 December 2024

REATEE  WEAARBERST
BRIRGTRH RELERH
BRENESE  BRENESM
Approximate Approximate
percentage percentage

E EHtE
Shareholder Nature of Interest
A TEFRERERRAR ERBEA
Shenzhen Capital Group Co., Ltd. Beneficial owner
BREAE REEERER

Mr. Jiang Jinzhi ® Interest in a controlled corporation
AR ERHAA
HongShan Baosheng * Beneficial owner
FAERL ERBEA

Ms. Zhang Xiuhua Beneficial owner
BEGRL ERfAA

Ms. Bao Xueyang Beneficial owner
ERESS ERBEA

Starquest Fund ® Beneficial owner

KRRRH

YARER

Number and Class of
Shares of the Company '

34,491,368 % H%
34,491,368 H Shares
24,202,906 HAx
24,202,906 H Shares
12,101,455 M3 E k1A
12,101,455

Domestic Unlisted Shares
12,899,998 H
12,899,998 H Shares
12,899,998 A M3 k1A
12,899,998

Domestic Unlisted Shares
13,307 6738 M LR
13,307,673

Domestic Unlisted Shares
9,992 41535 M FR(A
9,992,415

Domestic Unlisted Shares
15,968,407 BRH
15,968,407 H Shares

of shareholding
in the relevant
class of

Shares of the
Company

16.15%

10.63%

6.45%

5.67%

6.88%

7.10%

5.33%

7.01%

of shareholding
in the total
issued share
capital of the
Company

8.31%

5.83%

2.91%

3.11%

311%

3.21%

2.41%

3.85%
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Notes:

1.

All interests are long positions.

Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, the Shareholders of the Company are
required to file disclosure of interests forms to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange when certain criteria are fulfilled. When shareholding of a
Shareholder in the Company changes, it is not necessary to notify the
Company or the Hong Kong Stock Exchange unless certain criteria
are fulfilled. Therefore, the shareholdings filed with the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange may be different from the latest shareholding of the
Shareholders. The number and proportion of Shares held by the relevant
Shareholders as shown in the above table may also differ from the actual
number and proportion of Shares held by the relevant Shareholders as at
the end of the Reporting Period as disclosed elsewhere in this report.

As of 31 December 2024, each of Gonggingcheng Greenwoods
Jing’an Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
("Gonggingcheng Greenwoods Jing’an”), Shanghai Greenwoods Jinghui
Equity Investment Center (Limited Partnership) (“Shanghai Greenwoods
Jinghui”) and Shenzhen Greenwoods Jingying Equity Investment Fund
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Shenzhen Greenwoods Jingying”)
is ultimately controlled by Mr. Jiang Jinzhi. Therefore, Mr. Jiang Jinzhi
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Gonggingcheng
Greenwoods Jing'an, Shanghai Greenwoods Jinghui and Shenzhen
Greenwoods Jingying.

As of 31 December 2024, the general partner of Ningbo HongShan
Baosheng Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
("HongShan Baosheng”) is Jiaxing HongShan Kunsheng Investment
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (‘HongShan Kunsheng”).
Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area HongShan Mingsheng Equity
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) (‘HongShan Mingsheng”)
held approximately 77.07% of the partnership interest in HongShan
Baosheng. The general partner of HongShan Kunsheng is Ningbo Meishan
Bonded Port Area HongShan Huanjia Investment Management Co.,
Ltd., which is ultimately controlled by ZHOU Kui. Therefore, HongShan
Kunsheng, HongShan Mingsheng, Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Area
HongShan Huanjia Investment Management Co., Ltd. and ZHOU Kui are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by HongShan Baosheng in the
Company under the SFO.

Starquest New Economy Equity Investment Fund (Shenzhen) L.P.
(“Starquest Fund”) is controlled by *New Starquest Consulting (Shenzhen)
Partnership (L.P.) (“Starquest Consulting”) as its managing partner.
Accordingly, Star Consulting is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Starquest Fund.

The percentages stated in this section have been rounded off. Any
discrepancies between the arithmetic totals and the listed number of
shares are due to rounding.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (not being a Director, Supervisor
or chief executive of the Company) had any interests and short
positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company which
are required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which are required to be recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits in shares or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors, Supervisors or
their respective associates had any interest in any other business that
competes or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors, Supervisors or
entities related to them had any material interest, directly or indirectly,
in any significant transaction, arrangement or contract of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries (which was in force during or at the end of
the Reporting Period).

The Company has entered into service contracts with the Directors
and Supervisors. None of the Directors or Supervisors has entered
into any service contract with the Company which can not be
terminated within one year without compensation (other than statutory

compensation).
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During the Reporting Period, the Group had no non-exempt connected
transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions that are
disclosable under the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, in accordance with the accounting
standards, related party transactions as disclosed in note 40 to
the financial statements of the Annual Report did not constitute a
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Directors has at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
one-third of the members of the Board of Directors with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has purchased and
maintained appropriate liability insurance for the Directors to cover
their liabilities in the ordinary course of their duties and in connection
with the business of the Company.

Details of the pension schemes of the Group during the Reporting
Period are set out in note 45 to the financial statements.

During the Reporting Period, our Group was not involved in any
litigation, arbitration, administrative proceedings or claims of material
importance, and, so far as we are aware, no litigation, arbitration,
administrative proceedings or claims of material importance are
pending or threatened against of our Group.
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Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
to the best of the current knowledge of the Directors of the Company,
during the Reporting Period and up to the Latest Practicable Date,
the Company has maintained the public float as required under Rule
8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules.

We are committed to integrating ESG principles into our operations
and driving sustainability across our business processes, and we
have developed the ESG Policy. The purposes of the policies are to
(i) ensure that we strictly comply with relevant environmental laws,
regulations and industry standards; (ii) establish comprehensive
environmental management system and continuously optimizing
environmental performances; and (iii) cultivate our employees’
environmental awareness, encourage full participation in
environmental practices and foster a positive environmental corporate
atmosphere.

In 2024, we have implemented a range of effective measures on
a firm-wide basis. For example, our suppliers are contractually
required to meet the environmental requirements or regulations of
the designated countries or regions where our products are sold
or the relevant third-party e-commerce platforms. To reduce the
volume and cost of packaging materials, we encourage structural
upgrading and innovation and facilitate waste recycling. We have also
established internal policies to raise the awareness of sustainable
development among our employees and encouraged them to reduce
the environmental impact of office operations by reusing paper,
conserving water and reducing resource consumption in the offices.
Goods have been delivered according to the principle of proximity to
make use of automated warehousing systems to select the nearest
warehouses for delivery, and to provide efficient last-minute delivery
service, which will improve delivery efficiency while reducing the
emission of greenhouse gases generated by distribution. And we
consider environmentally-friendly measures during the renovation
process of office buildings, such as prioritizing the purchase of
energy-saving lighting fixtures and formaldehyde-free baseboards
and paints. We implement formaldehyde removal before moving in to
safeguard good and safe environmental quality with peace of mind.
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During the Reporting Period, we had not committed any material
breaches of environmental laws and regulations applicable to our
operations, nor had we suffered any material claims or penalties due
to violations of environmental laws and regulations. During the same
period, none of our business, strategy or financial performance had
been materially adversely affected by any actual or potential impacts
of environmental-related risks.

Apart from the service contracts of the Directors, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

According to PRC Individual Income Tax Law, Implementation
Provisions of the Individual Income Tax Law of the PRC, Notice
of the State Administration of Taxation on Issues Concerning the
Administration of Individual Income Tax Collection after the Annulment
of Document Guo Shui Fa [1993] No. 045 (Guo Shui Han [2011] No.
348) and other relevant laws, regulations and regulatory documents,
the Company, as a withholding agent, shall withhold and pay on
behalf of the individual Shareholders of H Shares the individual income
tax on dividends when the dividends are distributed to the individual
Shareholders. For foreign individuals who are not residents of the PRC
and who receive dividends from PRC enterprises, they may be entitled
to special exemption from tax under the tax authorities of the State
Council of the PRC or reductions or exemptions under relevant tax
treaties.

Apart from the above, the Company is not aware of any tax relief
available to holders of any of the securities of the Company as a result
of holding such securities.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the PRC requiring the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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During the Reporting Period, no contracts of significance were entered
into and/or subsisted with the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries and there were no contracts of significance in relation to
the provision of services by the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries to the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has not entered into
any equity-linked agreements. On 15 January 2025, the shareholders’
meeting of the Company adopted the H Share Award and Trust
Scheme. Details are set out in “Report of the Board of Directors — the
H Share Award and Trust Scheme”.

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its auditor
for the Reporting Period. The financial statements contained in this
Annual Report have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and
there has been no change of auditor since the Listing of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the donation expenses by the
Company amounted to RMB nil.

The business conducted by the Company is mainly governed by
the laws, rules and regulations of the PRC. During the Reporting
Period, the Company has complied with the relevant laws, rules and
regulations which have significant impacts on the Company.

On 15 January 2025, the Shareholders’ meeting of the Company
adopted the 2025 H share award and trust scheme (the “H Share
Award and Trust Scheme”). The principal terms of the H Share
Award and Trust Scheme are as follows:
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The H Share Award and Trust Scheme is intended to: (1) attract,
motivate and retain skilled and experienced employees by granting
the employees the awards which are related to the shares of the
Company and are more directly related to the performance of the
Company in the stock market, and encourage such employees to
make efforts for future development and expansion of the Company;
(2) ensure that the remuneration policy of the Company keep pace
with the times and better align with the interests of the shareholders
while seeking the balance between the business operations and
management supervision; and (3) (i) recognize the contributions
of a stable management (including directors) to the Company; (ii)
encourage, motivate and retain the management of the Company
which made favorable contributions to the continued operation,
development and long-term performance growth of the Company; and
(iii) grant other rewards to the management of the Company so as to
align its interests with those of shareholders and the overall interests
of the Group.

Eligible participants in the H Share Award and Trust Scheme include
any full-time PRC or non-PRC employees of any member of the Group,
i.e., the directors, senior management personnel, supervisors, key
operations team members, management personnel (front desk, middle
desk, back office) and other employees. The Board or its authorized
persons may appoint any eligible participant as the selected
participant of the relevant scheme from time to time.

The total number of Award Shares available for grant under the
Scheme is 41,520,592, representing approximately 10% of the total
number of issued shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares)
as at the date of this Annual Report. The Company is not permitted to
make any further award grants which would result in the total number
of H Shares involved in all grants made under the Scheme (excluding
Award Shares lapsed under the Scheme) exceeding the limit of the
Scheme without the approval of the Shareholders’ meeting.

The grant of Award Shares to any of the grantees of incentive under
the Scheme would not cause the Company to grant to such grantee of
incentive all Award Shares (other than any awards that have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme) during the 12-month period
up to and including the date of grant that, in the aggregate, exceed
1% of the total number of the Shares of the Company during the
relevant period.
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This Scheme shall have an award term of 10 years from the Adoption
Date (the “Award Term”), after which, no awards shall be granted, but
this Scheme shall continue to be extended until the vesting of such
award shares takes effect, so long as there are any award shares
granted but not vested before the expiry of this Scheme. As of the
date of this Annual Report, the remaining validity period is 10 years.

Vesting period for all Award Shares under the Scheme shall be
determined by the Board and its Authorized Person (each a “Vesting
Period”). The specific commencement date and duration of each
Vesting Period and the actual vesting amount of the Awards granted
to the Grantees during each Vesting Period shall be specified in the
Award Letter approved by the Board or its Authorized Person. Each
Vesting Period shall be no shorter than 12 months, unless the Board
or its Authorized Person determines otherwise at its sole and absolute
discretion.

The number and amount of Award Shares shall be determined based
on the titles and job duties of the Grantees. Such number and amount
shall be determined and documented by the Authorized Persons
from time to time. The amount payable by the Grantees to apply for
or accept the H Share Award and the period within which payment or
notice of payment is to be made will be set out in the Award Letter.

From time to time, depending on changes in the market and in order
to better achieve the purposes of the Scheme, the Board of Directors
or the Authorized Person may revise the grant price of the Award
Shares as set out in the Grant Letter; in such case, a notice setting
out the revised grant price shall be given to the relevant selected
grantees.
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During the Reporting Period, no awards had been granted, vested,
cancelled or lapsed under H Share Award and Trust Scheme by the
Company.

The Shareholders of the Company reviewed and approved the
proposal to amend the Articles of Association at the 2025 first
extraordinary general meeting held on 15 January 2025, and the
amended Articles of Association took effect from 15 January 2025.
Since 15 January 2025 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we have
made no changes to the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, no significant events have
occurred for the Group from the end of the Reporting Period to the
Latest Practicable Date.

By order of the Board
AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.
Mr. Lu Haizhuan
Chairperson of the Board, Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer

Shenzhen, PRC, 28 March 2025
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The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report (the
“Corporate Governance Report”) in the Company’s annual report for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

The World's Leading Online Furniture & Home Living Brand Group

Empowering Connections, Inspiring a Better World

Commitment, Concentration, Long-Termism, Creating Good Products

Freedom, Sharing, Innovation, Determination

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code on the Stock Exchange as the basis of
the Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that during the period from 8 November 2024
(the “Listing Date”) to 31 December 2024, the Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions as set out in the CG Code,
except for Code Provision C.2.1 described in the paragraph headed
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”. The Board will continue to
review and monitor the code of corporate governance practices of
the Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate

governance.
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Since the Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
the Listing Date, the provisions regarding compliance with the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are only
applicable to the Company since the Listing Date.

Following the Listing, the Company has adopted the Model Code as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the Directors
and the Supervisors of the Company, and the Group’s employees
who, because of his/her office or employment, are likely to possess
inside information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.
Specific enquiries have been made to all Directors and Supervisors
and the Directors and Supervisors have confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code from the Listing Date to 31 December
2024.

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the employees
was noted by the Company for the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2024.

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and be collectively
responsibility for promoting the Company’s success by directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business and regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company and whether
the Director is spending sufficient time performing them that are
commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The
Board includes a balanced composition of executive directors
and non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) so that there is a strong independent element on the Board,
which can effectively exercise independent judgement.
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The composition of the Board as at the date of this annual report is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Haizhuan (Chairperson of the Board and chief executive
officer)

Mr. Ze Kuaiyue

Ms. Zhuang Liyan

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Zou Jiajia

Mr. Jin Hao

Mr. Lu Songdu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Meng Rongfang

Mr. Xu Jinke

Mr. Chen Xiaohuan

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” on pages 30
to 35 of this annual report. Save as disclosed therein, there is no other
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship(s)) between the Board members.

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a year
involving active participation, either in person or through electronic
means of communication, of a majority of Directors.

Since the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on 8
November 2024, the Board only held 1 Board meeting.
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The attendance record of each Director at the Board meeting of the
Company held during the Reporting Period is set out in the table
below:

HERE
ETSE3RY
Attendance/
Number of Board

Name of Director Meetings
Executive Directors

Mr. Lu Haizhuan 11
Mr. Ze Kuaiyue 1/1
Ms. Zhuang Liyan 11
Non-executive Directors

Ms. Zou Jiajia 1/1
Mr. Jin Hao 11
Mr. Lu Songdu 11
Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Meng Rongfang 11

Mr. Xu Jinke
Mr. Chen Xiaohuan

11
11

Due to the fact that the Company was listed on 8 November 2024, no

general meeting was held during the Reporting Period.

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control

of the Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and

supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and

provides direction to management by laying down strategies and

overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and

financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and

risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent

non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
Directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’s liabilities in respect
of any legal actions taken against Directors, Supervisors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code states that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Lu Haizhuan is both the
chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
Notwithstanding the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code, given Mr. Lu Haizhuan's extensive knowledge and experience
of the Group’s business, the Board considers that vesting the roles
of both chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the
Company in the same person brings the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enabling more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that the
balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will not
be impaired and this structure will enable the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly and efficiently.

The Board will nevertheless continue to review the structure from time
to time and consider the appropriate move to take when appropriate.
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During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board with
one of whom possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his/her
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation
Mechanism which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board, and allows the Board
effectively exercises independent judgment to better safeguard
Shareholders’ interests.

The objectives of the evaluation are to improve Board effectiveness,
maximise strengths, and identify the areas that need improvement
or further development. The evaluation process also clarifies what
actions of the Company need to be taken to maintain and improve the
Board performance, for instance, addressing individual training and
development needs of each Director.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the
Board will conduct annual review on its independence.

Since the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on 8
November 2024, the Board will review conduct the annual review on
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism in 2025.
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Under the Articles of Association, Directors (including non-executive
Directors) shall be elected at the general meeting with a term of
three years. Each of the current non-executive Directors have been
appointed for a term of three years commencing on the following

dates:—

2 Directors A & Date
FHITES Non-executive Directors

BREZL Ms. Zou Jiajia 202246 A30H 30 June 2022
ER&E Mr. Jin Hao 2023%10H10H 10 October 2023
REMEESTAE Mr. Lu Songdu 202246 A30H 30 June 2022
BIUKHITES Independent Non-executive Directors

BRI L Ms. Meng Rongfang 202256 A30H 30 June 2022
RYREE Mr. Xu Jinke 2022%F6 A30H 30 June 2022
BREEER L & Mr. Chen Xiaohuan 2023%10A10H 10 October 2023
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A Director may serve consecutive terms if re-elected upon the expiry
of his/her term. A Director shall continue to perform his duties in
accordance with the laws, administrative regulations and Articles of
Association until a duly re-elected director takes office, if re-election is
not conducted in a timely manner upon the expiry of his term of office,
or if the resignation of directors results in the number of directors
being less than the quorum. The Articles of Association also provides
that each Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as addition to
the Board shall hold office until the first general meeting after his/her
appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Each of the executive Directors, non-executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and Supervisors has entered into a service
contract with the Company with a specific term. Such service
contracts are for a term commencing from the date of appointment to
the expiry of the current session of the Board.

The service term of the fourth session of the Board of Directors will
be expired on 30 June 2025. The Company will recommend the
candidates for directorship to shareholders in due course after they
are identified and will be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM. The
nominations were made in accordance with the Company's terms of

reference of the Nomination Committee and the Board Diversity Policy.
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Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’'s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by visits to the
Company and meetings with senior management of the Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.

Prior to the Listing and during the Relevant Period, the Company
organized training sessions conducted by the qualified professionals/
legal advisers for all Directors. The training sessions covered
a wide range of relevant topics including Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, corporate governance and regulatory updates. In
addition, relevant reading materials including compliance manual/
legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have been provided to
the Directors for their reference and studying.
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The training records of the Directors up to date of this annual report

are summarized as follows:

Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. Lu Haizhuan

Mr. Ze Kuaiyue

Ms. Zhuang Liyan

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Zou Jiajia

Mr. Jin Hao

Mr. Lu Songdu

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Meng Rongfang

Mr. Xu Jinke

Mr. Chen Xiaohuan

Note:

Types of Training

EYEE
Type of Training "¢

AB
AKB
AKB

AlB
AB
AKB

AKB
AlB
AB

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to briefings,

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and

relevant publications

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit

Committee, Remuneration and Assessment Committee, Nomination

Committee and Strategy Committee, for overseeing particular aspects

of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are

established with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly

with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the Audit

Committee, Remuneration and Assessment Committee, Nomination
Committee and Strategy Committee are published on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to

Shareholders upon request.
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The Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Ms. Meng
Rongfang, Mr. Xu Jinke and Mr. Chen Xiaohuan. All Audit Committee
members are independent non-executive Directors. Ms. Meng

Rongfang is the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting

terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code and the

PRC laws. The main duties of the Audit Committee are:

(i)

(iif)

Advice the Board on the appointment, re-appointment,
replacement and removal of external auditors, approve the
remuneration and terms of employment of external auditors, and
address any issues relating to the resignation or dismissal of

external auditors;

Review and monitor whether the external auditors are
independent and objective and whether the audit procedures are
effective according to applicable standards; the Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditors about the nature, scope,
methods and relevant declaration responsibilities before the audit
work begins;

Formulate and implement policies regarding the engagement of
external auditors to provide non-audit services. For the purpose
of this provision, an external auditor includes any organization
that is under the same control, ownership or management with
the company responsible for the audit, or a third party who is
reasonably aware of all relevant information and is reasonably
concluded as being any organization constituting a part of the
local or international operations of the company responsible
for the audit work. The Audit Committee shall report and make
recommendations to the Board on any matters requiring action or
improvement;
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(iv)

(vi)

Review and monitor the truthfulness, completeness and
accuracy of the Company’s financial statements (including their
disclosures) and annual reports and accounts, half-year reports,
review the material opinions on the relevant financial statements
contained in the statements and reports. Before submitting
the Audit

Committee should review the following matters in particular:

the relevant statements and reports to the Board,

whether there have been changes in the Company’s accounting
policies, practices and estimates during the Reporting Period,
matters involving significant judgments, major adjustments
arising from audits, the Company’s going-concern assumptions
or any qualified opinions, whether the accounting complies with
accounting standards and the legal requirements of financial
reporting and the Hong Kong Listing Rules; For the above-
mentioned items that require focused review, members of the
Audit Committee need to communicate in a timely manner with
the Board, senior management officers, internal and external
auditors, and promptly review letters from the external auditor
to the management or any significant questions raised to the
management about accounting records and financial statements,
etc., and any response from the management, resolve disputes
and differences arising between the management or internal
audit department and the external auditor regarding relevant
statements and reports. The Audit Committee members are
required to convene meetings with the Company’s external
auditor at least twice a year. Members of the Audit Committee
must study significant or unusual matters that are reflected or
required to be reflected in the Company’s reports and accounts,
and should give due consideration to matters raised by the
Company’s accounting and finance departments, regulatory
authorities or auditors;

Discuss the issues raised by external auditor after reviewing the
Company’s semi-annual accounts and auditing annual accounts
of the Company;

Examine the Company’s financial policies, financial supervision
and control, internal audit system, risk management and internal
control systems, and provide opinions and suggestions for
improvement;
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(vii)

(viil)

(ix)

(xi)

Discuss risk management and internal supervision and control
systems with the management to ensure that the management
has fulfilled its responsibilities to establish effective systems. The
details of discussion should include the adequacy of the issuer’s
resources, staff qualifications and experience in its accounting
and financial reporting functions, as well as the adequacy of
training programs and related budgets for staff;

Conduct research on significant findings in matters related to
risk management and internal supervision and control and the
management’s response to such findings, either proactively on
its own initiative or in response to request by the Board;

The Audit Committee should establish relevant procedures
to ensure that the following matters may be investigated and
resolved in a fair and independent manner:

1. Receive and handle complaints raised about the Company’s
accounting, internal control or auditing matters, and ensure
their confidentiality;

2. Receive and handle complaints or anonymous reports
from employees about possible misconduct occurred
in accounting, auditing matters, internal control or other

aspects, and ensure their confidentiality;

Serve as the primary representative between the Company and
the external auditors to monitor their relationship;

Matters as required by applicable laws, regulations, Articles of
Association and the Hong Kong Listing Rules and other matters
authorized by the Board of the Company.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 8 November

2024, no Audit Committee meeting was held during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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The Remuneration and Assessment Committee consists of three

members, namely Mr. Ze Kuaiyue (executive Director), Ms. Meng

Rongfang (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Xu Jinke

(independent non-executive Director). Mr. Xu Jinke is the chairperson

of the Remuneration and Assessment Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration and Assessment

Committee are of no less exacting terms than those set out in the

Corporate Governance Code and the PRC laws. The main duties of

the Remuneration and Assessment Committee are:

(M)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

Formulate remuneration plans or proposals based on the main
duties, scope, importance, time commitment of the positions of
directors and senior management officers and other necessary
factors such as the remuneration level of relevant positions in
society;

Remuneration plans or proposals mainly include, but are not
limited to, performance evaluation standards, procedures and
primary evaluation systems, major plans and systems for rewards
and punishments, etc., and should include non-monetary
benefits, pension rights and compensation amounts (including
compensation for loss or termination of office or appointment);

Make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management officers;

Make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors;

Consider the remuneration paid by similar companies, the time
commitment and responsibilities as well as the employment
conditions of other positions within the Group;

Study the evaluation standards for directors and senior
management officers and make recommendations to the
Board, review the performance of duties by the Company's
directors (non-independent non-executive directors) and senior
management officers and conduct their annual performance
assessment;
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(ix)

(i)

(xii)

The

Review and approve compensation payable to the executive
directors and senior management officers for loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that such compensation is
consistent with the terms of the contract; if not consistent with
the terms of the contract, such compensation must be fair and

reasonable and not excessive;

Review and approve the compensation arrangements involved
in the dismissal or removal of directors due to misconduct to
ensure that such arrangements are consistent with the terms of
the contract; if not consistent with the terms of the contract, such
compensation must be reasonable and appropriate;

Ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is involved in
the determination of his/her own remuneration;

Responsible for supervising the implementation of the Company’s
remuneration rules and review the relevant remuneration policies

on a regular basis;

Review and/or approve matters related to share schemes as
described in Chapter 17 of the Hong Kong Listing Rules; and

Other matters authorized by the Board.

remuneration of the senior management (excluding executive

Directors), whose biographical details are included in section headed

“Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this annual report,

during the Reporting Period falls within the following bands:

AE
M (AR¥T) Remuneration (RMB) Number of Individuals
022,000,000 0 to 2,000,000 2
2,000,000% 5,000,000 2,000,000 to 5,000,000
5,000,000% 9,000,000 5,000,000 to 9,000,000 1
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The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration
offered to the Directors, Supervisors and senior management, is
based on skill, knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the
Company’s affairs. The remuneration and compensation packages
of the Directors, Supervisors and senior management are also
determined with reference to account salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
Supervisors and senior management and the performance of the
Group. The remuneration for the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management comprises fees, salaries, allowances, benefits in
kind, performance-related bonuses, equity-settled share-based
compensation expense and pension scheme contributions.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 8 November
2024, 1 Remuneration and Assessment Committee meeting was held
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and the attendance record
of each Director is set out in the table below:

HERE HEeE
EREEEERREY
Attendance/Number

of Remuneration and

EEHR

EEHEE
=EFTEL
moREL

Name of Director

Mr. Ze Kuaiyue
Ms. Meng Rongfang
Mr. Xu Jinke

Assessment Committee(s)

11
11
11
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The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Lu Haizhuan (executive Director), Mr. Xu Jinke (independent
non-executive Director) and Mr. Chen Xiaohuan (independent
non-executive Director). Mr. Xu Jinke is the chairperson of the
Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code
and the PRC laws. The main duties of the Nomination Committee are:

(i)  Evaluating and reviewing the size and composition of the Board
(including skills, knowledge and experience) at least once a year
based on the Company’'s operating activities, asset size and
equity structure, and making recommendations to the Board on
any proposed changes to the Board in line with the Company’s
strategies;
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii

(ix)

=

Formulating the Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, reviewing their implementation, and making

recommendations to the Board;

Studying the selection criteria and procedures for directors,
general managers and other senior management and making
recommendations, inspecting and supervising the training and
continuing professional development plans for directors and

senior management;

Selecting qualified candidates for directors, general manager

and other senior management;

Reviewing and making recommendations on director candidates
and candidates for general manager and other senior
management;

Reviewing the independence of independent non-executive
directors;

Making recommendations to the Board regarding the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession
planning for directors (in particular, the Chairman of the Board),

general managers and other senior management;

Formulating and maintaining a policy on board diversity, and
conducting regular reviews, and disclosing such policy or the
summary of such policy on board diversity in the annual report of
the Company;

When the Board needs to increase the number of directors or fill
a vacancy of director, the Nomination Committee is responsible
for identifying persons with suitable qualifications to act as
directors and providing advice to the Board on the selection
and nomination of such persons as directors. When identifying
suitable candidates, the committee should fully consider the
complementarity of Board members in respect of knowledge
structure and experience, the balance and independence of
Board composition. Based on objective conditions and taking
into account the benefits of diversity of Board members, as
well as the Group’s business needs, the committee should
select candidates on a broad basis, so as to ensure that the
Board members have appropriate talents, experience and
diversified viewpoints and perspectives to support the Company
in achieving strategic objectives, maintaining competitive
advantages and realizing sustainable development;
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(x) The committee shall be responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the re-appointment of non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) upon expiration
of their term of office, and making recommendations on the
election or re-election of directors by shareholders and on the
continuous appointment of any director during any period of
time. If the Board intends to propose a resolution at the general
meeting of shareholders to elect a person for appointment as
an independent non-executive director, the committee shall
procure that the following must be specified in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting: (1) the process
of identifying the individual, the reasons for selecting such
individual for appointment by the Board and the reasons for
considering such individual to be an independent party; (2) if
the proposed independent non-executive director is going to
act as director for the seventh (or above) listed company, the
reasons for the Board to believe that such individual is still able
to devote sufficient time to perform his/her duties as a director;
(3) the viewpoints, perspectives, skills and experience that may
be brought by such individual to the Board; and (4) how such
individual contributes to the diversity of the Board;

(xi) Formulating, reviewing and supervising the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) for employees and directors;

(xii) Examining the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the Hong Kong Listing
Rules and the disclosure of information in the Corporate
Governance Report; and

(xiii

=

Matters required by applicable laws and regulations, the Articles
of Association, the Hong Kong Listing Rules and other matters
authorized by the Board of the Company.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee would
take into account various aspects as well as factors concerning
Board diversity as set out in the Company’s Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and
recommend them to the Board for adoption.
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In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria
as set out as set out in the Board Diversity Policy that are necessary
to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 8 November
2024, no Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Strategy Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Lu
Haizhuan (executive Director), Mr. Ze Kuaiyue (executive Director)
and Ms. Zhuang Liyan (executive Director). Mr. Lu Haizhuan is the
chairperson of the Strategy Committee.

The terms of reference of the Strategy Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate Governance Code
and the PRC laws. The main duties of the Strategy Committee are:

(i) to consider the Company’s proposals for future vision, mission
and values;

(i) to consider the Company’s strategic planning and implementation
reports;

(iii) to consider the analysis reports on the Company’s market
positioning and industry attractiveness;

(iv) to consider the specific strategic analysis reports on the
Company’s marketing, development, financing and investment,

human resources, etc.;

(v) to consider the Company’s strategy implementation plan and
strategy adjustment plan;

(vi) to consider the feasibility analysis report on the Company’s

investment in major projects;

(vii) to consider the implementation plans of the Company’'s major
investment projects and the plans for fund raising and use of
funds;

(viii) to consider the report on the negotiation between the Company
and its partners in the major investment projects;



(ix) BHRERFARMDIAER:

el

(xi) BAERTFAREE  BE - &6
DI BE - EWEEKREER

(xi) BEFSRTHEMBE -

ARARFR2024F 11 A8 HEB T £
o M E2024F 12 A31 B I FEWEE

P
THREZEEEgE -

EESRANTANEETER  AEEEES
BHAKERGREBAL BILEE
B RIRR - ARREARREINA
i EEEMABRABMEKNEE
BERRARERNRERER - BEE
M=RESEK EP—RBREINRK &
ARABTIRTERESL -

EENERERNBERAFRFEISEI6A
[BEF EEREREBAB| -

RTRBEFENUERARBFLEERND
BE - KRAERMREZTESTLEE -

REEESLTLECHE - ARFEBEES
BRZ  BRETSRRER - Fik - XIER
HEER TR - BRIt - BXER
RiEe - MBERBER  USKERE=E
BETL - REREBRBERAEHES
BHOERBEREL -

(ix) to consider the articles of association of holding subsidiaries;

(x) to consider the strategic plans of holding subsidiaries;

(xi) to consider major matters such as capital increase, decrease,
merger, division, liquidation and listing of holding subsidiaries;
and

(xii) other duties as delegated by the Board.

As the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 8 November
2024, no Strategy Committee meeting was held during the year ended
31 December 2024.

The Supervisory Committee is a supervisory body of the Company
which is responsible for the supervision of the Board and its members
and senior management so as to prevent them from the misuse of
authority and infringement upon lawful rights of the Shareholders, the
Company and the Company’'s employees. The number of members
and the composition of the Supervisory Committee are in line with the
provisions and requirements of the laws, regulations and the Articles.
The Supervisory Committee is comprised of three Supervisors, of
whom one was an employee representative democratically elected by
the employees of the Company.

The biographical information of the Supervisors is set out in the
section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” on
pages 35 to 36 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain a high
standard of corporate governance.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to achieve
diversity of the Board through the consideration of a wide range
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical capabilities,
professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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The Board have a balanced mixed of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, finance, accounting
and risk management. The Directors obtained degrees in various
majors including business administration, finance, accounting and
economics. The Company have three Independent Non-executive
Directors with different industry background, representing more than
one-third of the members of the Board.

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
Board has set the following measurable objectives to implement the
Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time
to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives:

(A) at least one of the members of the Board shall be female;

(B) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(C) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications.

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
measurable objectives is set out below:

Gender
Male: 6 Directors
Female: 3 Directors

Position

Executive Directors: 3 Directors

Non-executive Directors: 3 Directors
Independent Non-executive Directors: 3 Directors

Business Experience

Accounting & Finance: 2 Director

Legal: 1 Director

Experience Related to the Company’s Business: 4 Directors

The Nomination Committee and the Board are of the view that the
current composition of the Board has achieved the objectives set in
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.
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Overall workforce

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company has taken, and will continue to take, steps to promote
gender diversity at all levels of the Company, including but not limited
to the Board and the senior management levels.

The following table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the
Group, including the senior management of the Company as at the
date of this annual report:

zH B

Female Male

54.41% (1110) 45.59% (930)

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report,
which is published simultaneously with this annual report.

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least 1 female
Director, 2 female senior management members of the Company and
no less than 50% of other female employees.

The Company will continue to work to enhance gender diversity of
the Board. The Board will use its best endeavors to appoint female
Directors to the Board and the Nomination Committee will use its best
endeavors to identify and recommend suitable female candidates
to the Board for its consideration of appointment of Directors. The
Company will also continue to ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff from mid to senior level, such that it will have a
pipeline of female management and potential successors to our Board
in due time to ensure gender diversity of the Board. The Group will
continue to emphasise training of female talents and provide long-term
development opportunities for the female staff.
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The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a Director Nomination Policy, as contained
in the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee, which sets
out the selection criteria and nomination process and the Board
succession planning considerations in relation to nomination and
appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level.

The nomination process of appointment of new Director set out in the
Director Nomination Policy is as follows:

(i)  the human resources department and the Nomination Committee
shall actively communicate with the relevant departments of the
Company to assess the Company’s demand for new directors
and senior management, and produce materials in writing;

(i) the Nomination Committee may extensively seek for candidates
for directors and senior management within the Company, its
holding (shareholding) enterprises as well as the job market;

(iii) the Nomination Committee shall collect and learn the information
of the occupation, education background, job title, detailed
working experience and all the part-time jobs of the initially
proposed candidates, and produce materials in writing;

(iv) to seek for the nominee’s written consent to the nomination,
otherwise, he/she shall not be considered as a candidate for
directors and senior management;

(v) to convene Nomination Committee meetings to review the
qualifications of the initially proposed candidates according to
the job requirements of directors and senior management;

(vi) to submit proposals and the relevant materials to the Board in
respect of candidates of directors and senior management within
a reasonable period of time prior to the election of new directors
and senior management; and

(vii) to carry out other follow-up work according to the decision and
feedback of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee and shall submit its decisions,
recommendations and/or proposals to the Board for consideration
and decision. Among which, the nomination of director candidates
must be submitted to the general meeting of shareholders for
review and approval after being reviewed by the Board and before
implementation.

The criteria for assessing the suitability and the potential contribution
to the Board of a proposed candidate as set out in the Board Diversity
Policy, including but not limited to the following, are gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
capabilities, professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and
length of service.

During the Reporting Period, there was no change in the composition
of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Director Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

In accordance with Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

o to review the Company’'s compliance with Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules (CG Code) and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

The Board has performed the above duties from the Listing Date up to
and including the date of this annual report.
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The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk management
procedures and guidelines with defined authority for implementation
by key business processes and office functions, including project
management, sales and leasing, financial reporting and human
resources.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems have
been developed with the following principles, features and processes:

All divisions/departments conducted internal control assessment
regularly to identify risks that potentially impact the business of
the Group and various aspects including key operational and
financial processes, regulatory compliance and information security.
Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to confirm that control
policies are properly complied with by each division/department.

The management, in coordination with division/department heads,
assessed the likelihood of risk occurrence, provide treatment plans,
and monitor the risk management progress, and reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board on all findings and the effectiveness of the
systems.
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The Board and the Audit Committee will review annually the
effectiveness of the system. The management has confirmed to
the Board and the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2024.

The internal audit department is responsible for providing the
internal audit function and performing independent review of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The internal audit department examined key issues
in relation to the accounting practices and all material controls and
provided its findings and recommendations for improvement to the
Audit Committee.

The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as well as the
management report and the internal audit findings, conducted review
of the risk management and internal control systems, including the
financial, operational and compliance controls, for the year ended
31 December 2024, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial reporting
and internal audit function and staff qualifications, experiences and
relevant resources.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees of
the Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns,
in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matters related to the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to
safeguard against corruption and bribery within the Company. The
Company has an internal reporting channel that is open and available
for employees of the Company to report any suspected corruption and
bribery. Employees can also make anonymous reports according to
the procedures as set out in the Whistleblowing Policy.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized
access and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements with the support of the accounting and finance
team.

The Directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. Appropriate accounting
policies have also been used and applied consistently except
the adoption of revised standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation.

During the Reporting Period, the Directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern/The financial statements of the Company are prepared on a
going concern basis, the Directors are of the view that they give a true
and fair view of the financial position, performance and cash flow of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024, and the disclosure
of other financial information and report therein complies with relevant
legal requirements.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

The remuneration paid and payable to the external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

e EREA

Service Category Fees Paid/Payable
(AR¥BFIT)

(RMB’000)

Audit Services 3,100
Non-audit Services (Note) 8,833
Total 11,933

Note:  The non-audit fees are the fees related to the listing paid by the
Company to its auditors in 2024, including reporting accountants,
internal controls, information technology and tax advisory services
related to the listing.
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The Company has appointed Ms. Zhuang Liyan, an executive Director
of the Company, and Mr. Li Kin Wai, a senior manager of corporate
services of Tricor Services Limited, a global professional services
provider specializing in integrated business, corporate and investor
services, as the Company’s joint company secretaries.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the joint
company secretaries on corporate governance and board practices
and matters. Ms. Zhuang, who is also the secretary to the Board, has
been designated as the primary contact person at the Company which
would work and communicate with Mr. Li on the Company’s corporate
governance and secretarial and administrative matters.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Zhuang and Mr. Li have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The
biographies of Ms. Zhuang and Mr. Li are set out in the “Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Article 49 of the Articles of Association, shareholders
who individually or together hold 10% or more of the shares of the
Company shall have the right to request the Board of Directors to
convene an extraordinary general meeting and such request shall
be made to the Board of Directors in writing. The Board of Directors
shall give a written reply as to whether it agrees or disagrees to hold
an extraordinary general meeting within ten days upon receipt of the
request in accordance with laws, administrative regulations, the Hong
Kong Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.
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Where the Board of Directors agrees to hold an extraordinary general
meeting, it shall issue a notice of the General Meeting within five days
after the resolution was made. Any change to the original request
in the notice shall be subject to the approval from the relevant
shareholders.

Where the Board of Directors does not agree to hold an extraordinary
general meeting or fails to give a reply within ten days upon receipt of
the request, it shall be deemed that shareholders who individually or
together hold 10% or more of the shares of the Company shall have
the right to submit a proposal to the Board of Supervisors on holding
an extraordinary general meeting and such request shall be made to
the Board of Supervisors in writing.

Where the Board of Supervisors agrees to hold an extraordinary
general meeting, it shall issue a notice of General Meeting within five
days after receiving the request. Any changes to the original proposal
in the notice shall be approved by the relevant shareholders.

Where the Board of Supervisors fails to give the notice of the General
Meeting within the specified time limit, it shall be deemed that the
Board of Supervisors does not convene or preside over the meeting,
in which case, shareholders who individually or together hold 10% or
more of the shares of the Company for 90 or more consecutive days
may convene and preside over the meeting on their own.

Pursuant to the Article 34 of the Articles of Association, shareholders
separately or aggregately holding more than 1% of the shares of
the Company, may propose extraordinary proposals to the Board of
Directors in writing ten days before the convening of such General
Meeting.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally
deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Ak REARRAMBERE R MEEEREEE EFEAHETERNECHREFEEAKNEI06E (BEFE 2
AwE)
Address: Room 106, Kangli Information Valley Building, No. 66 Pingji Avenue, Shanglilang Community, Nanwan

Street, Longgang District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, The People’s Republic of China (For the

attention of the Board of Directors/Company Secretary)

T 0755-33622851
Telephone:

EEH goldenkey@aukeys.com
Email:
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
The Company is endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet Shareholders
and answer their enquiries.

To safeguard Shareholder interests and rights, separate resolution
should be proposed for each substantially separate issue at general
meetings, including the election of individual Director. All resolutions
put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange after each general meeting.
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The Company has in place a Shareholders Communication Policy. The
policy aims at promoting effective communication with Shareholders
and other stakeholders, encouraging Shareholders to engage actively
with the Company and enabling Shareholders to exercise their rights
as Shareholders effectively.

Since the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on 8
November 2024, the Board will review conduct the annual review
on the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders
Communication Policy in 2025.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with its Shareholders as follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules
refers to any document issued or to be issued by the Company
for the information or action of holders of any of its securities,
including but not limited to the following documents of the
Company: (a) the Directors’ report, annual accounts together with
a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable, its summary
financial report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable,
its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing
document; (e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form. The Corporate
Communication of the Company will be published on the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkex.com.hk) in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules. Corporate Communication will
be provided to Shareholders and non-registered holders of the
Company’s securities in both English and Chinese versions or
where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules. Shareholders and non-registered
holders of the Company’s securities shall have the right to
choose the language (either English or Chinese) or means of
receipt of the Corporate Communication (in printed form or
through electronic means).
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(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the Listing

(c)

(d)

Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on inside
information, corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other
documents (e.g. Articles of Association) on the Stock Exchange'’s
website in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on
the Stock Exchange’'s website will also be published on the
Company’'s website (www.augroup.com). Other corporate
information about the Company’s corporate governance will also
be available on the Company’s website.

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the
Company are primary forum for communication between the
Company and its Shareholders. The Company shall provide
Shareholders with relevant information on the resolutions(s)
proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable Shareholders to make an
informed decision on the proposed resolution(s). Shareholders
are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to appoint
proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf
if they are unable to attend the meetings. Where appropriate or
required, the Chairman of the Board and other Board members,
the chairmen and deputy chairman of board committees or
their delegates, and the external auditors should attend general
meetings of the Company to answer Shareholders’ questions
(if any). The chairman of the independent board committee
(if any) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.
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Shareholders’ Enquiries
Enquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s H share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, via its online holding enquiry service at
www.tricoris.com, or send email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.
com or call its hotline at (852) 2980 1333, or go in person to its
public counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put to
the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send any enquiries to the Board by
email: goldenkey@aukeys.com or by post to Room 106, Kangli
Information Valley Building, No. 66 Pingji Avenue, Shanglilang
Community, Nanwan Street, Longgang District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, The People’s Republic of China.

Webcast

Webcasts of the Company’s annual results are available.

Other Investor Relations Communication Platforms

Investor/analysts briefings, roadshows (both domestic and
international), media interviews, marketing activities for investors
and specialist industry forums etc. will be launched on a regular
basis.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company has not made any changes
to its Articles of Association. After the Reporting Period, the Company
has made changes to its Articles of Association and an up-to-date
version of the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company do not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company
and the Group and the conditions and factors as set out in the
Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the
Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial
year will be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AUGROUP (SHENZHEN)
CROSS-BORDER BUSINESS CO., LTD.

(A joint stock company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AuGroup
(SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 100 to 231, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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Recognition of revenue from sales of goods
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We identified the recognition of revenue from sales of
goods as a key audit matter due to its large volume of
transactions and financial significance of revenue to the
consolidated financial statements.

BE2024F 12 A AL FERAHEBRNBANRBAR
#8,268,192,0007T * YN mIzGIEER =R PRHER -
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Revenue from the sale of goods of approximately
RMB8,268,192,000 for the year ended 31 December
2024 is recognised at the point in time when control of
the goods is transferred to the customer, generally on
the receipt of products by customers.

TENERNNEEREEREE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EZHNHEERRMRANERREFBHE
Our procedures in relation to the recognition of revenue
from sales of goods included:
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o evaluating and testing the design, implementation
and operating effectiveness of the management’s
key internal controls over the revenue recognition

process in respect of sales of goods revenue;
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o evaluating and testing the general information
technology controls of the operational system
related to financial reporting in relation to the
sales of goods and the financial system of the
Group by internal specialists;

s ZFRUHHEKRBEE=FTANHEERSEIEMERNE
ARASHERBEBERETE=TEFHABTAHE
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. examining the revenue from sales of goods
through certain third-party e-commerce platform
by reconciling the sales transaction data from
the third-party platform and the relevant revenue
amount recognised;

e BRETE=Z7ERTALEMEBHERRHIK
AN AEZFZBXHEERER - ETEEMEA

o performing substantive test of details with
reference to the third party supporting documents,
on a sample basis, in respect of revenue from
sales of goods through certain third-party
e-commerce platforms and other channels.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wong Kit Sum.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model (“ECL”), net of reversal

Other gains and losses

Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Research and development expenses

Other expenses

Listing expenses

Share of results of investments
accounted for using the equity method

Finance costs

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expense) income
for the year

Items that will not be reclassified

subsequently to profit or loss:

Fair value changes on investments in
equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI")

P 5E
NOTES

11

20245
2024
AR®TR
RMB’ 000

10,709,648
(7,412,518)

3,297,130
50,567

(8,308)
67,662
(2,071,846)
(390,297)
(130,016)
(15,933)
(42,354)

(3,507)
(122,455)

630,643
(109,447)

521,196

(95,104)

20234
2023
ARETT
RMB'000

8,682,977
(5,689,287)

2,993,690
42,320

(48,854)
12,432
(1,830,619)
(287,645)
(119,153)
(26,004)
(10,412)

4,875
(90,722)

639,908
(119,807)

520,101

8,037



RG] e EN P E2 B Items that may be reclassified
HIEA - subsequently to profit or loss:
BEBINEBELNENZHE Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations

DMbREREANERD Share of other comprehensive income of
BAZZENEM2ERA investments accounted for using the
MBS equity method, net of related income tax

FREME2E (LX) KA Other comprehensive (expense) income
for the year
FRZEBALE Total comprehensive income for the year
AT ATELENFIE (BE) © Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
NSEZZ=DN Owners of the Company
RS Non-controlling interests

IUTALEEFEFRZERA (F) Total comprehensive income (expense) for

1 the year attributable to:

RREERA Owners of the Company

IR RS Non-controlling interests
BRREF Earnings per share

— EAXREE - Basic and diluted

st
NOTES

20245
2024
AR®TR
RMB’ 000

(2,211)

899

(1,312)

(96,416)

424,780

504,299
16,897

521,196

409,340
15,440

424,780

RMB
AR®R
1.29

20234
2023
ARBTT
RMB'000

620

380

1,000

9,037

529,138

532,010
(11,909)

520,101

540,561
(11,423)

529,138

RMVB
AR
1.37
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Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Investments accounted for using
the equity method
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")

Equity instruments at FVTOCI

Deferred tax assets

Deposit for acquisition of assets
through acquisition of a subsidiary

Finance lease receivables

Pledged bank deposits

Deposit for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Bank deposit with original maturity
over three months

Total Non-current Assets

Current Assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Contract assets

Prepayments and other receivables
Financial assets at FVTPL

Finance lease receivables
Pledged bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder

Tax payable

Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

BaE
NOTES

16
17
18

20

21
22

36

23
24

24

25
26

27
20
23

24
24

28

29

30
31

2024
2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

728,140
2,769,803
26,034

72,257

9,075

101,825
209,986

61,421
20,200

2,289

10,000

4,011,030

1,445,386
1,269,396
22,290
399,761

23,263
14,007
230,665
1,363,752

4,768,520

1,523,741

24,781
716,626
231,345

20234
2023
ARETT
RMB'000

626,752
717,699
778

74,950

9,075

198,207
296,881

3,541
74,319

19,629

10,000

2,031,731

1,045,848
807,469
7,322
287,676

10,000
12,752
164,891
809,838

3,145,796

1,159,004

1,123
32,791
386,595
155,363



M 20245 20234

NOTES 2024 2023
ARETR AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
EHEE Contract liabilities 32 155,003 48,199
BRABEE Refund liabilities 33 24,283 20,797
FREBEEAE Total Current Liabilities 2,675,779 1,803,872
REBEEFE Net Current Assets 2,092,741 1,341,924
HEERRBAER Total Assets less Current Liabilities 6,103,771 3,373,655
FRBEE Non-current Liabilities
RITIEN Bank borrowings 30 257,174 276,598
HEBE Lease liabilities 31 2,737,284 677,890
BETh AT Contractual liabilities under issued
MERaE written put option - 46,400
H At JE - RIE Other payables 28 - 100,000
FRBEEREE Total Non-current Liabilities 2,994,458 1,100,888
EEFHE Net Assets 3,109,313 2,272,767
EARRHE Capital and Reserves
f& 7 Share capital 35 415,206 386,865
] Reserves 2,664,315 1,875,329
RREER AR Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 3,079,521 2,262,194
FEIERE = Non-controlling interests 29,792 10,573
e Total Equity 3,109,313 2,072,767
1002231 MR E B MER E R 20254F The consolidated financial statements on pages 100 to 231 were
3ACBHEERNREF A RIRET approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
WHATEERAZEE Company on 28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

BEEE EgH
k4 EF
LU HAI ZHUAN ZE KUAI YUE

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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ERHE(BR)
BRARETALLEERAS
BETARENAABERY
PERERENRNREREN
Ef2md - M55E

REENRBELNEL 2R
ER2ENA () 4%

Ell
FEREROHE

BRI RHERD (Hi3s)

R2023E12A31H

ERHE
BAARETALLZERAS
BETARENDABERY
AERERENENRELED
Ef 2R N5HE

AEENERELNELER

ER2E () fAEE

Bk
Ell
FERERNHA

At 1 January 2023

Profit (loss) for the year

Fair value change on investments
in equity instruments at FVTOCI

Share of other comprehensive
income of investments
accounted for using the
equity method, net of tax

Exchange differences arising on
franslation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

Appropriation

Contribution from non-controlling
interests

Repurchase and cancellation
of share (Note 35)

As at 31 December 2023

Profit for the year
Fair value change on investments
in equity instruments at FVTOCI
Share of other comprehensive
income of investments
accounted for using the
equity method, net of tax
Exchange differences arising on
franslation of foreign operations

Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year

Issue of H shares

Appropriation

Contribution from non-controlling
inferests

Ra

Share
capital
ARETT
RMB'000

390,054

(3,189)
386,865

29,895

Rita®

Share
premium
ARETT
RMB'000

693,602

(37,690)

665,912

378,002

BRR
A
Hfb2E
WARS

FvTOCI
reserve

Rt BERE iRRE
Other Translation Statutory
reserve  reserve - reserve

ARBTT ARETR ARBTL ARETR

RMB'000

(44,361)

8,037

8,037

(36,324)

(95,104)

(95,104)

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Hf3tb) GED)

(Note b) (Note a)
34,344 2493 177,119
- 380 -

- 134 -

- 514 -

- - 452
34,344 3007 177,571
- 899 -

- (754) -

- 145 -

- - 30,073

REHE

Retained
profits

NGt

Subtotal

FiERES
Non-
controlling
interests

ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

RMB'000

509,261
532,010

532,010
(52)

1,040,819

504,209

504,299

(30,073)

RMB000

1,762,512
532,010

8,037

380

540,561

(40879)
2,262,194

504,209

(95,104)

899

(754)

409,340
407,987

RMB'000

19,006
(11,909)

486

(11,423)

2,990

10,573

16,807

(4,457)

15,440

3,119

Total
ARETT
RMB'000

1,781,518
520,101

8,037

380

620

529,138

2,990

(40,879)
2072767

521,196

(95,104)

899

[2.211)

424,780
407,987

3,719



HERDREEALL Release upon disposal of equity
FENARERTAER instruments at FVTOCI
B REERSD (M) Repurchase and cancellation
of shares (Note b)
20245127318 As at 31 December 2024
Mi3E

a. ERFEARKNE ([HE])EXFTE
EHETERNEZERE - BREERNT
BUEMR - ERAEE P EEREA/RE
BAE (G BEA — FEIREK) M10% B
NEERE BEEuRHBELTIMELRD
50% ° ERKRR DK SR HBEKEDHE
Azl o CAERBBILER  AERE
AT RAT B RS E AR A R E
BEOEHER -

b. REZ2021F12A31HILLFE » KA
M — BB E = FE171,5654,000 % &%
EEAREITHORER REAARE
40,000,0007C ° IRIEREHEE « WANAF]

27 2025 4 AiT 173 7 #9 B ) R 2 5K FT 15 BR
B - BREA AL RL AR - AT ESk
ARRERHEEEZERD  REAAR
#40,000,0007C S MN8% MW ZEFFIEK © B

HREBENNENEYR  BheBAER
G TE R IZE I S AR EMWER - HE
SROFTARMER

REZE2024F12A31HILEFE » BL
FE=FIERAEREHERAARED
+ilt1,554,000 R REMK - REAARE
47,136,0007T ° AL - BEITHE R
HEBETHENEBEEELE - HiE - &
ARIN2024F5 AF A SR ©

B BT E SN - BT AR IR RS
AR EFEEETREZGENBERTH
EME AT BIENREZRFNZE -

Ra

Share
capital
ARETT
RMB'000

(1,554)

BRR

BEFA
Hft2E
ROEE WARE HtRE RERE AERE RENE Nt FERES Eh
Non-
Share  FVTOCI ~ Other Translation Statutory Retained controlling
premium  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve  profits Subtotal interests Total
ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARBTR ARMTR AREFT ARETT ARETT

RMB'000 RMB0O0 RMB0OO ~ RMBOOO RMBOOO RMB'OOO RMBOOO ~ RMB000  RMB'000

(D) GED)
(Note b) (Note a)

- M0 - - - () - - -

1,554 - - - - - - - -

415206 1,035,558 (131,018 34,344 3,152 207,644 1,514,635 3,079,521 20,792 3,109,313

Notes:

a.

It represents the statutory reserve of certain entities comprising the Group
in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC”). Pursuant to applicable
PRC regulations, the PRC entities comprising the Group is required to
appropriate 10% of its profit after tax (after offsetting prior year losses)
to the statutory reserve until such reserve reaches 50% of its registered
capital. Transfers to this reserve must be made before distribution of
dividends to shareholders. Upon approval by relevant authorities, the
statutory reserve can be utilised to offset the accumulated losses or to
increase the paid-up capital of the entities comprising the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company issued 1,554,000
domestic shares with par value of RMB1 each to an independent third
party at a consideration of RMB40,000,000. Pursuant to the shareholders’
agreement, the shareholder has a written put option to require the
Company to repurchase these shares unconditionally at a consideration
of RMB40,000,000 plus 8% coupon rate per annum if the Company is
unable to meet certain specified conditions under the agreed timeframe
by 2025. Since such written put option creates contractual obligation that
the Company does not have unconditional ability to avoid, a financial
liability has been recognised at initial recognition at present value of the
redemption amount and the corresponding amount has been debited to
other reserve.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the independent third party
exercised the written put option and the Company repurchased the
above mentioned 1,554,000 domestic shares at a consideration of
RMB47,136,000. Accordingly, the contractual liabilities under issued
written put option has been settled. Subsequently, the Company cancelled
these shares in May 2024.

Save as above, the remaining balance represents the difference between
the decrease in non-controlling interests and the consideration in respect
of disposal of partial equity interest in a subsidiary without losing control
in prior year.
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BHE ELN (4)

BEAERE

BAFTEH

REZHRERLFR

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Bank interest income
Interest income on finance lease receivables
Share of results of investments accounted
for using the equity method
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Impairment losses recognised under ECL,
net of reversal
Impairment loss on investment accounted
for using the equity method
Write-down of inventories
(Gain) loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on changes in fair value of
convertible loan notes
Gain on changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL
Loss on partial disposal of an investments
accounted for using the equity method

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in contract assets

Increase in prepayments and other receivables

Decrease in finance lease receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities
Increase (decrease) in refund liabilities

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash from operating activities

20245
2024
AR®TR
RMB’ 000

630,643

122,455
(26,023)
(3,475)

3,507
70,249
229,596
10,560

8,308

25,321

(5,588)

(1,915)

1,063,638

(424,859)
(465,812)
(14,968)
(115,117)
16,386
394,514
106,804
3,486

564,072
(28,600)

535,472

20234
2023
ARBETT
RMB'000

639,908

90,722
(22,096)
(4,222)

(4,875)
58,200
146,160
496

48,854

5,157
17,855

431

(7,239)

(2,684)

6,191

972,858

(37,101
(377,080
(3,099
(69,693
25,713
104,966
(13,746)
(1,153)

)
)
)
)

601,665
(15,305)

586,360



REEH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
RGN Interest received
RG] Dividend received

HERERDENENREMEFHE  Proceeds on disposal of investments
accounted for using the equity method

HENTEEMETIE Proceeds from disposal of
- RAREE ﬁ)\?ﬁ@ﬁ’]irﬂﬁ}x - financial assets at FVTPL
- BARBEFAEMZERA ~ equity instruments at FVTOCI
MEEIA
HEWE - BEREEMETE Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Uik iR R BRI A Acquisition of investment
accounted for using the equity method
wE: Purchases of
~BAREBEFANEGZNEBEE - financial assets at FVTPL
- RAAEEHAEB2ERA — equity instruments at FVTOCI
HERIA
BEWE  BFERRE Purchases of property, plant and equipment
BRKE-ERBARKE Deposit for acquisition of assets through
BEMZSE acquisition of a subsidiary
MERVEE Purchases of intangible assets
WERBARRS R FE Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries

HFHREREISAEA=EAMBTER  Placement of bank deposit with original
maturity over three months

FRERRITEX Placement of pledged bank deposits

ROERFITEN Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits

RETE (FA) EREFE Net cash (used in) from investing activities

MEEE FINANCING ACTIVITIES

FERITER New bank borrowings raised
BE—-ZEERRERFIE Repayment to a non-controlling shareholder
BRI FGTIE Proceeds from issue of shares

A BEITRAR Payment of issue costs

EERER TR Contribution from non-controlling interests
BRBITER Repayments of bank borrowings
EEHERR Repayments of lease liabilities

BEVERENZEERER Repayments of convertible loan notes
and related interests

ERFIE Interest paid

Bl ) Repurchase of shares

METHRE (R BEFE Net cash from (used in) financing activities

ik
NOTES

19

36

28, 36

35 (i), (i)

20245
2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

27,938
294

321,151

631

8,739

(334,414)

(157,783)

(8,500)
(153,775)

(175,360)
89,386

(381,693)

1,336,454
(1,123)
428,629
(19,792)
3,779
(1,025,847)

(156,102)

(121,719)
(47,136)

397,143

20235
2023
ARETE
RMB'000

24,711
1,680

21,191

1,627,490

1,890

(6,109)

(1,567,490)

(2,650)
(32,324)

(3,541)

(10,000)
(520,519)
676,252

210,641

936,973

2,990
(891,170)

(143,093)

(430,536)
(66,728)
(40,879)

(632,443)



RERREEENEMFE

FNRERREEEN

Ezg2HyE

FERRERREEEN

NET INCREASE IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECTS OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE YEAR

st
NOTES

20245
2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

550,922

809,838

2,992

1,363,752

20235
2023
ARBTT
RMB'000

164,558

642,864

2,416

809,838
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AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.
(previously known as Shenzhen Aukey E-Business Co., Ltd.
and AuGroup Technology Co., Ltd.) (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the PRC as a joint stock company with limited
liability. Its ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Lu Haizhuan (“Mr.
Lu”), who is also the co-founder, Chairman, Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mr. Ze Kuaiyue
(“Mr. Ze”), who is also the co-founder, Vice-Chairman, Executive
Director and Chief financial Officer of the Company. The
respective addresses of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are (i) sales of goods and (ii) provision of logistic
solutions, including warehousing services, express and freight
delivery services and related value-added services.

The consolidated financial statements is presented in RMB,
which is also the functional currency of the Company.

The Group has consistently applied IFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board,
including those that are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024, for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements.
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The Group has not early applied the following new and

amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to |
FRS 9 and IFRS 7

Amendments to
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7

Amendments to
IFRS 10 and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS

Accounting Standards

Amendments to IAS 21

IFRS 18

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?®

Contracts Referencing Nature —

Dependent Electricity?®

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture'’

Annual Improvement to IFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume 11°

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements*

! Effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after a date

to be determined

BRI i mEER] 2@ TASH
F 9558 MBI AT ERIEET?
B 75 R 5 2 B
BTRIBETAR
BIFR S s AER 1 HE 5 A &8
957 K BIR EHEH®
WS R 2R
ETRIBETAR
BIFR I 5 S R REZHAHE
FBIOHAER  AAjs ErFE
=R Z B & Bk
EOBWRIEEIAR FAELET
BIPR O S s R B iR 2
GRIEAERI AR AIBFHERIF/E
K — FE115°
Bl i 2| BhZ B3
E21IEETA
BIFREg s R B HEERZS)
F185 RIFE
! RNEBPERETE BB BRANE
EHIRI AR
2 RNEBM2025F1 1B 2B R
4 E HAR AR R
8 RNEBMN2026F1 1B BFHEA
B 2 HARE AR R
¢ AEBMP2027F1 A1 AR 2 %R
B [ HARET AE 3

2 Effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025

3 Effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

4 Effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2027
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Except for new IFRS Accounting Standard mentioned below,
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate that
the application of all other amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in the foreseeable future.

IFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements and it will replace IAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements. The new standard introduces new
requirements to present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. Minor amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
and IAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made. IFRS 18 will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of the
new standard will not have material impact on the financial
position of the Group but is expected to affect the presentation
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and consolidated statement of cash flows
and disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
will continue to assess the impact of IFRS 18 on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

fRA MBS WA TIIRIE BRI B 15 5
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1

Basis of preparation of Consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements includes applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements has been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
the reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Annual Report 2024
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in the consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
(“IFRS 27"), leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 /mpairment of Assets
(“IAS 367).
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the
financial statements of the Company, entities held on trust
by employees and held on behalf of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting
rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when
the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it the power, including rights
arising from other contractual arrangements.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date the Group gains control until the
date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional concentration
test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The concentration
test is met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross
assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross
assets under assessment exclude cash and cash
equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill resulting from
the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the concentration test
is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to
be a business and no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first
and financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on
the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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Investments accounted for using the equity method

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements
of associates used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group’s share of
losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Investments accounted for using the equity method
(Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service that
is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
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Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis of
direct measurements of the value of the services transferred
to the customer to date relative to the remaining services
promised under the contract, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of services.

Sale with a right of return/exchange

For a sale of products with a right of return, the Group
recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled (therefore, revenue would not be recognised
for the products expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b) arefund liability; and

(c) an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of
sales) for its right to recover products from customers
and are presented as right to returned goods asset.

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under IFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of the
initial measurement of the lease liability and any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term is depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of their estimated useful lives and the lease terms.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date as the interest rate implicit in the lease

is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.
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The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use assets.
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Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time
of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

The Group applies IAS 12 /ncome Tax requirements to
the lease liabilities and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability for all
taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and

development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with IFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are

subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair

value.

()

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired.

Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZ2024F12A31HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOC/

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right
to receive the dividends is established, unless the
dividends clearly represent a recovery of part of the
cost of the investment. Dividends are included in the
other income line item in profit or loss.

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ifi) ~ Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend earned or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at the reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant increase in credit
risk or credit-impaired, and collectively for the remaining
balances of debtors using internal credit rating with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap
prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data such as: significant financial
difficulty of the issuer or the borrower and a breach of
contract, such as a default or past due event.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability
of default and loss given default is based on historical
data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted
amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using internal credit rating taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience and
forward looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables and other
receivables are considered on a collective basis
taking into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward looking

macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under IFRS 9 (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
and other receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue
or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024
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Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Convertible loan notes

A conversion option that will be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity

instruments is a conversion option derivative.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and
derivative components are recognised at fair value and
the convertible loan notes are designated as at FVTPL. In
subsequent period, changes in fair value are recognised in
profit or loss as fair value gain or loss except for changes
in the fair value that is attributable to changes in the credit
risk (excluding changes in fair value of the derivatives
component) is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to the credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss, they are transferred to retained
profits upon derecognition.

Transaction costs relating to the issue of the convertible
loan notes are charged to profit or loss immediately.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

As at 31 December 2024, the tax losses of RMB875,450,000
(2023: RMB1,448,744,000), has been recognised as deferral
tax assets in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial
position. No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses of RMB103,738,000 (2023: RMB107,685,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits will be available in the future, which is a key source of
estimation uncertainty. In cases where the actual future taxable
profits generated are less or more than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which result in revision of future taxable
profits estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in
profit or loss for the year in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group'’s unlisted equity investments
of RMB86,190,000 (2023: RMB177,229,000) are measured at
fair value with fair value being determined based on significant
unobservable inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement
and estimation are required in establishing the relevant
valuation techniques and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes
in assumptions relating to these factors could result in material
adjustments to the fair value of these instruments. See Note 38
for further disclosures.

Trade receivables with significant increase in credit risk and
credit-impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, for trade receivables which are individually
insignificant or when the Group does not have reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or
effort to measure ECL on individual basis, collective assessment
is performed by grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal
credit ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 38.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's
inventories is RMB1,445,386,000 (2023: RMB1,045,848,000).
During the year ended 31 December 2024, a write-down of
inventories of RMB25,321,000 (2023: RMB17,855,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Net realisable value of inventories (Continued)

The Group assesses the net realisable value of inventories as
well as the required amount of write-down of inventory provision
at the end of the reporting period, which involves significant

I ARIELHEMBEX AT EAH judgment on determination of the estimated selling prices, costs

i o to completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

5. WARKZDE 5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS
(i) DHEFEHWA (i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers
BY G REEE Types of goods or service
2024 2023
ARBTR AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RERERFKASHEMEEM  Furniture, home furnishings and home

appliances 6,740,016 5,880,443
EHTAEER Electric tools 741,733 347,182
EfEm (M) Other products (Note) 786,443 802,750
NN TS Logistics solutions 2,441,456 1,652,602
10,709,648 8,682,977

M HMEReEEEESFHED

o

d ot

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

Note: Other products include consumer electronics and others.

Annual Report 2024



HEEE Sales channels

2024 2023
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

HEEDHUA Revenue from sales of goods

-~ BRE=FEFHFA — Through third party e-commerce
platforms 7,410,840 6,656,918
— BREARE () — Through other channels (Note) 857,352 373,457
8,268,192 7,030,375
Y R R T ER IR A Logistics solutions income 2,441,456 1,652,602
st Total 10,709,648 8,682,977
M EmtREXEHEEEMIERG Note: Other channels mainly represent self-operated online stores
TRE - and offline channels.
15 45 Geographical markets

2024 2023
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
R PRC 2,111,811 1,630,219
EJE United States 7,553,668 6,112,960
HEdb XK Other North American countries 94,460 88,399
= Germany 325,038 293,125
E b BUMBIZR Other European countries 459,468 480,719
HAh Others 165,203 177,555

st Total 10,709,648 8,682,977
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Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of
IFRS 15 recognised over time and recognised at a point in
time is analysed as follows:

Timing of revenue recognition

2024 2023

ARBTT ARETT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

— A point in time 8,268,192 7,030,375
2,441,456 1,652,602

10,709,648 8,682,977

Sales of goods

The Group mainly sells its products to customers over
third-party e-commerce platforms and other channels.

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the
point in time when control of the goods is transferred to
the customer, generally on the receipt of products by
customers.

If the contract for the sale of products provides customers
with rights of return, it gives rise to variable consideration.
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Sales of goods (Continued)

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of
variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration from the customer.

Logistics solutions income

The Group derives revenue from provision of logistics
solutions, including warehousing services, express and
freight delivery services and related value-added services.

The Group recognises revenue based on the progress of
the service performed within period, which is determined
based on days spent to the estimated total days. As at
the date of the end of the reporting period, the Group
re-estimates the progress of the service performed to reflect
the actual status of contract performance.
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Within one year

Logistics solutions income (Continued)

When the Group recognises revenue based on the progress
of the service performed, the amount with unconditional
right to consideration obtained by the Group is recognised
as trade receivables, and the rest is recognised as contract
assets. Meanwhile, provision for trade receivables and
contract assets is recognised on the basis of expected
credit losses. If the contract consideration received or
receivable exceeds the progress of the service performed,
the excess portion will be recognised as contract liabilities.
Contract assets and contract liabilities under the same
contract are presented on a net basis.

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023, and the expected timing
of recognising revenue are as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTT ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
155,003 48,199
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Information reported to the Mr. Lu and Mr. Ze, executive
directors and beneficial shareholders of the Company,
being the chief operating decision makers (“CODM"),
for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or
services delivered or provided.
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1.

2.

Specifically, the Group's operating and reportable segments
under IFRS 8 are as follows:

Sales of goods

Logistics solutions

SHY The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

results by reportable segments:

BFE2024%F 12531 HIFEE For the year ended 31 December 2024
HEEYW YMRBRAFR HeH =a
Sales of Logistics
Goods Solutions  Eliminations Consolidated
ARETR ARET T ARETR ARET T
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AEBA Segment revenue 8,268,192 2,441,456 - 10,709,648
HEBREEE Inter-segment sales - 599,063 (599,063) -
8,268,192 3,040,519 (599,063) 10,709,648
S E I Segment profit 931,969 297,468 (4,153) 1,225,284
BIEFREZZARREEE  Share of results of investments
accounted for using
the equity method (3,507)
HipA Other income 50,567
Hihs R EE Other gains and losses 67,662
AR Finance costs (122,455)
APEREERT Unallocated corporate expenses (586,908)
AEEB A Group'’s profit before tax 630,643



=
)

HZE2024F12A31BLFE

B FS R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

146

5.

WAREE7ER (&)

(iv)

ReESE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2024

5. REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(iv) Operating Segments (Continued)

B ZE2023F 12831 AIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEEM MRBAFER i Za
Sales of Logistics

Goods Solutions Eliminations  Consolidated
AREFL ARBFT AREFT AREFTL
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
SEBA Segment revenue 7,030,375 1,652,602 - 8,682,977
HEEEE Inter-segment sales - 764,348 (764,348) -
7,030,375 2,416,950 (764,348) 8,682,977
2 EHE Segment profit 970,841 195,714 (3,484) 1,163,071

EiEEREDEAREARE

Share of results of investments
accounted for using

the equity method 4,875
Heple A Other income 42,320
HEihs R EE Other gains and losses 12,432
BEKAK Finance costs (90,722)
AABEERZ Unallocated corporate expenses (492,068)
AEEFAFE Group's profit before tax 639,908

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024
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PRC

United States
Germany
Vietnam

Geographical information

The details of the Group’s revenue from external customers
by geographical location of the operations are set out in
Note 5(i).

The Group's non-current assets, excluding financial
instruments and deferred tax assets by geographical
location of assets and details are below:

2024 2023
ARBTR ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
798,327 764,002
2,749,331 604,017
50,850 75,230

15 -
3,598,523 1,443,249

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, listing expense,
finance costs, directors’ emoluments, share of results of
investments accounted for using the equity method, other
gains and losses, other income and finance costs. This
is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of

resource allocation and performance assessment.

The CODM makes decisions according to operating results
of each segment. No analysis of segment asset, segment
liability and other segment information is presented as
the CODM does not regularly review such information for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment.
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REVENUE AND OPERATING SEGMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(iv) Operating Segments (Continued)
Information of major customers

There is no individual customer whose revenue has
exceeded 10% of the Group’s total revenue in both years.

10% °
6. Hftlg A 6. OTHER INCOME

2024 2023
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RITHEMA Bank interest income 26,023 22,096
BT B Government grants 20,775 16,002

A TR & AR IE R B A Interest income on finance lease
receivables 3,475 4,222

BAREBEFTAEMEZERAD Dividends from financial assets

TREERS at FVTOCI 294 -
50,567 42,320

B B) £ 2 5 B 7 B 77 BT UL
TARSFHAREFR  HR - RF
BB REEEBGERNOBTEE) - 3
HER A FEARERZ MR -

7. AHMEEEENTNRES 7.
B HRED

Government grants mainly represented the government subsidies
received from the local governments in the PRC to support the
research, development, designs activities and e-commence
operation development of the Group. There are no unfulfilled
conditions relating to these grants.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER ECL, NET OF
REVERSAL

2024 2023
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

BATEE R (BE) /R ERE : Impairment losses recognised

(reversed) on:

— B S RUFIE — trade receivables 9,737 38,497
— H b R GRIE — other receivables (1,429) 10,357
8,308 48,854

RERFE R BB M FE38

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 38.

Annual Report 2024
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Loss on partial disposal of
investments accounted for using
the equity method (Note 19)

Gain (loss) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Foreign exchange gains, net

Gain on changes in fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL

Gain on changes in fair value of
convertible loan notes

Impairment loss on investment
accounted for using the equity method

Interest on bank loans

Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on convertible loan notes
Interest on issued written put options

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

5,588
60,159

1,915

67,662

2024
AR¥FR
RMB’000

28,527
93,192

736

122,455

2023
AREFTT
RMB’000

(6,191)

(431)
14,288

2,684

7,239

(5,157)

12,432

2023
AREFIT
RMB’000

25,508
41,220
20,794

3,200

90,722



BIEATR IR

e

PR EMSH

x5

BEFE (BETR) BEEE
)

PEIDEMEH

E=
EIENIE (FHsE22)

PRSH RIS

RNEBMEFE - &5FEHRIEMGE
JERFFIE 2 16.5%:1E -

REBEPEARKAMBELERSTE
([RFEBE]) REEMSIEER
Kl Pl - BRIAT R EE & SN - o BT
RAREREMEFREANHRER25%

KABIR2022F B 2024 F IR TE A
SRS E - RIFEEERRE
AR (RYIERE]) R2021F %
2023 F R E A= EMBE - IBIE
SR ETCERERE]  KE
BEE  ZZERIR15%HBREFHE
NSRS -

FINHREB2024F1 A1 HERZE
BRAEITBRES RN EERR
T FULZBIR25% BT R AN TR IE o

REBMESFE ZTHEMEAR
HaTBECEMEHHIETN/NMIE

RE - LTH25%F 10%M DL

2024 2023
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Current tax:

Hong Kong 8,828 -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 7,956 2,565
United States 12,797 22,728

Under (over) provision in prior years:
Hong Kong 6,076 (1,562)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 599 (1,186)
United States (14,421) -
Deferred tax (Note 22) 87,612 97,262
Income tax expense 109,447 119,807

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits in both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% in both years, except for
disclosed below.

The Company has been recognised as the High New Tech
Enterprises from 2022 to 2024. Shenzhen Aukeyhi Technology
Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen Aukeyhi”).
High New Tech Enterprises from 2021 to 2023. According to
the “EIT Law” for High New Tech Enterprises, these companies

has been recognised as the

are subject to a reduced Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15% in
respective years.

Due to the business adjustment, Shenzhen Aukeyhi no longer
applies for the qualification recognition of high-tech enterprise
from 1 January 2024. As a result, it is subject to a tax rate of
25%.

In both years, several subsidiaries in PRC were qualified as small
and micro enterprises under the PRC Enterprise Income Tax
regime, which enjoyed a enterprise income tax rate of 2.5%-10%.
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Pursuant to the relevant tax laws of the United States, tax at a
maximum of 21% federal corporate income tax rate and other
relevant states tax rate of 8.84% has been provided on the
taxable income arising in the United States in both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 2023

ARBTT AREFIT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 630,643 639,908

Tax at the domestic income

tax rate of 15% 94,597 95,986
Tax effect of share of results of

investments accounted for using the

equity method 526 (731)
Tax effect of expenses not

deductible for tax purpose 1,373 168
Over provision in respect of prior years (7,746) (2,748)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 680 9,048

Utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised (1,272) (8,328)
Tax benefit for qualifying research

and development expenses (Note) - (12,806)
Income tax at concessionary rate 234 (159)
Effect of different tax rates of

subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions 21,055 39,377

Income tax expense 109,447 119,807
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Note: In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations issued by the
State Administration of Taxation of the PRC (“SAT”), enterprises
engage in research and development activities were entitled to an
additional deduction of the research and development expenses
incurred as deductible expenses during the year when determining
their taxable profits (“weighted deduction”). The SAT announced
to increase the weighted deduction rate to 200% with effect from
1 October 2022. Accordingly, the Group adopted the weighted
deduction rate of 200% in both years. In determining the taxable
profits for the year, the Group has made the best estimate of the
entitled weighted deduction.

The Group is operating in certain jurisdictions where the Pillar
Two Rules are effective/enacted but not effective. However,
the Group’s estimated effective tax rates of all jurisdictions in
which the Group operates are higher than 15% after taking into
account the adjustments under the Pillar Two Rules based on
management’s best estimate, the management of the Group is
not liable to top-up tax under the Pillar Two Rules.

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

2024 2023
ARBT T ARETFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
Profit for the year after charging the
following items:
Depreciation and amortisation of
property and equipment, right-of
use assets and intangible assets 310,405 204,856
Auditor’s remuneration 3,100 1,070
Employee benefits expenses 513,758 450,189
Write-down of inventories
included in cost of sales 25,321 17,855

Cost of inventories recognised as an

expense excluding

write-down of inventories 5,247,911 4,259 566
Listing expenses 42,354 10,412
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Year ended 31 December 2024

Executive directors:

Mr. Lu, ("CEQ")

Mr. Ze

Ms. Zhuang Liyan (‘Ms. Zhuang")
Non-executive directors:

Mr. Zou Jiajia (“Mr. Zou")

Mr. Jin Hao (“Mr. Jin”)

Mr. Lu Songdu

Independent Non-executive directors:

Ms. Meng Rongfang (“Ms. Meng”)
Mr. Xu Jinke (“Mr. Xu")

Mr. Chen Xiaohuan (“Mr. Chen”)
Supervisors:

Ms. Zhang Li (‘Ms. Zhang")

Ms. Hua Xiang (‘Ms. Hua")

Ms. Liu Meixia (“Ms. Liu")

ek
Htb2ik
Salaries and
Other
Allowances
AR®ETR
RMB’ 000

3,182
3,233
1,739

84
84
84

1,008

536

9,950

B
(Fy=E)
Discretionary
bonus
(Note)
AR¥TL
RMB’000

RIKER
EMR
Contributions
to retirement
benefit plan
AR¥TR
RMB’000

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors, chief
executive officer (“CEO”) and supervisors of the Company during
the year disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as follows:

@t

Total
ARETR
RMB’000

3,195
3,245
1,739

84
84
84

1,061

545

10,037
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For the year ended 31 December 2024

12.DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

& (&) AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(CONTINUED)
ek b rpegan RIKER
HihRA (FF5%) SRR @it
Salaries and  Discretionary ~ Contributions
Other bonus to retirement
Allowances (Note) benefit plan Total
ARBTT AREF AREFT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
HZE2023F12A13B1LFE  Year ended 31 December 2023
HiTES: Executive directors:
BEEE((ERHTE]) Mr. Lu, (“CEQ") 1,194 85 12 1,291
EEE Mr. Ze 1,076 85 11 1,172
Bt Ms. Zhuang 1,202 50 - 1,252
FniTEE: Non-executive directors:
Fut Ms. Zou - - - -
SELE  R2023F Mr. Jin, appointed on
10F10BEZ 10 October 2023 - - - -
REFHE  H20235F Mr. Wu Fei, resigned on
10A10AEHE 10 October 2023 - - - -
PElEE LA Mr. Lu Songdu - - - -
BUFHTESE: Independent Non-executive directors:
AIT Ms. Meng 84 - - 84
{4 Mr. Xu 84 - - 84
BRoEAE - R2023F Mr. Chen, appointed on
10A10BEZ T 10 October 2023 21 - - 21
RARE  R2023F Mr. Dongfang, resigned on
10 A10BEHE 10 October 2023 70 - - 70
B Supervisors:
Kt Ms. Zhang 877 - 46 923
BT Ms. Hua - - - -
B+ Ms. Liu 473 - 7 480
5,081 220 76 5,377

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2024
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The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’, independent non-executive
directors’ and supervisors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors/supervisors of the Company.

Note: The discretionary bonus is determined by the directors of the
Company based on the performance of the directors of the Company
and the Group.

During the year, none of the Directors and CEO of the Company
had waived any emoluments and no emoluments had been paid
by the Group to any of the Directors or CEO or the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

There are no directors or CEO among the five highest paid
employees of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2024.

Details of the remuneration for the five highest paid employees

are as follows:

2024 2023

AR®TT AR®TT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,303 7,670
Performance related bonuses (Note) 29,017 38,372
Retirement benefits 140 118
36,460 46,160

Note: The performance related bonuses are determined by the directors
of the Company based on the performance of the Company and the
Group.
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The number of the highest paid employees of the Company
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

2024 2023

AR®TR ARBTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

- HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 1 -
- HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 -
- HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 - 1
- HK$7,500,001 to HK$8,000,000 - 1
- HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000 1 -
- HK$10,500,001 to HK$11,000,000 1 1
- HK$11,000,001 to HK$11,500,000 - 1
- HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000 1 -
- HK$15,000,001 to HK$15,500,000 - 1

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders
of the Company, nor has any dividend been proposed in both
years.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a special dividend
of RMBO0.25 per ordinary share, in aggregate of approximately
RMB103,801,000 has been proposed by the directors of the
Company and has been approved in the Extraordinary General
Meeting on 7 February 2025.
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The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

Earnings figures are calculated as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTR ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company for basic
and diluted earnings per share 504,299 532,010
2024 2023
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share (Note) 389,733,994 388,194,226

Note: A total of 1,554,000 domestic shares with a written put option
requiring the Company to repurchase these shares unconditionally
and repurchased during the year ended 31 December 2024 are not
included from the total number of shares in issue for the purpose of
calculating basic earnings per share.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2023 does not assume the conversion of
the Company’s outstanding convertible loan notes since their
assumed exercise would result in an increase in earnings per
share.

The computation of diluted earnings per share for the year
ended 31 December 2024 does not assume the exercise of over-
allotment options as the exercise price of those options was
higher than the average market price of the shares over the over-
allotment period.

In respect of the written put option requiring the Company to
repurchase the shares of the Company, it did not have significant
dilutive effect on earnings per share calculation in both years.
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COST

At 1 January 2023
Exchange adjustments
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2023
Exchange adjustments
Additions

Transfer

Disposals

At 31 December 2024

DEPRECIATION

At 31 December 2022
Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2023
Exchange adjustments
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2024

At 31 December 2023

HELHE
&2
Leasehold
land and
buildings
AEETR
RMB'000

609,966

609,966

609,966

14,235

34,166

48,401

34,166

82,567

527,399

561,565

L EIEL]

Motor
vehicles
ARET
RMB'000

23,037
587
4,592
(800)

27616
(341)
8785

(4,475)

31,585

8512
127
4415
(410)

12,644
(96)
4963
(2,089)

15,222

16,363

14,972

BORMH

Office
equipment
ARETT

RMB’000

10,003
64
3,320
(1,933)

11,544

81
9,215

(1,508)

19,332

4,288
7
747
(438)

4,604

53
3,569
(1,188)

7,038

12,294

6,940

E7Rf HERBREY

Electronic
equipment
ARETT

RMB'000

46,077
990
4,310
(1,302)
50,075
(96)
38,619

(2,178)

86,620

18,240
279
9,489
(866)

27,142

(78)
14,422
(1,533)

39,953

46,667

23,133

Leasehold
improvement
and others
ANEETFT
RMB'000

42,951
68
4,435

47,454

10,673
57,178

115,305

17,929

9,383

27,312

13,129

40,441

74,864

20,142

ERIE

Construction
in progress
ARETT
RMB'000

50,553

Total
AREFL
RMB'000

732,524
1,709
16,657
(4,035)

746,855

(356)
175,023

(8,161)

913,361

63,204

413
58,200
(1,714)

120,103
(121)
70,049
(5,010)

185,221

728,140

626,752
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Leasehold land and buildings
HE)ES IR

Motor vehicles

N

Office equipment

BFRIE

Electronic equipment
HEMERREREM

Leasehold improvement and others

R2024F12A31H » REBEE G
FEELEAARKS527,399,000T
(20234 : AR#561,565,0007T) &Y
BEWME  URBAREBEN—AET

A2024F12831H

The Group’s property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after
taking into account the residual values, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

HERAREERE  25%

Over the shorter of the lease term or 5%

20%

20%

20%

20%

20%

20%

MERSEEAE  H10%E20%

Over the shorter of the lease term, or 10% to 20%

The Group has pledged owned properties with carrying amount
of RMB527,399,000 (2023: RMB561,565,000) to secure general
banking facilities of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

HELH BFRRE st
Leasehold Buildings and
lands  equipment Total

ARETT ARBTT ARBTET
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2024

FREE Carrying amount 29,765 2,740,038 2,769,803
A2023F12H831H At 31 December 2023

BREE Carrying amount 30,871 686,828 717,699
B Z2024F12831HLLFEE Year ended 31 December 2024

HEEBHR Depreciation charge 1,105 228,491 229,596

HZE2023F12A31HILEE Year ended 31 December 2023
k-0 Depreciation charge 1,105 145,055 146,160



%8 HATH S AR RE RV RS2

HERSR DA
NEEREEAE
AEEREXBEEREZENRL
= E TEERAE - HEEKRTH
REBIZE R EEEFEE 208

AX%THmﬂ RAGH - iR &
mﬁ&ﬂﬂiJ%MHK%WEE%
R AEBERGONTEERETH
BFMITANNPEUNETHRERR
FHE T ARG RN RE -

AEBEIEZRETHAE BIBSE
MEETHIEHEE - )R20244F
N2023F12A31H  LEHAEHES
BN EXEBREPAER X AR EE
EHEAHE -

AEECDREMAREE D L
FRRERE -

BZE12A31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

AR¥T T AREFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Expenses relating to short-term leases 4,052 633
Total cash outflows for leases 253,346 184,946
Addition to right-of-use assets 2,261,046 118,891

The Group leases various offices, staff quarters and warehouses
for its operations. Lease terms are negotiated by the Group on
an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The terms are fixed with various period, from
12 months to 128 months. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group
applies the definition of a contract and determines the period for
which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for certain
offices, staff quarters and warehouses. As at 31 December
2024 and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to
the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for all
leasehold lands.
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202312 A31H
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AEEAERERFHNELEER
ERER=E D E RS -

BB E R BRA

DIERBREER A EEM

(fORr 2 B B)

HER R ERER

COST

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Additions

Acquisition of assets through acquisition
of a subsidiary (Note 36)

At 31 December 2024

AMORTISATION

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and 1 January 2024

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2024

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2024

B
Software
AREFT
RMB'000

3,204
8,500

11,704

2,426
1,223

3,649

778

8,055

FAE
License
ARETT
RMB’000

27,316

27,316

9,337

9,337

17,979

@t
Total
ARBTT
RMB'000

3,204
8,500
27,316

39,020

2,426
10,560

12,986

778

26,034

The Group’s intangible assets having finite useful lives are

amortised on a straight-line basis over three to five years.

Cost of investment in associates
Share of post-acquisition results
and other comprehensive expense,
net of dividends received

Impairment losses recognised

2024

ARBTR
RMB’ 000

133,103

(55,689)

77,414
(5,157)

72,257

2023
ARETT
RMB'000

133,103

(52,996)

80,107
(5,157)

74,950



AEBZEAEDEARNRERTR

SEHROFEOT

BEELE

Name of entities

RIERHEERAR

Shenzhen Hanlv Trading Co., Ltd.
(RIZREEBRAR)

AT RARRRERAR

Shenzhen Zbao Logistics
Technology Co., Ltd.
(RYITR BRI RERAR)

RYTRABIREBR LA
(Hizta)

Shenzhen Apeman Innovations
Technology Co., Ltd. (FIITIRA
BIFRHE AR A ) (Note a)

ERABDRERERAR
(TEREB])

Ningbo Western Post Logistics
Technology Co., Ltd.
(ERAEBYRREERRF)
(“Ningbo Western Post”)

RREBAHERZRERAA
([REBAR]))

Dongguan Sogoode Computer
System Co., Ltd.
(REEAHERZRERAR)
(“Dongguan Sogoode”)

AL
BR/TE
BEBE
Country of
incorporation/

principal place Proportion of ownership

of business

HE

PRC

hE
PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

Details of each of the Group’s investments accounted for using

the equity method at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

FEEFAEREE
51401

interest held by the Group rights held by the Group

2024
2024

30.00%

30.00%

21.25%
21.25%

10.77%

10.77%

40.00%

40.00%

TER

N/A

20234
2023

30.00%

30.00%

21.25%
21.25%

10.47%

10.47%

40.00%

40.00%

(Pizze)

(Note e)

FEEMBRER

LA

2024
2024

30.00%

30.00%

21.25%
21.25%

10.77%

10.77%

40.00%

40.00%

TEA

N/A

Proportion of voting

20234
2023

30.00%

30.00%

21.25%
21.25%

10.47%

10.47%

40.00%

40.00%

(H3te)

(Note €)

FTEER

Principal activities

BHTAL
KEWE
Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms
BERBROR
Freight forwarding and
logistics

EBHTA L
BERE

Operation of online
stores on e-commerce

platforms

RERMR

Warehousing and
logistics

EEBTAL
TERE

Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms



BEELHE

Name of entities

RYEREBRERERRAF
([EEER)) (fib)

Shenzhen Longgangc Jingiao
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.
(RYEHLBREREERAR)
("Longgang Jingiao”) (Note b)

RYTREEMBERNBRAF
(Fftzte)

Shenzhen Leaderment Technology
Co., Ltd. (RYITREERHRR
BR2AF]) (Note ¢)

YT NEMRBRAF
(Fitzte)

Shenzhen Xiaosi Technology Co., Ltd.

(FITHNBREBRAF]) (Note ¢)

RYTHBEEERAA
(FitzEc)

Shenzhen Aukey Smart Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
(7\?@\\%@1% QEEAMR AR (Note ¢)

TEREESRMABRRR

Shanghai Jianlong Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
(DEREEEEMARAR)

EFOFE réiim ARLE
(BRA&%) ([EMPE])

(FifzEd)

Xiamen Junior Management
Consulting Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (“Xiamen Junior”)
(BEPVEREEENERLE
(BRA%)) (Note d)

R
BR/*ZE
Country of
incorporation/

principal place Proportion of ownership

of business

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

FEEMSRAE

Tzl

2024
2024

TER

N/A

13.97%

13.97%

7.07%

7.07%

9.50%

9.50%

20.00%

20.00%

96.77%

96.77%

20234
2023

(BiraEe)

(Note f)

13.97%

13.97%

7.07%

7.07%

9.50%

9.50%

20.00%

20.00%

96.77%

96.77%

FEEMBRR
LA

Proportion of voting

interest held by the Group rights held by the Group

20245 20235
2024 2023
TEH -
(PB&ED)

N/A -
(Note f)

13.97% 13.97%
13.97% 13.97%
7.07% 7.07%
7.07% 7.07%
9.50% 9.50%
9.50% 9.50%
20.00% 20.00%
20.00% 20.00%
33.33% 33.33%
33.33% 33.33%

FTEER

Principal activities

HEHE

Financing leasing

EFTAL
memE
Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms

EBTAL
wEBE
Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms
EEFTAL
TERE
Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms
EEBTRL
TERE
Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms
REER

Investment holding



BEEZE

Name of entities

LC Western Post Logistic INC.
([LC Western Post])
LC Western Post Logistic INC.
(‘LC Western Post”)
ERRHEENRARA
([ERHE))
Ningbo Ruiao Intelligent Technology
Co., Ltd. (BRnHEERRERAR)
(“Ningbo Ruiao”)

BT -

AL
Bx/ *E
ERBE
Country of
incorporation/

principal place Proportion of ownership
interest held by the Group rights held by the Group

of business

E35]
(T%&E)])
United States
("USA")

HE

PRC

(a) AKEEHERYITRALMBEE

RARMEINE

TEN ARERE

HERMANZEZHEDRLEES

R — -

AEEERLEESBHNERNTZE
71 ARERBEESEMRIR EZH
EBRALBESTH—F -

REBENEZERARBMEATZE
N RAEREBEEERMAIZEZSE
AR AREERH—F -

AEEFBAEMDFEEHITRAD
96.77% ° *E%FJ*F'EJQ‘EE‘JA%%%
rEAEZEGHH  EFMLFOME
*Hfﬁfiﬁ@ji’]ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%&uihﬁimé
BRIRTE R AL - ARAREEEE
FEFLE=2REZEGKETH
—%  AKBEHEMDFTEES
o TREMIFRABERTEN

Co)e NG|

FEEMERGE FEEMBRR
31401 LAl TEER

Proportion of voting
Principal activities

20245 20235 20245 2023F

2024 2023 2024 2023

20% 20% 20% 20% EERERDR

20% 20% 20% 20%  Freight forwarding and
logistics

30% 30% 30% 30% EFTAL
KEWE

30% 30% 30% 30%  Operation of online
stores on e-commerce
platforms

Notes:

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Shenzhen
Apeman Innovations Technology Co., Ltd. because it has appointed
one out of the seven directors of this associate under its articles of
association.

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Longgang
Jingiao because it has the power to appoint one out of the seven
directors of this associate under its articles of association.

The Group is able to exercise significant influence over these
companies because it has appointed one out of five directors under
the articles of association of these companies.

The Group holds 96.77% of the issued share capital of Xiamen
Junior. Under the partnership agreement and agreement of
investment committee of Xiamen Junior, all the relevant activities of
Xiamen Junior are decided and approved by two or more investment
committee members. Since the Group has the power to appoint one
out of the three investment committee members of Xiamen Junior,
the Group does not have control over Xiamen Junior and considers

Xiamen Junior as an associate with significant influence.
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HZE2023F12A31HIEFE * K&
EEUREARKS5,000,0007TH
EHENEREANEEH25%MKE -
BYHE-—MHELRBRARE
5,851,0007T » B Z 20234 12 A 31
AIEFE @ SIEREEANEET T
BEX

HZE2023F12A31HILFE - K&
BEAREARE 16,191,000t HE
HREMeBM2E7.45% % -
BHHE—HMBEEARBEARYE
340,0007T - HZE2023F 12 831H
IHEE  HhEESBNEETTE
j{o

FHAKEEEMERANUBHER
BEHEINT - PHERT IR E
REREA K E & 5 BER RO M
HERPIIRHWEHE

Bt
A

REREG AP BMER T AR

o

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed its
entire 25% equity interest in Dongguan Sogoode at a consideration
of RMB5,000,000 and resulting in a loss on disposal of an
associate amounting to RMB5,851,000. The share of results of
Dongguan Sogoode during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed its
entire 7.45% equity interest in Longgang Jingiao at a consideration
of RMB16,191,000 and resulting in a loss of disposal of an associate
amounting to RMB340,000. The share of results of Longgang Jingiao
during the year ended 31 December 2023 was insignificant.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

material associate is described below. The summarised financial

information represents amounts shown in the associate’s financial

statements prepared in accordance with accounting policies of

the Group.

This associate is accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BZ2024F12A31HILLEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. HEDEANRNRE (F) 19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

166

RN TREVWARNEERA T Shenzhen Zbao Logistics Technology Co., Ltd.
2024 2023
AR®TR ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
LN Revenue 865,457 515,795
AR R A AR Profit for the year attributable to equity
FRFE holders of the associate 21,003 9,256
AR EREE ARG Other comprehensive income for the year
FREMEERA attributable to equity holders of the associate 4,230 1,786
AR EREE AR Total comprehensive income for the year
FARAZEMRALE attributable to equity holders of the associate 25,233 11,042
FREHE DMK E Dividends received from the associate
during the year - 216
MEEE Current assets 230,526 279,855
FRBEE Non-current assets 1,972 1,131
nRBaE Current liabilities 53,295 125,656
BENREEFE Net assets of the associate 179,203 155,330
BRI R AR RN Reconciliation to the carrying amounts of
REEM R interests in the associate
B AR EESFE Net assets of the associate 179,203 155,330
B IR ER Less: Non-controlling interests 2,080 3,440
BERTRAREAREEERE Net assets attributable to equity holders
of the associate 177,123 151,890
FEEREEARNEZE DL Percentage of the Group's interests in the
associate 21.25% 21.25%
FEEEGHERREETFE Net assets and carrying amount of the associate
KEAEE attributable to the Group 37,639 32,077

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024



19. BESEARNKRE (&)

FERNERNERAEREARNRE

e IR ERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2024F12831ALLEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

19. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING
THE EQUITY METHOD (CONTINUED)

Aggregate information of investments accounted for using
the equity method that are not individually material

2024 2023
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
REEEMLFAN (EE) FHER The Group’s share of (loss) profit and
2 (FX) WA BE total comprehensive
(expense) income for the year (8,055) 2,775
REERZEHEE QTN Aggregate carrying amount of the
EmREAE Group’s interests
in these investees 34,618 42,673

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH

167



2024 2023

ARBTR ARETT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
mE Current
R Structured deposits 23,263 10,000
FERED Non-current
FELTASRBE Unlisted life insurance policy 9,075 9,075
32,338 19,075

20244 2202312 A31H * &2
REEFABENEREEFEZRR
EEEPRMRITAEITHNREE
MERRABAAT —BEERRNOIE
ETASZREBE (BRASRBIRE
(TRE)HBNORE) - RIBRE -
TR ARREFEARRER - K&
B AT BERF AR EIREE - WX IE A AR
BREMNEFEEKRNE: (B
BREME])  ENAREBNREBRL
MR RBREBGT KRG UV ER
(BREERER) BHETLRET -
R EEFEFIERBENMIFESS -

Financial assets at FVTPL as at 31 December 2024 and 2023
mainly represented the Group’s investments in short term
structured deposits issued by banks in the PRC and unlisted
life insurance policy (which represents the insurance premium
paid for a life insurance policy (the “Insurance Policy”) to
insure a director of the Company. Under the Insurance Policy,
the beneficiary and policy holder is the Group. The Group
can terminate the Insurance Policy at any time and receive
cash at the date of termination based on the account value of
the Insurance Policy (the “Cash Surrender Value”), which is
determined based on the premium paid with the accrued returns
after netting of the charges (including a surrender charge) in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Insurance
Policy). Details of the fair value measurement are disclosed in
Note 38.



™

2024 2023

AR¥BT T AREFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ImikEES (Mita) Listed equity securities (Note a) 15,635 20,978
e EmARIERE (HisEb) Unlisted equity investments (Note b) 86,190 177,229
101,825 198,207

bt E R AR LR
Lmk o ZEREWIEFHIEEE - M
RHN R BOMITE - ARF)
ERCERMRSHaTARERTE
REAAEEFTAEMBEERA -
REERR/NBETERZEREDN
AABEENERRBDEARELRE
HENMBEEZEREYERARY
RENHORBED—B -

B EHREREREARERTE
FRALEOFLAE BRI BHE - ARFES
ERERZSEa TARERETERIE
RABEFALGEZERA - ERK
ERAREFREDHNRPEREE DN
miFH

EEEFBERENHE8 -

Notes:

The above listed equity investments represent ordinary shares
of an entity listed in the PRC. These investments are not held for
trading, instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes.
The directors of the Company have elected to designate these
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that
recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value
in profit or loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of
holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.

The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s equity
interest in private entities established in the PRC. The directors of
the Company have elected to designate these investments in equity
instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that they are held for long-
term strategic purposes.

Details of the fair value measurement are disclosed in Note 38.



MR M BRRREINME @ BIER
HEEKBEDEHE -

U AR EERENERRNE B
EHEAERAEARAES -

R2023E1 718
EiA%
RBEFTA GIR)
REHZERATR
120235124316
EA%
RB&EFTA (R
RERZERAGTA
120245124316

At 1 January 2023

Exchange adjustments

Credited (charged) to profit or loss
Charged to other comprehensive income

At 31 December 2023

Exchange adjustments

Credited (charged) to profit or loss
Credited to other comprehensive income

At 31 December 2024

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, deferred tax assets and liabilities have been

offset.

The following are the major deferred tax assets and liabilities
recognised by the Group and movements therein during the year:

RHRERET
MHERE/
HEHE
Impairment
losses under
ECL/write-
down of
inventories
AEBTT
RMB'000

7313
34
6,412

13,759
11
2,561

16,331

HAER

Tax losses
ARETT
RMB'000

316,401

(72,955)

243,446
10
(91,220)

152,236

RERHE

Unrealised
profits
ARETT
RMB'000

34,442

(28,617)

5,825

3,923

9,748

BERE

Lease
liabilities
AEETR
RMB'000

169,714

(23,587)

146,127
(409)
162,262

607,980

fEReaE

Right-of-use
assets
ARBFT
RMB'000

(139,574)

23,519

(116,055)
mn
(460,163)

(575,846)

it

Others
AEETR
RMB'000
7612

8

(2,034)
(1,807)

3,719

(4,975)
73

(463)

Total
ARETT
RMB'000
395,908
4
(97,262)
(1,807)

296,881
(16)
(87,612)
73

209,986



R2024F 128318 AEBEHX
B AHIEEEAARKI79,188,000
JL (20234 + AR¥1,556,429,000
J) - AIRREEEARRFDE o 12024
F12H8318 ERZRSFEEAR
#875,450,0007C (20234F : AR
#1,448,744,00070) HERIE LR
BEE - BRTRETEF AR RF K
B At 2024%12A31H » 1
ERZEFENFATEEEAR
#103,738,0007T (20234 : AR
107,685,000 7T) ERIELERTHE E o
R2024%F 128318 » TREEREH
HEIR R R IB SIS -

20254 2025
2026 F 2026
2027 F 2027
20284 2028
20294 2029
1 (R HA Indefinitely

The Group has unused tax losses of RMB979,188,000 (2023:
RMB1,556,429,000) available for offset against future profits as
at 31 December 2024. A deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of RMB875,450,000 (2023: RMB1,448,744,000) of
such losses as at 31 December 2024. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised on the tax losses of remaining RMB103,738,000
(2023: RMB107,685,000) of such losses as at 31 December 2024
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Unrecognised
tax losses are losses as at 31 December 2024 with expiry dates

as disclosed in the following table.

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

1,018
9,626
19,616
34,102
7,736
31,640

103,738

2023
ARETTT
RMB’000

1,018
9,626
19,616
54,704

22,721

107,685



AEBRKSFEAEEETRELE
RHBEAFTIBEBRE R - FFTL
REHENFOFHBER/IETF °
HEHRABET R EAFER
ERBHEE -

The Group subleased certain warehouses for the remaining lease

terms and entered into finance lease arrangements as a lessor.

The average terms of finance leases entered into usually range

from 3 to 7 years. All interest rates inherent in the leases are

fixed at the contract date over the lease terms.

RVE TR S EIGIARIE Finance lease receivables comprise:

—FR

Within one year

FEF In the second year

E=F In the third year

Eusked In the fourth year

ERF In the fifth year

hFE After five years
HEKREHETE Gross investment in the lease
A REEZ SR A Less: unearned finance income
HEHENTNRE Present value of minimum lease payments
DT Analysed as:

mE) Current

IERE Non-current

MR2024F12A31H » LilgtEHM
EWNAEHEAE4.25% (20234 :
4.25%) o

HRMERESAEEEREEMN
REEEAE HASELTEREER
P e M E LR o

g

2024
AR®TR
RMB’ 000

16,944
17,452
17,976
18,515
12,588

83,475

83,475
(8,047)

75,428

2024
AR¥FR
RMB’ 000

14,007
61,421

75,428

2023
AREETT
RMB'000

16,208
16,695
17,196
17,711
18,243
12,402

98,455

98,455
(11,384)

87,071

2023
AREFIT
RMB’000

12,752
74,319

87,071

Interest rates implicit in the above finance leases at 4.25% (2023:

4.25%) as at 31 December 2024.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of

the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the

respective functional currencies of group entities.



24. ERBITER REHH

BE=ZEANRTER
ReRkREEEY

RERATEEY

BekReSENREARRBRAE
SHEHMBRSAENEHERRE
HAfE 3 A8 2024412 431 BiR™
B H%0.0001% £ 3.50% (2023 F :
0.0001%%£3.50%) 51 & °

BHEITER
EARIRITIF FRIER 2024 F [2 2023 F
12 A31 BERTFRITABRATEE
AFFR(I) AL BTN 28 K (i)
RITER - ERRITFERERBBAR
& RITERRBHRES D RLEE
BERER -

REHBBE=EANRITER

R2024F12A31H » REEHES
—EAAMBRITHERIRBETRITFERE
F=R3.30% (20234F : 3.30%) 5t & -

BTk RIBBA=-EANE
TEFREREERRITEREBEER
MIsE38 -

24.

e KR ERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2024F12A31BLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY
OVER THREE MONTHS/CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits and short
term deposits for the purpose of meeting the Group’s short term
cash commitments, which carry interest at market rates range
from 0.0001% to 3.50% (2023: 0.0001% to 3.50%) as at 31
December 2024.

Pledged bank deposits

Pledged bank deposits represent the deposits pledged to
banks to secure the (i) issuance of the Group’s bills payable
and (ii) bank borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement
of relevant bills, bank borrowings and performance bond
respectively.

Bank deposits with original maturity over three months

As at 31 December 2024, bank deposits with original maturity
over three months carry interest at prevailing banking deposits
rate at 3.30% (20283: 3.30%) per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances, bank deposit

with maturity over three months and pledged bank deposits are
set out in Note 38.

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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2024 2023

AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
78 Inventories

— R — finished goods 1,465,654 1,079,210
—RE#EE — right-of-return assets 8,161 6,161
B Less: provision (28,429) (39,523)
1,445,386 1,045,848
FEERRARAIERFERNEFHR Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
EEINER - FERARIME T ERE value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted

JE © average method.
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
RAFE=HNE S EWGRIE Trade receivables from third parties 1,311,157 876,395
B = RS Less: Allowance for credit losses (41,761) (68,926)
1,269,396 807,469
20231 A1H  BRAKERP At 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with

AHFE A AREA467,450,0007T ° customers of the Group amounted to RMB467,450,000.



rEEREZSEFELNT10KE
QOARTEMEER -

B HRRFRRR IR EE Mg &N
MAZZAH (EEamBRAERA
HIEE) B MTAR

The Group grants the credit period ranging from 10 days to 90
days to its trade customers.

Aging of trade receivables, is prepared based on the date of
transfer of goods or issue of invoice, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition dates, as follows:

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

0ZE90K 0 - 90 days 1,187,111 753,071
91E 180K 91 - 180 days 43,820 20,851
181E 365K 181 — 365 days 11,174 23,962
#3365k Over 365 days 27,291 9,585
1,269,396 807,469

ZRBEREEASEN20245F12 A
31 @ HEIER AR E 5 B IE#
A B ARKQI7,605,0007T (2023
F: AR¥54,398,0007T) ° AR
SERBEBALRRAZEREMU
U - R REBH - REBMN AR
BEEIEREFIRAEEE AER
WEER Z EEHBFETAERAR -

B 5 e WO IR B BB R B # A M
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Included in the balance are the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with the aggregate carrying amount of
RMB97,605,000 (2023: RMB54,398,000) which are past due but
not impaired as at 31 December 2024. As the Group believes
that these balances can be recovered based on past experience,
the Group has not provided impairment loss for the past due but
not impaired as at the reporting date. The Group does not hold
any security for these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out
in Note 38.



2024 2023

ARETR AR#TT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

TER B Prepayments 165,116 101,683

RSB Value-added tax receivable 73,870 55,800

oA IR E SR Other tax receivable 29,015 22,349

FEUARAE (BI=E) Consideration receivable (Note) 70,920 70,920

e Deposits 63,042 41,415

IRIEFEATRAR Deferred issue cost - 6,222

TEMEEITAR S X Prepaid issue cost/listing expenses - 98

EAh Others 19,396 12,049

421,359 310,536

A ERBEEE Less: Allowance for credit losses (21,598) (22,860)

399,761 287,676

Mzt ZeENBAEFEENREESE Note: The amount represented the consideration receivable from a partial

HWERTR—&ERNERNEENE disposal of a subsidiary of the Group, Shenzhen Fanttik (as defined

RARYERR (FE LM E43) # in Note 43), to an employee without losing control in prior years.

DIEZ R EMARE o ZERUGKEN The receivable was secured by a pledge of the shares of both the
ZREREFENARABIRAYERTR Company and Shenzhen Fanttik held by this employee.

DIEER -
Hth FE WK TR R T 1 =F 15 8RS I Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set out

38 ° in Note 38.



2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

B S ENFIARE Trade payables from
—EB=5 — third parties 1,396,100 919,612
—HBENE — associates 2,349 18,384
1,398,448 937,996
FERT IR Bills payable 39,996 96,956
1,438,444 1,034,952
FERRE (PR Consideration payable (Note) - 130,000
FEEHE BRI Accrued employees’ benefits 52,355 47,291
EAth eI HHI8 Other tax payables 5,413 5,247
e Deposits 10,995 11,279
s Provisions - 15,326
FEEFEATANA TR Accrued issue cost/listing expenses 8,116 10,197
Hit Others 8,418 4,712
1,523,741 1,259,004
2024 2023
AR%ET AREFIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

DT Analysed as:

mE Current 1,523,741 1,159,004
IERE Non-current - 100,000
1,523,741 1,259,004
M5 : 72023 124318 - EERBESF Note: As at 31 December 2023, it represented the remaining

EWE-—HNEBARRESTESN
FIER(E - E{E2024F12A31H 1
FE - AEZSHHRNAES

consideration due to the vendor upon the acquisition of a
subsidiary in prior year. During the year ended 31 December

g o 2024, all of such remaining consideration has been settled.
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28. E5 R HAMEAKIE (&) 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)
NTRBREBARBRBEEZEEENES The following is the aging analysis of trade and bills payables
FERRIERENERRE DT - based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.
2024 2023
ARBTR ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
0£E90K 0 - 90 days 1,338,704 965,208
91E 180K 91 - 180 days 84,059 50,521
181E 365K 181 — 365 days 6,580 11,906
HBiB365K Over 365 days 9,101 7,317
1,438,444 1,034,952
KREEMHTFHEEEEHROX - The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.
29. FEAS =R B R RIE 29. AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER
2024 2023
ARBFR ARBTFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
wEEE ([REE]) Mr. Zhang Xiao (“Mr. Zhang”) - 1,123
RAERHBARRYTABE 2R Mr. Zhang is a non-controlling shareholder of a subsidiary,
HBERATMNFZERER - Z28EE Shenzhen Xiyou Zhicang Technology Co., Ltd.. The amount had
R2024%8 AEE LS - been fully settled in August 2024.
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Bank loans:
Secured
Unsecured

The carrying amounts of the above bank

borrowings that contain a repayable

on demand clause (shown under

current liabilities) and repayable

within one year

The carrying amounts of the other

bank borrowings are repayable™:

Within one year

Within a year of more than one year

but not exceeding two years

Within a year of more than two years

but not exceeding five years

Less: Amounts due within one year

shown under current liabilities

Amounts shown under

non-current liabilities

BNESEERERBHETRENEE *

EFEH -

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

377,649
596,151

973,800

2024
AR¥FR
RMB’ 000

716,626

17,852

239,322

973,800

(716,626)

257,174

2023
AREFTT
RMB’000

377,753
285,440

663,193

2023
AREFIT
RMB’'000

43,435

343,160

17,584

259,014

663,193

(386,595)

276,598

The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out

in the loan agreements.



REFMERERI TR -

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

2024 2023

ARBTR ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fixed-rate borrowings 580,409 202,437
Variable-rate borrowings 393,391 460,756
973,800 663,193

REBRITEROERME (RER

BRFE) BEMT

HIHE
B U 3
FBHE R

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank loans is as follows:

2024 2023
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings 0.00% £3.80% 0.0%%3.00%
Variable rate borrowings 0.00% £3.95% 3.0%%4.45%

AEBNEBEEEREEE U

BB FHENEREIIMT

usDh
JPY

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other
than functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set
out below:

2024 2023
AR®TT ARETIT
RMB’ 000 RMB’'000
104 -
234,510 94,860



R2024F12A31H  EFROAR
®100,311,0007t (20234 : ARHE
10,156,0007T) A AR #113,577,000
TUHIE BATF SRAEIR IR (2023 F © AR
#11,332,0007T) ©

N2024%F12A31H « EZH AR
6,007,000 A EBEB AR AR E
R o

HZE2024F 128318 BEREEN
A AR95 321,0007T (20234 = A
R#93,159,0007T) AR AIHER ©

MN2024F12A318 » EHRHARYE
397,593,000 T A I EBIBE B R A A
R AR R AR IR -

R2024F12A318 © ERHARE
50,199,000 7T B F Y T FiR & F 5 15
BRAT RARAT]HEFIER -

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB100,311,000 (2023: RMB10,156,000) were
secured by a pledge of time deposit of RMB113,577,000 (2023:
RMB11,332,000).

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB6,007,000 were guaranteed by Aukey
International Limited.

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB95,321,000 (2023: RMB93,159,000) were
guaranteed by the Company.

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB397,593,000 were guaranteed by Aukey
International Limited and the Company.

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB50,199,000 were jointly guaranteed by
Shenzhen Allsight E-business Co., Ltd. and the Company.



R2023F12A318 ' EHRHOABA
R¥73,147,000 L HFERE « L
g RZ T RHEBEEBR AR LR
BR UUASEFABEEFRD
HELTHERE FEREAARKE
30,871,0007T ° sfERERE E2024
F12A31AIEFERNLGES - HEAER
B RRR o

M2024% 128310 - R AAR
¥ 45,038,000 L A FIEBEE AR A A
MARYImHREFEFEERARLR
BR -

MR2024F12A318 » 1EREFEH A
AR#277,338,0007T (20234F : A
R#294,450,00070) A EBEEA
RARRARINTEAMRBRRAF
HEVER (20234 : \mfELAE - EX
E o RZERHMEBBARA A K
BER)  TUAEEEAEAAR
#527,399,0007T (20234 : AR¥E
561,565,0007T) M E T i REFE
o

R2023F12A318  (ERHARE
5,271,000 CHE R e E ([REE])
ER - EREREZE2024F 12 A31
BIEFERLES - ERIEHR -

MR2023F12A31H  HAARE
187,010,000 7T &I {& 3 5 Bl | BE %
E o EEERBEBRBEBRARLR
BR - 2 ERENEZE2024%F12 A
31 B L FEER -

At 31 December 2023, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB73,147,000 were jointly guaranteed by Mr. Lu,
Mr. Ze, Ms. Zhang and Aukey International Limited, and secured
by a leasehold land of the Group included in right-of-use assets
with carrying amount of RMB30,871,000. The borrowing has
been settled during the year ended 31 December 2024 and the

relevant guarantees were released.

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB45,038,000 were jointly guaranteed by Aukey
International Limited and Shenzhen Allsight E-business Co., Ltd.

At 31 December 2024, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB277,338,000 (2023: RMB294,450,000) were
jointly guaranteed by Aukey International Limited and Shenzhen
Jiajiu Logistics Co., Ltd. (2023: jointly guaranteed by Mr. Lu, Mr.
Ze, Ms. Zhang and Aukey International Limited), and secured by
a leasehold land and building of the Group with carrying amount
of RMB527,399,000 (2023: RMB561,565,000).

At 31 December 2023, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB5,271,000 were guaranteed by Mr. Yu Le
(“Mr. Yu”). The borrowing has been settled during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and the guarantees were released.

At 31 December 2023, the borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB187,010,000 were jointly guaranteed by
Mr. Lu, Mr. Ze, and Aukey International Limited, respectively.
The guarantees have been released during the year ended 31
December 2024.



2024 2023
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ENEEAaE: —FA Lease liabilities payable: Within 1 year 231,345 155,363
— & LA B 8 W A B Within a period of more than one year
but not exceeding two years 280,223 167,552
A DA BB 18 1 4F HA R Within a period of more than two years
but not exceeding five years 804,070 360,185
hEA LA Within a period of more than five years 1,652,991 150,153
2,968,629 833,253
A omBAGIE T 1218 A Less: Amount due for settlement with
T HER 2 5 12 months under current liabilities (231,345) (155,363)
FERMBERETERN Amount due for settlement after 12 months
1218 A& S| B E shown under non-current liabilities
T 2,737,284 677,890
R2024F12A31H » AEEEES The weighted average incremental borrowing rates of the Group’s
BRI EERFED R A3% lease liabilities are from 3% to 9.50% (2023: 3% to 9.50%) as at
%£9.50% (20234 : 3% %E9.50%) ° 31 December 2024.
R2024F12A31H @ BRWHEE Lease liabilities of RMB2,968,629,000 (2023: RMB833,253,000)
aES R R/ARK2,968,629,000 are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
7t (20234 : AR¥833,253,000 RMB2,740,038,000 (2023: RMB686,828,000) as at 31 December
L) HEATCREEAERARE 2024. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
2,740,038,0007T (20234 : AR¥ than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
686,828,0007T) - BRHTEARAEE the lessor.

BEMERERIN - BEWZTHN
EREE0R



2024 2023

AR TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A migE Sales of goods 83,138 39,136
Y ERR T 2 Logistics solutions 71,865 9,063
155,003 48,199
MR2023F1A1H  AEEEYEE As at 1 January 2023, the Group’s contract liabilities amounted
DRlAEANRE61,945,0007T ° to RMB61,945,000.
FBEGHNEERHERAEBIERE All contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
BRBANEE  UIRBEAEERETFR Group’s normal operating cycle, and are classified as current
EREMNRBEONREETSEAR based on the Group's earliest obligation to transfer goods or
B o services to the customers.
TRIWREZESONBEERNDE The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
RWA R EBEREDERNELNE relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much
FEANEERKA - relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in prior
periods.
2024 2023
AR%E T AR%TT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
FUFTAE N BELERD Revenue recognised that was included
BRI A in the contract liability balance at the

beginning of the year 48,199 61,945
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The right to returned goods asset represents the Group’s right
to recover products from customers where customers exercise
their right of return under the Group’s 30-day returns policy. The
Group uses its accumulated historical experience to estimate the
number of returns on a portfolio level.

2024 2023

ARBTR AREBFT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

BREEEENRNEE Refund liabilities arising from right of return 24,283 20,797

RAEMEYRES —BEBEE30X
POIR EAORER o FE R R - ST EITE
IR 610 2E @ TR IR 3K B £ R AR AR 0K
AHBE -

HE2021F12A31BILEFE - AR
AlmEELE ERERERBUE=
H(BITEREREREEAD#
TR B A ANRK380,000,0007T
WA EBIRE R RIE -

A [ o A % X e AR BT Y AT B I R
EBEARE - BT TEAEBRER
SBEFEANATEBERERLZIAT
RS

() MZREAUEBRERZEBHEET
ERERZREEABRAR
ARIRD - BIAB /TR ERR =
EABEEBRAERERNZRA
I ERERZENASE
HEF6% 5%

(i) MZETHRERRETSHE
VAEBRERRERAABRL
ARRRBD - BIMAIT MRS
ERAH LTSRS SR REROA
BEHIREF8%

AEREREBAARKHE -

The refund liabilities relate to customers’ right to return products,
generally within 30 days of purchase. At the point of sale, a
refund liability and a corresponding adjustment to revenue is
recognised for those products expected to be returned.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company issued
convertible loan notes with an aggregate principal amount of
RMB380,000,000 to Mr. Lu, Mr. Ze and seven independent third
parties (the “Independent Convertible Loan Notes Holders”).

The convertible loan notes issued to Mr. Lu and Mr. Ze
are interest-free. The convertible loan notes issued to the
Independent Convertible Loan Notes Holders are bearing interest
accruing at a rate of:

(i) 6% per annum on the principal amounts of the convertible
loan notes subsequent to twelve months from the issue date
until the date of conversion of the convertible loan notes if
these convertible loan notes would be converted into shares
of the Company by the Independent Convertible Loan Notes
Holders, or

(i) 8% per annum on the principal amounts of the convertible
loan notes from the issue date until the repayment date if
these convertible loans notes would not be converted into
shares of the Company by the Independent Convertible
Loan Notes Holders.

The convertible loan notes are denominated in RMB.
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All of these convertible loan notes are exercisable at the options
of the convertible loan notes holders at any time during the year
until 30 June 2023, in whole or in part, to convert into variable
numbers of shares of the Company under different conversion
conditions.

The convertible loan notes contain two components, debt
component and derivative (including conversion and early
redemption options) component. The Group designated the
convertible loan notes as financial liabilities at FVTPL as a whole.

The convertible loan notes were matured on 30 June 2023 and no
convertible option was exercised. All of the fair value changes up
to the maturity date were recognised in profit or loss included in
“other gains and losses”. The principal amount and the accrued
interests of the convertible loan notes were fully settled as at 31
December 2023.

The movement of the convertible loan notes during the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out as below:

2023

AREBFT

RMB’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 416,981
Changes in fair value charged to profit or loss (7,239)
Accrued interest 20,794
Repayment (430,536)

Carrying amount at the end of the year -
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HZE2023F12A31BILFE - AR
AIfEE N84 3,188,784 & Mk iy - X
B/ AR¥40,879,0007T °

RNRFEHR2024F 11 B8 BEE B
R LW AER15.608 T
29,894,700 R EREEARKE1TTH
HA% + FT1S SRIE 4R 8B 4Y /466,357,000
BT (HHER AR 428,629,000
JT) e

HZE2024F12A31HILLFE » B2
FE=FITE R H R R AN R
11,554,000 RNE R - REAAR
#47,136,0007T < At © BE#ITH
SHHRE BTN AN BEDELS
g mMAREIN202455 A iEzE

At 1 January 2023

Ordinary shares of RMB1 each

Shares repurchased and

cancelled (Note i)

At 31 December 2023

Shares repurchased and

cancelled (Note iii)

At 31 December 2024

R EE [N

Number of
shares Share capital
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

Registered, issued and fully paid

390,054,000 390,054
(3,188,784) (3,189)
386,865,216 386,865
Issue of shares upon listing (Note ii) 29,894,700 29,895
(1,554,000) (1,554)
415,205,916 415,206

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
repurchased and cancelled 3,188,784 shares at a consideration of
RMB40,879,000.

On 8 November 2024, upon listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, the Company issued 29,894,700 H shares with par
value of RMB1 each at HK$15.60 each with gross proceeds of
approximately HK$466,357,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB428,629,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the independent third
party exercised the written put option and the Company repurchased
1,654,000 domestic shares at a consideration of RMB47,136,000.
Accordingly, the contractual liabilities under issued written put
option has been settled and the Company cancelled these shares in
May 2024.
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During the year ended 31 December 2024, a subsidiary of
the Group agreed to acquire entire equity interest in Flatiron
Merchants Inc. (“Flatiron”) from an independent third party
at a cash consideration of USD3,800,000 (equivalent to
RMB27,316,000) which represented the fair value of the licence,
the only asset held by Flatiron at the date of acquisition.

The Group paid a deposit of RMB3,541,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and the remaining has been paid
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group elected to apply the optional concentration test in
accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” and concluded
that the licence is considered a single identifiable asset.

Consequently, the Group determined that substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets (excluding cash and cash
equivalents) acquired is concentrated in a group of similar
identifiable assets and concluded that the acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business.
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern with
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged in both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes contractual liabilities under issued written put option
and bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 30, net of cash and
cash equivalents, and total equity of the Group, comprising share
capital and reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through raising of
new capital, issue of new debt or the redemption of the existing
debts.

2024 2023
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
SREE Financial assets
HHERAGTENEMEE Financial assets at amortised cost 3,025,773 1,893,722
BAREBEFAEGNEMEE  Financial assets at FVTPL 32,338 19,075
BAREEFAEMZERA Equity instruments at FVTOCI
BEm LA 101,825 198,207
3,159,936 2,111,004
EA =N Financial liabilities
REENATENEREE Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2,464,055 1,876,253
BEITH DR EIEIE T Contractual liabilities under issued
WENAaE written put option - 46,400
2,464,055 1,922,653
BB E RURIE Finance lease receivables 75,428 87,071
HEAaE Lease liabilities 2,968,629 833,253
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(i) ExmbkE
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FARTTER - EAREEEERINE
B - AEEREEANARES
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The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTPL, equity instruments at FVTOCI, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, bank deposit with original maturity over three months,
bank balances, trade and other payables, bank borrowings,
convertible loan notes, amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder, lease liabilities and contractual liabilities under
issued written put option. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management of the Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a
timely and effective manner.

The Group's activities expose it primarily to currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risk.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk
during the reporting period.

(i)  Currency risk

The Group have foreign currency sales and purchases,
bank balances and bank borrowings which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. The currency risk in respect
of the intra-group balances of the Group is immaterial.
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Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

BE aE
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARBTRT ARETT AR®BTRT AR®BTT

1,260,949 987,640 393,378 216,416
123,067 110,148 18,345 14,759
5,618 3,092 171,523 95,266
1,389,634 1,100,880 583,246 326,441

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the
need arise.
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Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in RMB against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’'s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for a
5% change in foreign currency rates. A negative number
below indicates an decrease in post-tax profit where RMB
strengthen 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5%
weakening of RMB against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit and the amounts below would be positive.

Enge Br¥g FEXE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

&

ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARSTT AR®TR ARKTET

(36,221)

(32,199) (4,372) (3,982) 6,927 3917
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(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group are exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to finance lease receivables (Note 23), fixed-rate
pledged bank deposits (Note 24), bank deposit with
original maturity over three months (Note 24), fixed-rate
bank borrowings (Note 30), lease liabilities (Note 31) and
contractual liabilities under issued written put option.

The Group are also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances and pledged
bank deposits (Note 24) and variable-rate bank borrowings
(Note 30). The Group cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and Loan Prime Rate of China (collectively as
“Variable Borrowing Rates”) arising from the Group’s bank
borrowings. The Group manages its interest rate exposures
by assessing the potential impact arising from any interest
rate movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the proportion of borrowings
in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are within
reasonable range.
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Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting
period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis
point increase or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings
are used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. Bank balances and bank deposits are excluded
from sensitivity analysis as the management considers that
the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis point higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 would decrease/increase by RMB1,672,000 and
RMB1,958,000 respectively. This is mainly attributable to
the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-rate
bank borrowings.

Other price risk

The Group are exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in equity securities measured at FVTOCI.
The above financial instruments are exposed to price risk
because of changes in market prices, where changes
are caused by factors specific to the individual financial
instruments or their issuers, or factors affecting all similar
financial instruments traded in the market. The exposure of
other price risk is considered to be insignificant. The Group
have appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.
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At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group is due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties. The Group’s credit risk is mainly associated
with bank balances, pledged bank deposits, bank deposit with
original maturity over three months, trade and other receivables,
contract assets and finance lease receivables.

Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts
with customers

The Group mainly conducted transactions with customers with
good quality and long term relationship, when accepting new
customers through offline channels, the Group consider the
reputation of the customer before contract is signed. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
continuously monitor the credit quality and financial condition of
the debtors to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

To manage risk arising from trade receivables and contract
assets, the Group have policies in place to ensure that credit
terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit
history and the management performs ongoing credit evaluations
of its counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers
and the credit quality of these customers is assessed, which
takes into account their financial position, past experience and
other factors.
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Trade receivables and contract assets arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The Group reassess lifetime ECL for trade receivables and
contract assets arising from contracts with customers to ensure
that adequate impairment loss is made for significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring. The ECL on these
assets are individually assessed for debtors with significant
increase in credit risk or credit-impaired and collectively
assessed based on internal credit ratings for the remaining
balance. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses internal credit ratings to assess with the impairment
for its customers because these customers consist of a large
number of customers which share common risk characteristics
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms. The
estimated loss rates are estimated on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort. The grouping and assessment are regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information. The management
believes that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL except for certain
other receivables have been measured based on lifetime ECL
with significant increase in credit risk. Details of the quantitative
disclosures are set out below in this note.
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Finance lease receivables

The management estimates the loss rates of finance lease
receivables based on historical credit loss experience of
the debtors. Based on assessment by the management, the
management considers the ECL for finance lease receivables is
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was recognised.

Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with
original maturity over three months

The Group transact with banks with high credit ratings. The credit
risk for bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit
with original maturity over three months as at 31 December 2024
and 2023 was considered as insignificant as such amounts were
placed in reputable banks. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bank deposit with
original maturity over three months by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of the
respective credit rating grades published by external credit
rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m ECL
on pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bank deposit
with original maturity over three months is considered to be
insignificant and therefore no loss allowance was recognised.



RITHER  BFIRITEHRRER A Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with

BB =188 pRT = (&) original maturity over three months (Continued)
AEBRABEERR TR TG BIE The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
AT $ER - the following categories:
g5 EWRE ESREWRERBERS
RIS EFER 87 kBEHERKAE ERRENUINESREE

Financial assets other
Trade receivables than trade receivables

finance lease and finance lease
Internal credit rating Description receivables receivables
9 R HEFEHERE L e HRE HIRBREEEE - 12\ BRHEEEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of REEEERAE 12m ECL
default and does not have any Lifetime ECL - not
past-due amounts credit-impaired
BIEE BEBALBEIPHRREREBSE THEHREEEE — 12 ABBREEEE
Watch list 2EEE REEEERAE 12m ECL
Debtor frequently repays after due Lifetime ECL — not
dates but usually settle in full credit-impaired
A &R BEBANEENESIIBER HIEHEEEE — 2HENEEEE - KE4
Doubtful A RS B R AR L N AEEEERE FERE
There have been significant Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL — not credit-
increases in credit risk since credit-impaired impaired

initial recognition through
information developed internally
or external resources

B8 EREBRPEECEEEARE 2HEHEEREE - 2HBESHEEEE —#4E
Loss There is evidence indicating the BEEERE BRE
asset is credit — impaired Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL - credit-
credit-impaired impaired
5 BRBATEEARRNEREV RS MEHERE W sHA B RIE
Write-off BN 00 E R ) W el AT 5 Amount is written off Amount is written off

There is evidence indicating that
the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
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TRFNAEEAETEDEEEE
AHEMEREE  ANBEERBEMR
SRS TR EERRMAIER

Wi SABEEIR
External
Notes credit rating

RESRAGENCREE

Financial assets at amortised
cost

s EARTETRRIEE 24 AARAA+
BE=ERNRTHR AA and AA+

Bank balances, pledged bank
deposits and bank deposit with
original maturity over three

months
BARNTE - PN % FEA
Trade receivables - contracts with N/A
customers
EfielsE 7 TER
Other receivables N/A

Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with

original maturity over three months (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s

financial assets, contract assets and finance lease receivables

which are subject to ECL assessment:

RIEERR 12BN BRSEEEE NUFETEE
Internal 2024
credit rating 12m or Lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

NER
N/A

ARBTR  ARHTR
RMB'000  RWMB'000

12ARRNEEER
12m ECL

1,624,617

EER /B SHREEERR (BT
Low riskMatch listf ~ SFEERE)

Lifetime ECL (collective
assessment, not credit-
impaired) 1,251,385

2E/AR HRAEEER (B

Doubtful

BE
Loss
[EER/
Low risk/
HitE
Watch list

B

Loss

FEERE)
Lifetime ECL (individual

assessment, not credit-

impaired) 53,477
2EEREEER (FEHE)
Lifetime ECL (Credit-impaired) 6,295 1,311,157

12ERESEESE
12m ECL 79,456
2HEBESEE GHEEAR)
Lifetime ECL (not credit-
impaired) 70,920
BERE
Credit-impaired 2,982 153,358

NREEALE
2023
Gross carrying amount
ARETL  ARETIL
RMB'000 RMB'000
984,729
827,982
2,858
45,555 876,395
50,526
70,920
2,938 124,384
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Wi ABEEFR
External
Notes credit rating

BARERYAE 23 TER
Finance lease receivables N/A
BHEE TR
Contract assets N/A

B3

(a) BEIHREWHKE -  GHNEELBMERE

FEWRIFTTE - A B R BIPR B S
WEEREIRMALERF B2 HE
HERBERES  BRERARAREE
MBEERENREIRES - AEH
RANBEEFIR (REEREER
oBERERR  BIRERAL)
EBEZSHANBREEER -

ERRITER - RITEHRRREIHA
BE=EAMRITER - AU
Ehkke E  AEERB12EA
EHEEER - BRIFB VIS HRER
ERBREEEN MAKEERERE
HEAEEER -

Internal

Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with

original maturity over three months (Continued)
RBEERR

credit rating

ERk/

Low risk/

[EER/
Eliza
Low risk/
Watch list

1R HRARERE NUFHEAE NBFRAEE
2024 2023

Gross carrying amount

ARETR  ARETR

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

12m or Lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

AEBT  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000

SEBBREER (RET
FEEHR)

Lifetime ECL (collective
assessment, not credit-
impaired)

SHRHEEEE (BT
FEEHRE)

Lifetime ECL (collective
assessment, not credit-
impaired)

75,428 87,071

22,290 7322

Notes:

(@)

For the trade receivables, contract assets and finance lease
receivables, the Group applied the simplified approach in IFRS 9
to measure loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant increase in credit risk or credit-impaired, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items by using
internal credit rating, grouped by nature and credit risk in the
classes of low risk, watch list or doubtful.

For pledged bank deposits, bank balances and bank deposit with
original maturity over three months, other receivables and deposits,
the Group has applied the 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL.
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Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with
original maturity over three months (Continued)

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group applies
internal credit rating for its customers in relation to its operation.
The following table provides information about the exposure
to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed on a
collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors
with significant increase in credit risk or credit-impaired with
gross carrying amounts as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 of
RMB59,772,000 and RMB48,413,000 of the Group were assessed
individually, respectively.

2024 2023
FYEBERE EZEKNE THEEX BEZRENFIE
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate  receivables
% AR¥TR %  AREBTT
% RMB’ 000 % RMB’000
2.38 1,223,005 2.33 800,955
4.97 30 6.65 391
8.71 28,350 9.92 26,636

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.
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original maturity over three months (Continued)

Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has

been recognised for trade receivables and contract assets.

At 1 January 2023
Impairment losses recognised
Impairment losses reversed
Written-off

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2023
Impairment losses recognised
Impairment losses reversed
Written-off

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2024

difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

>HES
FEER
(GEEERE)
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
ARBFT
RMB’000

23,024
11,399
(9,621)

(624)

24,178
15,297
(4,402)

488

35,561

>HES
FEBE
(E&RHE)
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
ARBFT
RMB’000

10,764

37,583
(864)

(2,735)

44,748

(1,158)
(37,390)

6,200

Total
AREFT
RMB’000

33,788
48,982
(10,485)
(2,735)
(624)

68,926
15,297
(5,560)

(37,390)

488

41,761

The Group makes full provision for trade receivables when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
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Bank balances, pledged bank deposits and bank deposit with
original maturity over three months (Continued)

B EAR -

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances that
has been recognised for other receivables.

2 HATE 2 HTEH

1218 A FEH FEEE FEFE
FEEE GEEERME) (EERE) st

Lifetime ECL Lifetime

(not credit- ECL (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
AREFIT ARBTT AREFTT ARET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7K2023F1H71H At 1 January 2023 588 8,407 2,838 11,833

BERRERE Impairment losses
recognised 10,330 - 48 10,378
R Transfer (6,033) 6,029 4 -
B R EIREEE Impairment losses reversed (21) - - (21)
85 Written-off - - (4) (4)
ERTEEE Exchange adjustments 674 - - 674
R2023F 12 A31H At 31 December 2023 5,538 14,436 2,886 22,860
EERRERE Impairment losses

recognised 3,176 185 51 3,412
B R EURERIE Impairment losses reversed (4,841) - - (4,841)
M H 38 & Exchange adjustments 167 - - 167
H2024F12A31H At 31 December 2024 4,040 14,621 2,937 21,598

RBEZERIE  AEBEERL#
FEEERARENRENESEE
YK - URAKEEHEERHRE
T WRERERAERINZE - B
BENRERGARITERNER -
RETERZHWIZF 2 EERITE

Eo
A °

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitor
and maintain a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management also monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings,

ensures compliance with loan covenants and renews bank

borrowings, if necessary.
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As at 31 December 2024
Trade and other payables
Bank borrowings

- fixed rate

- variable rate
Refund liabilities

Lease liabilities

As at 31 December 2023

Trade and other payables

Amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder

Bank borrowings
- fixed rate
- variable rate

Refund liabilities

Contractual liabilities under issued
written put option

Lease liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into

relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the

end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The

amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted

cash flows including both interest and principal.

nEr  EEXY

nE 1§/
Weighted ~ On demand
average or within

interest rate 1 year
% ARETR

% RMB'000

1,465,972

0.00-3.80 581,203
0.00 - 3.95 148,852
24,283

2,220,310

3.00-9.50 422,067

mET  RERY

flz 15/
Weighted ~ On demand
average or within

interest rate 1 year
% ARETR

% RMB'000
1,191,140

1123

0.00-3.00 203,429
3.00-4.45 197,229
20,797

8.00 -
1,613,718

3.00-95 199,401

1-2years
ARBTT
RMB’000

28,941

28,941

523,828

120F

1-2 years
ARETT
RMB'000

29,736

52,800
82,536

203,183

2558

2-5years
NS
RMB’ 000

247,313

247,313

1,335,479

2-5years
AEETTR
RMB'000

276,254

276,254

423,139

SENL

More than
5 years
ARETR
RMB’000

2,046,923

5% E

More than
5 years
ARETT
RMB'000

161,879

AERRS
TEAE
Total
undiscounted
cash flows
AEETT
RMB’000

1,465,972

581,203
425,106
24,283

2,496,564

4,328,297

AERRS
nEwg
Total
undiscounted
cash flows
ARETT
RMB'000

203,429
503,219
20,797

52,800
1,972,508

987,602

FEAE
Total
Carrying
amount
ARETT
RMB’000

1,465,972

580,409
393,391
24,283

2,464,085

2,968,629

HFHAE
Total
Carrying
amount
AREFT
RMB'000

202,437
460,756
20,797

46,400
1,922,653

833,263
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Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts of
these Group’s bank loans amounted to RMB43,435,000. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the management
does not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The
management believes that all such bank loans will be repaid
less than one year after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial investments
carried at fair value on a recurring basis by valuation method.
The different levels have been defined as follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that
is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level
2).

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level
3).

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
use market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The management
engaged qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the models. Information about
the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair
value of various assets is disclosed below.



HEERELUDN A EETENE (i) Fair value of financial instruments that are measured at fair

AEENLEE value on a recurring basis
rEEETEREERERARE Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
RBEHRARAARBESE - T are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
AREFHEZSSEERER period. The following table gives information about how the
BEZALEBENNEE AR fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
(EFRIRE » PR B{EE R R are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and
AHIE) © inputs used).
TURERARE
EREE/EREE RATEANAAEE MEBEER  HEAARIZBAHE EXTTREGAHE ERABENEE
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fair value techniques) unobservable unobservable input($) to
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) fair value
045 2003F
2024 2023
AE®TR  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000
RAAEET ABRN
tREE
Financial at FVTPL
SEMER 23,263 10000 £=§ WNE-BRERRZREE  TEA Byl
Structured deposits Level 2 EFEBROFIOHE  NA N/A
income approach
- The discounted cash
flow method was used
to estimate the interest
from the underlying bank
deposits
FLTASRRE 9,075 9075 E=h ABRENRBERE AR (1) AR ()
Unlisted life insurance policy Level 3 Quoted purchase price of the ~ N/A (Note 1) N/A (Note 1)

life insurance policy



(1)

Fair value of financial instruments that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (Continued)

BEEEEL AR EETENE (i)
AEENREE ()
SHEE/ SHEE RATEARAAEE MEEER
Financial assets/ Fair value
financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy
045 023F
2024 2023
ARETR  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000
BAAEEGARB2ERA
MERIA
Equity instruments at
FVTOCI
tTkERS 15,635 0978 F-4
Listed equity securities 15,635 20978 Level 1
FriRiERE 86,190 1771209  &=H
Unlisted equity Level 3

TURERARE

HERTRIEBARE EXTTBREGAHE BRABENEE
Valuation Significant Relationship of
techniques) unobservable unobservable input($) to
and key input(s) input(s) fair value
FRBTSAEZEAE  ER R
Quoted bid prices in an active  N/A N/A

market
ML -EIDRATE T H0BFRAMENANA AEEE/WAEHER L

BOEERARA(AEE  HOEEE/WARES  ABEES

B/ WAl EERARRE  B(WH) The higher the EV/Revenue

MTEEEIZEAZE  EV/Revenue multiple of 0.6x  multiple, the higher the
Market approach -Guideline as at 31 December 2023 fair value

Public Company Method and 2024

with Enterprise Value to (Note 2)

GEARENIE RS aPN -7 3:0k-E0b SN
SEHAABEERZEM

Mo EAHMEERFTIEZNE
AT EHCEEE WAL
AR 5% 0 R20234F
K2024F12A31B¥IELET
R ERAENTELTE
j; °

Revenue (‘EV/Revenug”)
muttiple and market value
of the underlying investment
as key inputs

Note 1:The changes in unobservable inputs will not result in
significant higher or lower fair value measurements.

Note 2:A 5% increase/decrease in the expected EV/Revenue multiple
holding all other variables constant, the impact on the carrying
amount of the unlisted equity investments was insignificant as
at 31 December 2023 and 2024.
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(iii) WIRMBEEEEURNABETE
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BEEMSREBENDAEE
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HIRTEAR & MR SRR P IR A
AARMEREERSRAEN
REERERNABERBSE

(i) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

The following table presents the changes in level 3

instruments (except for convertible loan notes as disclosed

in Note 34) during the year:

BOAREERA
BENEREE

Financial assets

at FVTPL

ARBFT

RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 8,619
Purchased/addition -
Fair value changes 456
At 31 December 2023 9,075
Disposal/settlements -
Fair value changes -
At 31 December 2024 9,075

BARBETA
Hitp 2 ERA K

E®mITHR
Equity
instruments
at FVTOCI
ARBTFT
RMB’000
165,380

2,650
9,199

177,229
(172)
(90,867)

86,190

(iii) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that

are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair

value disclosures are required).

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying

amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial

liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated

financial statements approximate their fair values at the end

of the reporting period.



M - BB N&RE

REEE R RH)EE R
EMEEWAW%E

NF

Companies

RN RBEDREEBR AR
Shenzhen Zbao Logistics Technology

Co., Ltd.

(RYITREDRBEER QA

REBEERERA

Zbao International Limited

(RBBERERAR)

BRABBRERAR (B%)
Apeman International Co., Ltd. (Hong

Kong) (IR ABIBRERAR(EB))

FINERAEARAE]

Shenzhen Hanlv Trading Co.,Ltd.
(RINEREEBRAF

B&

Relationships

ek UNE]

Associate

—REEE DR RS
NG|

Subsidiary of an
associate

— KB R RV
~A]

Subsidiary of an
associate

ek UNE]

Associate

Property, plant and equipment
Capital injection in associates and
equity instruments at FVTOCI

XEME
Nature of
transactions

Logistics solutions
fees

MiREER T R E R
Logistics solutions
fees

MR ERRTT R
Logistics solutions

income

DR BRR TT BRI
Logistics solutions
income

VDR BRR TT BRI
Logistics solutions

income

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

194,827

1,959

196,786

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

13,002

292,247

678

37,464

9,082

2023
AREFIT
RMB’000

37,662

1,959

39,621

2023
AREFTT
RMB’000

4,974

48,772

8,539

20,338

8,291



N H]

Companies

2y itk
Ningbo Western Post

RYITHBEEFRA

Shenzhen Aukey Smart Information
Technology Co., Ltd.
CRYITHHEREERQF)

I
Ningbo Ruiao

LC Western Post
LC Western Post

RINTHEERHR BT BR 2
Shenzhen Whale Aluo technology
innovation Co., Ltd. (&I

EEM B AR A ) (FE) (Note)

MisE REE2024F 12831 HIEFE » 3%
B EH2024F6 AR THAME N

EI

e

Relationships

BEAR

Associate

NS

Associate

kYNl

Associate

i /NG|

Associate

BEAT

Associate

XHME
Nature of
transactions

MR ERR T =W
Logistics solutions

income

Purchase of goods

YDim BRR TT BRI
Logistics solutions

income

MREER T EE R

Logistics solutions
fees

MR ERRTT =W

Logistics solutions
income

YRR T IR
Logistics solutions
income

be associate since June 2024.

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

24,606

1,800

694

111,073

48,829

32,296

2023
ARKETT
RMB'000

27,989

4,805

75

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2024, this entity has been ceased to
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2024F12A31BLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(a) Guarantees provided by the Group’s related parties and
warranties

Certain related parties of the Group have provided
guarantees to banks to support the loans provided by these
banks to the Group, with loan balances detailed below:

2024 2023
ARBTR ARETT

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

REde i EREFRAZ L Mr. Lu, Mr. Ze and Ms. Zhang - 367,597
fE S AR FNZE S A Mr. Lu and Mr. Ze - 187,010
REE Mr. Yu - 5,271

(b) EEEEABFM
FRES E=LHEMTERER
ABBHFBAT

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors, supervisors and other
members of key management during the year was as
follows:

2024 2023
AR¥T R AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

e kEMEEE R Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits 25,620 24,702
RIKREF Retirement benefits 204 176
25,824 24,878

B EERHMIZEEAR
MFEN R FENE B e EBIEAR
REMIZBBRET -

The remuneration of directors, supervisors and other
members of key management is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the performance
of individuals and market trends.

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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41. EEEKHR 41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
AEENBRIUERRNEEEEE The Group's borrowings had been secured by the pledge of
R FRAENEREDT - the Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the respective

assets are as follows:

2024 2023

AR¥F R ARBTT

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

Y - BB RF Property, plant and equipment 527,399 561,565
CREAE Right-of-use assets - 30,871
BERRITIFR Pledged bank deposits 113,577 11,332
640,976 603,768

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024



TERAMAEERETDELANEE
2 pEReRFRSEY - BE
BAYHEEANBBERRSNEBALR
RREREHFEARESEARERE
RPOBERMEETHEENRIRE
MEIE -

1202351718 At 1 January 2023
BERENE Financing cash flows
it New leases

B A% Exchange adjustments
MEBRE Fair value adjusiments
Bft /B EAME  Prepaid/accrued issue cost
S Rx Interest expenses accrued

12023512431 R At 31 December 2023

BERENE Financing cash flows
it New leases

EREE Exchange adjustments

B /EEAKRE  Prepaid/accrued issue cost
8 Rx Interest expenses accrued

H2024E12A318 At 31 December 2024

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in
the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows

from financing activities.

BEMEH
E# EHEER  RAHET Jeit
BX  ERE#E  HERE  RR¥E  WRNEE  ROHA @t
Contractual

Amount liabilities
due toanon- under issued
Convertible Lease  controlling  written put Accrued
Borrowings  loan notes liabilities ~ shareholder options  issue cost Total
ARETL  ARETL  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  AR¥TR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

617300 416981 839,08 1123 43,200 A
0205 (405%)  (184313) - - - (594554)
- - 118891 - - - 118891

- - 18357 - - - 18357

- (7,239) - - - - (7,239)

- - - - - 1,339 1339
25,508 20,79 4,20 - 3,200 - 90,722
663,193 - 833253 1,123 46,400 1330 1,545,308
282,080 S (249204) (1123 (71%) (1979  (3,66)
- o 2261046 - - o 206104

- - 30432 - - - 3043

- - - - - 19303 19.303
28507 - 93,192 - 736 - 145
973,800 - 296862 - - 850 3,943,279



FR - ARAIRBRERREE R During the year, details of the subsidiaries directly and

MEFANBRRNFEEH N indirectly held by the Company at the end of the reporting
e period are set out below:
AT/ ERR
WEARZR ey ifER/ RE FRRFEERAERERNILA IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capital/number Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
E# [
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
HARRERAR 3 32000057 100 100 - - REBTALERAE RERH
Aukey International Limited Hong Kong 1SD320,000 EER
(MEERERRA) Operation of online stores

on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of

products
MR EER AT hE ARE 100 100 - - NERTREERE RERY
Shenzhen Aukeyhi PRC 5,000,007 EER
Technology Co., Ltd. RMB5,000,000 Operation of online stores
(RINERERARAR) on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
MR RRt A EERARAT hE ARE 100 100 - - RERR
Shenzhen Qianhai Gaoya Shengshi PRC 5,000,007 Investment holding
Business Management Co., Ltd. RMB5,000,000
(RHAsERRt X ERARAA)
SRRENREREARA hE ARE 100 100 - - NERTREERE RERY
Hainan Aoji Technology Co., Ltd. PRC 5,000,000 EEM
(SEEENRERELLH) RMBS,000,000 Operation of online stores

on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of

products



43. KRB FEMBLEFEE

(&)

(a) MIBRR—HRER (Z)

FRE KRR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZ2024F12A31HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

HRAY/HRE
WELFER feny iEs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitalnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX F3
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
REMHANRARAR hE ARH# 100 100 - - REETRBLRE RERE
Changchun Chengji Technology Co., Ltd.  PRC 2,000,007 EER
(RETHENRBRAR) RMB2,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
TR EFERARAA HE AR 100 100 - - REETREERE RERE
Shenzhen Allsight E-business Co., Lid. ~ PRC 10,000,007 EER
(RImEREFERERAR) RMB10,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
RIEERMREERAR HE N 70 70 - - NEETRELAE RERH
([RAERR ) PRC 10,000,0007C EEm
Shenzhen Fanttik Technology Innovation RMB10,000,000 Operation of online stores
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Fanttik") on e-commerce platforms,
(AR R EBIRAR) procurement and sales of
products
BRRETHR (BN BRAE HE ARE - - 70 IR BEER
Fanifik Technology Innovation Co., Lid. ~ PRC 3,000,000 (Fi#¥v)  Manufacturing products
(ERRETRR(EMARAT) RMB3,000,000 N/A
(Note iv)
ERA (R MEARAR HE N - - 70 MR REFHTALEEE RER
Fan Peixi (Shenzhen) Technology PRC 5,000,000 (Wskv)  HEER
Co., Lid. (ERA(RINBHARAT) RMB5,000,000 NJA~ Operation of online stores
(Note iv)  on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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B.ARBAETEMBAAFE 43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBLAR—RER(EZ) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HRAY/HRE
WEAFEER Beny iREs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitallnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
RITERREERAT hE ARH# - - 100 100 REBTREEHE RERH
Shenzhen Yiya Technology Co., Ltd. PRC 1,000,000 EER
(RImEEREERAR) RMB1,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
RITARNHE HRRLA et ARE - - 100 100 REFTAERAE FERE
Shenzhen Muyi Wenshi Trading Co., Lid. ~ PRC 1,000,000 EER
(RIBARLHE HBRAR) RMB1,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
AT R AR HE N - - TER 100 REATREZAE RBRH
Shenzhen Weiyi Technology Co., Lid. PRC 1,000,0007 (W) £ER
(R EEREERAR) RMB1,000,000 NA Operation of online stores
(Note v) on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
MITHEEEERAT HE ARH - - 100 100 REATRERNE KB
Shenzhen Ruisheng Trading LTD PRC 10,0007 RiEEER
(RmHEREERAA) RMB10,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
LEERERRENRARAR lEt N - - 59 MR EBER
Shanghai Weisitusi Home Technology Co.,, PRC 10,0007 (Ffzkv)  Inactive
LTD (LB RERZRENEARLT) RMB100,000 N/A
(Note iv)

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2024
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(a) MIBRR—HRER (Z)

FRE KRR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZ2024F12A31HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2024

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

S/ 2R
WEARER feny iEs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitalnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
ATHRMRERLAE hE ARE 51 R REFTREEAE RBRH
Shenzhen Acjia Technology Co., LTD PRC 5,000,0007T (RzEiv) EER
(RImEFRERAR) RMB5,000,000 N/A Operation of online stores
(Note iv) on e-commerce platforms
procurement and sales of
products
BFRRABERAA (3 10000E7 51 TER REHTAEERE RERH
Aojia Technology International limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 (W) £ER
(BRUBEBERA) N/A Operation of online stores
(Note iv)  on e-commerce platforms
procurement and sales of
products
MITERENEERAA HE ARE - - 100 100 REATEEHE RE
Shenzhen Fuxiangyi Technology Co., Lid. ~ PRC 1,000,000 R#EER
(RITEEEREARAR) RMB1,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
MIMEEEEERAT GilEd ARE 100 100 - - RHEEE
Shenzhen Maoshun Industrial Co., Ltd. ~ PRC 210,325,3497C Real estate management
(RITEIEEXERAA) RMB210,325,349
RBEATRERLE HE ARE - - 100 100 EHEEE
Shenzhen Jiajiu Logistics Co., Ltd. PRC 600,000,007 Real estate management
(RIFEAMRERAT) RMBB00,000,000
MITEBERHHARRA k! ARE - - 48 18 Bf BB HEEERRE
WEST POST (S) CO. LTD PRC 14,457 8417 Warehousing, freight
(RITEBEERHARAT) RMB14,457 841 forwarding, supply chain
management services

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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3. XRFEENBLRRAFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBLAR—RER(EZ) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
S/ 2R
WEAFEER Beny iREs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitallnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
F3
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
WESTERN POST (HK) LIMTED (fii3ti) &% 14,457 841 AT - - 48 8 B BB (EEEERE
WESTERN POST (HK) LIMITED (Note ii) ~ Hong Kong HK$ 14,457,841 Warehousing, freight
forwarding, supply chain
management services
Western Post Group Holding Inc B 15,699,000% T - - 8 8 B BB (EEEERK
Western Post Group Holding Inc USA USD15,699,000 Warehousing, freight
forwarding, supply chain
management services
WESTERN POST (US) LLC (FizEii) £H 1000057 - - 48 18 B% EE REEEERH
WESTERN POST (US) LLC (Note i) USA USD10,000 Warehousing, freight
forwarding, supply chain
management services
Auklogis Gmon (Ffii) 28 1,000,000B( T - - 48 18 B EE HEEERRE
Auklogis Gmbh (Note ii) Germany EUR1,000,000 Warehousing, freight
forwarding, supply chain
management services
WP GROUND INC. el 5,000 - - 48 18 BH EBE REEEIRG
WP GROUND INC. (Note i) USA 5,000 Warehousing, freight
forwarding, supply chain
management services
CONG TY TNHH WESTERN POST il 2,550,000,000 - - 48 18 REEE REEEERG
(VIETNAM) (B73i) Vietnam HAEE Warehousing, freight
CONG TY TNHH WESTERN POST VND forwarding, supply chain
(VIETNAM) (Note i) 2,550,000,000 management services

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.

Annual Report 2024
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B.ARBAETEMBAAFE 43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) HBLAT—RER (£&) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
S/ 2R
WEARER feny iEs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitalnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
Aucoor Gmbh (HizEi) 28 25,0008 - - 100 100 REFTRERAE FERE
Aucoor Gmbh (Note ii Germany EUR25,000 EEM

Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,

procurement and sales of
products
WESTERN POST (SG) PTE. LTD. (fif3tii) st 14,457,841 48 48 - - BB SE (EEEERK
WESTERN POST (SG PTE.LTD. (Note i) Singapore AT Warehousing, freight
SGD14,457 841 48 48 - - forwarding, supply chain
management services
BEERERAA (30 200,000% 7 - - 100 100 REATREAE RERH
Broadcare International Limited Hong Kong 1SD200,000 EER
(BlEERARAR) - - 100 100 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
AUKEY MEA DMCC A 100,00041% - - 100 100 EEXHK
(EITEAICOOK MENA DMCC) Dubai AED100,000 Inactive
AUKEY MEA DMCC (previously known as
AICOOK MENA DMCC)
Aukey Group Holding Limited e 250,007 - - 100 100 EBEH
Aukey Group Holding Limited USA 1USD250,000 - - 100 100 Inactive
ACE FARMER LLC £H 100,000%7t - - 100 100 EExH
ACE FARMER LLC USA USD100,000 - - 100 100 Inactive

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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3. XRFEENBLRRAFE

43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBAR—MER(EF) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
S/ 2R
WEARER Beny iREs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitallnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
NEXTFUR LLC *H 100,000%7 - - 100 100 REATRERAE RERH
NEXTFUR LLC USA USD100,000 EEM
Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
Central Power International Limited LLC B 100,000%7C - - 100 100 REATALERE FERH
Central Power International Limited LLC ~ USA USD100,000 £ER
Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
Quantech Innovations LLC 8 100,000% 7 - - 100 100 REETALERE 7%
Quantech Innovations LLC USA USD100,000 REEER
Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
AUGROUP HOLDINGS INC. ZE 5,000,000%7 - - 100 100 EExH
AUGROUP HOLDINGS INC. USA USD5,000,000 Inactive
R MRERDA ket AEB500,0007T - - 70 10 RERTAEEREE RERH
Suzhou Fanttik Technology Co., Ltd. PRC RMB500,000 EEM
(EMERRRRERAR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
Restu LLC X8 100,000%7 - - 100 100 EExH
Restu LLC USA USD100,000 Inactive

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.
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HZE2024F12A31BLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

B.ARBAETEMBAAFE 43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBLAR—RER(E) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
S/ 2R
WEARER feny iEs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitalnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
Wowme LLC e 100,000% 7 - - 100 100 REFTRERAE FERE
Wowme LLC USA USD100,000 EEm

Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products

Physpo Care LLC & 10000057 - - 100 100 EBER
Physpo Care LLC USA USD100,000 Inactive

FANTTIK INNOVATION INC x8 100,000%7 - - 70 10 REETAEERE RERHE
FANTTIK INNOVATION INC USA USD100,000 EER
Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products

KBJ Trading LLC E=El 451,005 - - 100 100 REETALEAE FERS
KBJ Trading LLC USA USD451,000 EEMm
Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products

HEERERAA gk 10000%7 - - 100 100 REFTALEEE RE
Auwin International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 RHEER
(HRERARAR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH 221
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3. XRFEENBLRRAFE

For the year ended 31 December 2024

43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBAR—MER(EF) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
HRAY/HRE
WEARER Beny iREs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitallnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
ERREFARAR (30 10000%7 - - 70 0 REETABLAE RERE
Fanttik Innovation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 EER
(BRRENERAF) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
AIFEIR AR ERAR HE AR 100 100 - - REETREERE RERE
Shenzhen Autral Technology Innovation ~ PRC 1,000,000 EER
Co., Ltd (RIIRERBAHERAR) RMB1,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
ERHENEERAT hE ARH 100 100 - - REETRBLAE RERE
Ningbo Auwin Technology Co., Ltd. PRC 1,000,000 EER
(ERERMRERLA) RMB1,000,000 Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
HeERERAR £ 10,0007 - - 100 100 REATRERAE RBRH
Autral International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 EER
(HelERERRR) Operation of online stores

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd.
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(a) MIBRR—HRER (Z)

e KR ERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2024F12A31BLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

S/ 2R
WEARER feny iEs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitalnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
HREFHERRAR (30 10,000%7 - - 51 51 REATABEAE RERE
Ausum Electronic Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000 EEM
(BAEFHRAERLA) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
BEHRARERAT B 10,0007 - - 7 75 REATAEEAE RERY
AOQI TECHNOLOGY INTERNATIONAL  Hong Kong HK$10,000 EER
LIMITED (FEMERAR AF) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
RFHENEARAT hE 10,000,000 A K% 75 75 - - REETRBLAE RERE
Shenzhen Aagi Technology Co., Ltd PRC RMB10,000,000 EER
(R R EERAR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
HERRERAR £ 10,0007 - - 100 100 REATRERAE RBRH
Aulong International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 EER
(BEERERAR) Operation of online stores

on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products

BE (R BEABEROBROR —Z-NFFH
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43. KRB FEMBLEFEE 43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBAR—MER(EF) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
S/ 2R
WEARER Beny iREs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitallnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
HEERERAA (30 10000%7 - - 100 100 REBTREEHE RERH
Auson International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 EER
(HHERAERAR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
HEERERAR (30 10,0007%7 - - 100 100 HEATAEEEE RERH
Aucome International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 EER
(BRERARAR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
Hulkman LLC *H 100,000%7 - - 100 100 EEXHK
Hulkman LLC USA USD100,000 Inactive
BOLD RISE INNOVATIONS INC. i 100,000% 7 - - 100 100 EEXH
BOLD RISE INNOVATIONS INC. USA USD100,000 Inactive
Sunton Gmih g 25,0008 - - 100 100 REBTAEZAE RBRH
Sunton Gmbh Germany EUR25,000 EER
Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HZE2024F12A31BLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

B.ARBAETEMBAAFE 43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

(#&) SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(a) MIBLAR—RER(E) (a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)
S/ 2R
WEARER feny iEs/ BE FARAEERHEERRNLE IEEY
Place of
incorporation/ Registered
registration capitalnumber Proportion of effective ownership
Name of the subsidiaries and operation of shares interest held by the Company Principal activities
EX B
Directly Indirectly
2024 2023 2024 2023
% % % %
% % % %
S2, Inc. *H 5450057 - - 91 91 REATABERE RERE
S2, Inc. USA USD54,500 EEm

Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,

procurement and sales of
products
RAmERENRARAT il ARE3,0000007 51 51 - - REATRLEAE RBRY
AUSUM MOTOR TECHNOLOGY CO., PRC RMB3,000,000 EER
LIMITED (RAIm &R S ER AR AR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
EFESRRCRERABLE (BRAR) H AR 74 74 - - RERRK
Xiamen Lanjing Wave Breaking Enterprise  PRC 126,000,0007 Investment holding
Management Partnership (Limited RMB126,000,000
partnership) (EESRALEERAY
tE(BRER)
Flatiron Merchants, INC. X8 4,000 00070 - - 100 MER BE EE HEREEERK
Flatiron Merchants, INC. USA USD4,000,000 (F3iil) Warehousing, freight
N/A (Note iii)  forwarding, supply chain
management services
R EYHRARAT ik ARE1,0000007 100 100 - - REATALEAE RBRY
Shenzhen Likemiao Technology Co., Lid ~ PRC RMB1,000,000 EER
(AT REERAR) Operation of online stores
on e-commerce platforms,
procurement and sales of
products
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Z - ZEEENEARERT
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R2024F12A31H * 254K
(2023 : 249K ) RAIWEE
ERBE TEHEERNRES
giE EATERTa LafE
RPVEMALL « ZERRABAR
AMEEE2ENBAR - EER
" RELAHAEEEENFE
BEUWBmEATE  FIZEHE
NAMERZBRNITE °

M -

() REEHR - HEMBARHE
TEREBES

(il ZEBAOBSEMNNEBAR
22— (E&RMFE43(b)) °

ZBENEE2024F 12 A31
HIEFEw UGS -

&

(iii)
(iv) ZEBENREZ2024F12A31
BIEFER

(v) ZEBENEZE2024F12H31
A 1 E R -

(vi) AREBRPREMRIOAE
MBARE AR EEELRE

The English translation of the names of the above
companies is for reference only. The official names of these
entities are in Chinese.

As at 31 December 2024, there are 254 (2023: 249)
companies, with no assets and liabilities, paid-up capital
and business operation, established solely for the purpose
of registration of seller stores on e-commerce platforms.
These companies are indirectly wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, respectively. In the opinion of the
Directors, these companies do not principally affect the
results of assets of the Group, to give details of these
subsidiaries would result in particular of excessive length.

Notes:

(i) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities as at
the end of the reporting period.

(i) The entity is one of the subsidiaries of the Western Post Group
as defined in Note 43(b).

(iiiy  The entity was acquired during the year ended 31 December
2024.

(iv) The entity was established during the year ended 31
December 2024.

(v) The entity was deregistered during the year ended 31
December 2024.

(vi) All of the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC are
wholly domestic entities.



TRIRAEE A EANIFZK
M IEE BB R RS

EMALER
WEAREH RESRBHE
Country of
incorporation/
principal place
Name of the subsidiary operation

WESTERN POST (SG) PTE.  #EIEH - SEMRE - #t
UD//WmEi%Eﬂ E%aﬁ%%
BERRARENBAT  PRC Warehousing,
((BBHEE]) (M5) freight forwarding,

WESTERN POST (SG) supply chain
PTE LTD./Shenzhen management services
Western Post Intelligent
Warehouse Technology
Co., Ltd. and its
subsidiaries (“Western
Post Group’) (Note)

AEFERERNERNEER
BN

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests

M BEAKEREHEEERES
48%MIFNEE  ADRFRIEER
RAREH B EEMNARE
PHE RPN ERIERERE
HE—EEmARRAZIKAER
BEBEBRT ZRRBGRIFETEE
SRR 2 PRI S0 657 8 1B
RRFHPRIE ©

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling
interests:

RERAAREEER ARFHERBENZE

EROLA (Fx%) KARE Rt FERER
Proportion of non- Total comprehensive
controlling (expense)
interests held by equity income allocated to Accumulated
holders non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
% % ARBTR AREBTT ARMTRT AR%TRL
% % RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000
52 52 16,637 (2,447) 30,946 14,309

(1,154) (3,736)

29,792 10,673

Note: Although the Group has only 48% ownership in the Western
Post Group, the directors of the Company concluded that
the Group has a sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct
the relevant activities of the Western Post Group with sole
director delegated by the Company and each of the remaining
shareholders of Western Post Group will follow the decision of
the Company pursuant to the agreements entered among the
shareholders of Western Post Group.
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3. XRFEENBLRRAFE
(#&)

(b) WEEAFRBMENS2EN
WA R ()
ARG AR OH
B ARG ERBELIT - b
TR B AR5 R A R

43.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests (Continued)

The financial information of subsidiaries in which the Group
has significant non-controlling interests is summarised
below. The following summarised financial information

HEIHAI R © shows the pre-offset amounts within the Group.
2024 2023
ARETR ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEE Western Post Group
mBEE Current assets 821,075 464,694
FRBEE Non-current assets 2,897,821 838,847
nBaE Current liabilities 884,069 587,595
FRBEE Non-current liabilities 2,734,404 674,672
BEZE Net assets 100,423 41,274
ABEEEERER Non-controlling interests of Western Post Group 31,295 14,309
WA Revenue 2,816,628 2,393,750
% Expense 2,781,701 2,399,390
2EMA (F%) 8% Total comprehensive income (expense) 32,126 (4,706)
REHEEHERER RS (BB) 78 (Loss) profit attributable to the non-controlling interests
of Western Post Group 18,094 (2,933)
AEEEFEREREGEEG2E ()  Other comprehensive (expense) income attributable
WA to the non-controlling interests of Western Post Group (1,457) 486
AEEEFEREREE2ERA (BY)  Total comprehensive income (expense) attributable
e to the non-controlling interests of Western Post Group 16,637 (2,447)
BEEYEENRERATFE Net cash inflow from operating activities 356,346 237,330
BREFDFIAR &ML FE Net cash outflow used in investing activities (155,027) (13,733)
REFDAANRERLEE Net cash outflow used in financing activities (246,267) (176,837)
INEERZENTE Effects of foreign exchange rate changes (18) 1,384
Be (L) RAFE Net cash (outflow) inflow (44,966) 48,144

AuGroup (SHENZHEN) Cross-Border Business Co., Ltd. Annual Report 2024



FRBEE
nx - BERRHE
EREEE
BVEE
RBARMNRE
BEDEARNRE

BRABEHALMZARANERTA

EXREEE
KM% BELRRENRE

BRRITER
REBEEB=AANRITER

FRBAELE

RYEE

FR

A5 MERR
BEE R AR

R B R RITIA
BAREEARGNERERE
BRRITEH
BeRBEEEY

RYEELE

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments accounted for using the equity method

Equity instruments at FVTOCI

Deferred tax assets

Deposit for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment

Pledged bank deposits

Bank deposit with original maturity over
three months

Total Non-current Assets

Current Assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Financial assets at FVTPL

Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets

2024
ARBT
RMB’ 000

62,305
32,280
5,713
699,500
65,988
42,714
8,651

1,781
10,849

10,000

939,781

1,743
925,262
90,239
1,513,146
16,300
569,278

3,115,968

2023
ARBTT
RMB'000

27,823
36,466
778
686,027
65,759
48,641
20,851

6,261

10,000

902,606

7,166
2,260,822
108,031
502,268
10,000
128,797
293,484

3,305,568



RBAE

BHREMEMNTR
FERFEEIRR R IR

FERIH B A RIFUE
FEfIHE
RITIER
MERE
ahAaE

YA ELE
RBEEFE
BEEARBAE
FRBEME

RITIER
HERE

BTEHRGBETHANERE

Hi IR
FRBERAE
BEFE
BRI
e
EEAGES
3l

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder
Amounts due to subsidiaries

Tax payable

Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Contract liabilities

Total Current Liabilities

Net Current Assets
Total Assets less Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Contractual liabilities under issued written put option

Other payables
Total Non-current Liabilities
Net Assets

Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves (Note)

Total Equity

2024
ARBTR
RMB’ 000

67,234

209,955

73,008
1,277
206
351,770

2,764,198

3,703,979

257,174
1,546

258,720

3,445,259

415,206
3,030,053

3,445,259

2023
ARBTIL
RMB'000

333,619
1,123
579,271
3,911
278,009
1,413
375
1,197,621

2,107,947

3,010,553

276,598
2,804
46,400
100,000

425,802

2,584,751

386,865
2,197,886

2,584,751



MIEE  FRBIIAR B REEFS

Note: Below table sets out the details of the reserves of the Company:

BRAER

FARA

ESLON:
RitaE % HRHEE EXRE iERE  REVE 45
Share  FVTOCI Other Translation ~ Statutory  Retained
premium reserve  reserve reserve reserve profits Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARSTR ARETR
RMB0O0 ~ RMB000  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000

R2023%181A At 1 January 2023 693,602 (94,883) (40,000) 177,119 1,489,654  2,225492
EREE Loss for the year - - - - - (1379) (1379
EOABEALBZERANESR Fair value change on investments in equity instruments at
TARBNDABESRY FVTOCI - 11,083 - - - - 11,083
PEEESEAEREANLB2ENA - IRTE Share of other comprehensive income of invesments
accounted for using the equity method, net of tax - - - 380 - - 380
EREENA (BY) 68 Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year - 11,083 - 380 - (1379) 10,084
2% Appropriation - - - - 452 (452) -
BE KRG (H335) Repurchase and cancellation of shares (Note 35) (37,690) - - - - - (37690
R2023%E12A318 At 31 December 2023 655,912 (63,800)  (40,000) 380 177,571 1,487,823 2,197,886
EWFlE Profit for the year - - - - - 456869 456,869
EARBESAAZANANERIE Fair value change on investments inequity instruments at
RENLABER FVTOCH - (5 - - - - (541)
HMEREREARRENLMRENA - MEHE Share of other comprehensive income of invesiments
accounted for using the equity method, net of tax - - - 899 - - 899
FR2E (R RAEE Total comprehensive (expense) income for the year - (5,247) - 899 - 456869 452,521
BiHR Issue of H shares 378,092 - - - - - 378,002
o Appropriation - - - - 30013 (30,07) -
HERRABET ALBEENANEEIARE Release upon disposal of equity instruments at FVTOC - 40 - - - (410) -
BE Rk (335) Repurchase and cancellation of shares (Note 35) 1,554 - - - - - 1,554
R2024%12A318 At 31 December 2024 1,035,558 (68,637)  (40,000) 1219 207,644 1914209 3,030,053

AEERNTENEERTERFES
MBERERRKEMNFINKE - K
R EHY P B E R B AR S KA
ET AP LRZE KRN SR
URzERMEHES - AEBEHER
RABRET Bl ME — F T RIR B %A &
TEHIEEHER o

RREFER  AEERE(RRE
HREHE B 2 AR HRKEN 3
B 1R B ) SZ WAL TREERR
W SRR IR B HEFUKFE »

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the PRC
government. The Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the specified contributions under the scheme.

No contribution was forfeited (by the Group on behalf of its
employees who leave the retirement benefit plan prior to vesting
fully in such contribution) and used by the Group to reduce the
existing level of contributions in both years.



YA
EH

BRETSTBLATRIE  (518)

FEME,(EE)
RAFIBREIEFE
M (EE)

BE
FRBEE
MEEE

&
FREAE
mEBAE

HEE

s
EEAHE
RATIPREIE RS

EEkAEEHE

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit/(Loss) before
income tax

Profit/(Loss) for the year

Profit/(Loss) attributable
to shareholders of the
Company for the year

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Total equity

Equity attributable to
shareholders of the
Company

Total equity and
liabilities

2024 &
2024

10,709,648
3,297,130

630,643
521,196

504,299

20245
2024

4,011,030
4,768,520

8,779,550

2,994,458

2,675,779

5,670,237

3,109,313

3,079,521

8,779,550

20234
2023

8,682,977
2,993,690

639,908
520,101

532,010

20234
2023

2,031,731
3,145,796

5,177,627

1,100,888

1,803,872

2,904,760

2,272,767

2,262,194

5,177,527

B ARBETT

Unit:RMB’000

BZE12A31ALLEE
Year ended 31 December

20224 20214
2022 2021
7,100,230 9,071,193
2,479,049 1,895,099
232,002 (734,459)
223,169 (589,879)
219,054 (580,797)
B ARBTT
Unit:RMB’000
M12A31H

As at 31 December
20224 20214
2022 2021
2,226,484 1,447,579
2,731,460 3,011,439
4,957,944 4,459,018
972,055 466,425
2,204,371 2,473,744
3,176,426 2,940,169
1,781,518 1,518,849
1,762,512 1,506,598
4,957,944 4,459,018
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